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Five-Year Financial Summary

TEHBEBRE

For the year ended 31 December

HE+T-_A=1T—HILLFE

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
ZE-=f —T--fF T~ “T-FTF “T-NF

Profitability data BELYE

(RMB million) (AR¥EBER)
Revenue Yezs 295.3 2743 3135 111.9 169.7
Gross profit EF 42.9 355 88.5 18.0 30.1
(Loss)/profit for the year FN(EE)/FE (326.4) (167.0) 9.2 (108.8) (314.4)
Profitability ratios (%) BRI E(%)
Gross profit margin EF= 14.5% 13.0% 28.2% 16.1% 17.7%
Net (loss)/profit margin F(B8E)/FEx (110.5)% (60.9)% 2.9% 97.2)%  (185.3)%

Assets and liabilities data BEREERE

(RMB million) (AR®EETR)
Non-current assets FRBEE 341.1 207.3 160.9 928 153.9
Current assets MBEE 522.9 708.1 415.8 102.8 120.5
Current liabilities nBEE 261.3 2525 268.5 2349 2233
Non-current liabilities EnBAR 61.7 18.0 234 5.6 3.1
Shareholders' equity BELER 541.0 644.8 284.8 (44.9) 48.0
Asset and working EEREEES

capital data g
Current asset ratios (%) MEEELE(%) 60.5% 77.4% 72.1% 52.5% 43.9%
Current ratios (time) TEILL R () 2.0x 2.8x 1.5% 0.4x 0.5x
Gearing ratios (%) TR & (%) 58.7% 40.8% 100.2% (523.8)% 466.4%
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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the
"Directors”) of Golden Solar New Energy Technology Holdings
Limited (“Golden Solar” or the “Company”), | am pleased
to present the financial report of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) for the year ended 31
December 2023.

In 2023, the revenue of the Group increased by approximately
RMB21.1 million or approximately 7.7% to approximately
RMB295.4 million, which was mainly attributable to the
increase in revenue of business of cast monocrystalline silicon
("Cast-mono”) wafers, Cast-mono heterojunction (“HJT") solar
cells and modules, HJT back contact (“HBC") solar cells, HBC
flexible modules and bendable solar awnings (collectively as
“Photovoltaic Products”) and Original Equipment Manufacturer
("OEM") business.

For the OEM business, though the Group still faced worsening
macroeconomic factors such as domestic inflation and
sluggish consumer demand in the United States of America
("US"), with the effort of the Group’s sales team, the revenue
increased by approximately 11.7% to approximately RMB209.4
million for 2023.

The revenue of manufacture and sale of Photovoltaic
Products for the year increased by approximately 12.9%
to approximately RMB79.8 million. The main driver for the
increase in sales for the year was the high efficiency HJT
solar modules which were sold to European customers of the
Group. As European and other overseas customers valued the
Group's high efficiency HJT solar modules and such products
commanded higher product premium, the Group successfully
launched the high efficiency HBC solar cells which were initially
applied to the bendable HJT solar awnings for recreational
vehicle (“RV"”) and the HJT flexible modules on residential
consumer products targeting customers in the US, Europe and
Australia in the fourth quarter of 2023. Moreover, the Group
successfully initiated collaborations with multiple large RV
retailers and manufacturers using bendable HJT solar awnings
for RV of the Group as their power generation system.

In 2023, in spite of the drastic changes in the global
photovoltaic market, the Group achieved the following
milestones by focusing its resources on the development of HJT
technology in previous years:
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Chairman’s Statement

TR®/ES

1. Became the world’s first mass producer of second-
generation high efficiency hybrid HBC solar cells with
maximum conversion efficiency exceeding 27%;

2. Became the world’s first mass producer of high efficiency
flexible HBC solar modules focusing on consumer
products for residential and RVs usage by using HBC
solar cells. The weight of such innovative product is only
one-eighth of the weight of a traditional glass solar
modules and is bendable with less than 3 inches diameter
when fully rolled in;

3. Applied for several patents, including Europe and US
patents, covering structure, production process and
production equipment of HBC solar cells and modules,
and has successfully obtained dozens of authorized
patents.

Looking forward to 2024, the Group will build up a
multi-channel sales business model through 1) the Group’s
own website and other online channels, 2) offline channels
for RV manufacturers and after-sales installation markets,
and 3) partners’ online channels. Selecting RV market as the
first market for the Group's high efficiency flexible HBC solar
modules is mainly due to the inherent power generation
demands of RV users. Currently, the Group’s first batch of
products have been shipped to the US and the Group plans
to ship large quantities to Europe and Australia in the next
two quarters. Based on consumers’ positive experience in
solar awning for RV, the Group’s second phase plan is to
gradually replace the existing residential solar energy systems
and eventually develop into an independent power system for
household.

Last but not the least, on behalf of the Board, | would like to
thank our management and all staff for their dedication and
contribution to the development of the Group. | would also
like to take this opportunity to express my sincere gratitude to
our customers, suppliers, business partners and shareholders
for their continuous commitment and support.

Leung Tsz Chung
Chairman
Hong Kong, 28 March 2024
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Management Discussion and Analysis

During the year, the revenue of the Group increased by
approximately RMB21.1 million or approximately 7.7% to
approximately RMB295.4 million (2022: RMB274.3 million),
which was mainly attributable to the increase in revenue of
Photovoltaic Products business and OEM business. The gross
profit of the Group during the year increased by approximately
20.8% to approximately RMB42.9 million and the gross profit
margin of the Group for the year increased to approximately
14.5% as compared to approximately 13.0% in 2022.

Regarding the business of Photovoltaic Products, the
revenue for the year increased by approximately 12.9% to
approximately RMB79.8 million as compared to approximately
RMB70.7 million in 2022. The main driver for the increase in
revenue was the high efficiency HJT solar modules which were
sold to European customers of the Group.

For the OEM business, though the Group still faced worsening
macroeconomic factors such as domestic inflation and sluggish
consumer demand in the US, with the effort of the Group’s
sales team, the revenue increased by approximately 11.7% to
approximately RMB209.4 million for the year in comparison to
approximately RMB187.4 million in 2022.

The Group recorded a net loss for the year of approximately
RMB326.4 million, as compared with the net loss of
approximately RMB167.0 million in 2022. The increase in
net loss was mainly attributable to i) increase of equity-
settled share-based payments of approximately RMB58.0
million to approximately RMB177.6 million during the year
in comparison to approximately RMB119.6 million in 2022
which was incurred as a result of the grant of share options
by the Company in 2022 and 2023. Such expense is a non-
cash accounting item and has no impact on the cash flow
of the Group; ii) increase of the research and development
costs of approximately RMB31.0 million to approximately
RMB83.4 million during the year due to the preparation for
the launch of HJT solar awnings and development of HBC solar
cells for the production of HBC flexible modules; iii) increase
of approximately RMB13.1 million selling and distribution
expenses to approximately RMB24.8 million during the year as
the Group recruited more staff and allocated more resources
to marketing and promotional activities in order to explore
overseas markets for Photovoltaic Products; and iv) decrease of
other net income and gains of approximately RMB39.8 million
to approximately RMB15.7 million for the year due to decrease
of exchange gain of approximately RMB40.7 million.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FINANCIAL REVIEW Bit % o] B
Revenue by Product Category REMERZENKE
Increase/
2023 2022  (decrease)
RMB’000 RMB'000 % change
g,
—E-=f - OB
AREBTRT ARETRT % & &)
Revenue (Boree Products) W (BEABES)

(as defined below) (EHRWT) 684 845 (19.1)%
Revenue (Graphene-based Products) W= (RRFEER)

(as defined below) (EEWLT) 5,531 15,411 (64.1)%
Revenue (OEM Business) %5 (OEMZEET) 209,377 187,363 1.7%
Revenue (Photovoltaic Products) Wz (HIRESR) 79,756 70,658 12.9%
Revenue (Total) Ursk (4%8) 295,348 274,277 7.7%
Boree Products BEABEMR

Revenue from the manufacture and sale of Boree branded
slippers, sandals and casual footwear (“Boree Products”)
decreased by approximately 19.1% to approximately RMBO0.7
million during the year (2022: RMB0.8 million) because of the
decrease in online sales.

Graphene-based Products

Revenue from the manufacture and sale of graphene-based
ethylene-vinyl acetate (“EVA") foam material (“Graphene-
based EVA Foam Material”) and slippers (“Graphene-
based Slippers”), graphene deodorizing and sterilizing chips
for air purifiers and air conditioners (“Sterilizing Chips”)
and graphene air sterilizers (collectively as “Graphene-
based Products”) decreased by approximately 64.1% to
approximately RMB5.5 million during the year (2022: RMB15.4
million) as the Group focused on development of new products
tailor-made according to customer requirements during the
year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)
OEM Business

For the OEM business, though the Group still faced worsening
macroeconomic factors such as domestic inflation and sluggish
consumer demand in the US, with the effort of the Group’s
sales team, the revenue increased by approximately 11.7% to
approximately RMB209.4 million for the year (2022: RMB187.4
million). Besides, in response to the threat of steep price-
cutting competition among manufacturers in the People’s
Republic of China (“PRC"), the Group shifted the focus
towards development of high-end products with higher gross
profit margin. Moreover, the Group focused on optimisation
of production process and improvement of the production
efficiency and successfully increased the gross profit margin
during the year.

Photovoltaic Products

Revenue from the manufacture and sale of Photovoltaic
Products for the year increased by approximately 12.9% to
approximately RMB79.8 million as compared to approximately
RMB70.7 million in 2022. The main driver for the increase in
sales for the year was the high efficiency HJT solar modules
which were sold to European customers which offsets the
decrease in sales of Cast-mono wafers business. Due to the
delay in the relocation of the new factory in Xuzhou to the
second quarter of 2023 and the weakening of cost advantages
of Cast-mono wafers due to the general decline in global
silicon material price, the revenue of Cast-mono wafers
business reduced during the year. However, as European and
other overseas customers valued the Group’s high efficiency
HJT solar modules and such products commanded higher
product premium, the Group successfully launched the high
efficiency HBC solar cells which were initially applied to the
bendable HIJT solar awnings for recreational vehicle (“RV")
and the HJT flexible modules on residential consumer products
targeting customers in the US, Europe and Australia in the
fourth quarter of the year. Moreover, the Group successfully
initiated collaborations with multiple large RV retailers and
manufacturers using bendable HJT solar awnings for RV of the
Group as their power generation system.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Selling and Distribution Expenses

During the year, selling and distribution expenses increased
by approximately 112.0% to approximately RMB24.8 million
as compared with that of last year (2022: RMB11.7 million),
which accounted for approximately 8.4% (2022: 4.3%) of
the Group’s revenue for the year. In order to explore overseas
markets for Photovoltaic Products, the Group incorporated a
wholly owned subsidiary in US to sell bendable solar awnings
and HJT flexible modules and set up a team specialized in sales
and marketing in Australia and Europe and allocated more
resources to marketing and promotional activities in 2023.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses recorded an increase of
approximately RMB72.6 million or approximately 39.3% to
approximately RMB257.1 million for the year (2022: RMB184.5
million), which was mainly attributable to (i) increase of equity-
settled share-based payments of approximately RMB58.0
million to approximately RMB177.6 million during the year in
comparison to approximately RMB119.6 million in 2022 due
to the grant of share options by the Company in 2022 and
2023; and (ii) increase in wages and salaries of approximately
RMB8.1 million as more senior management and administrative
staff were recruited to support the manufacture and sale of
Photovoltaic Products.

Research and Development Costs

During the year, research and development costs increased
by approximately RMB31.0 million to approximately RMB83.4
million during the year (2022: RMB52.4 million) due to
the preparation for the launch of HJT solar awnings and
development of the HBC solar cells for the production of HBC
flexible modules.

Management Discussion and Analysis
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Liquidity and Financial Resources

During the year, net cash outflow from operating activities
of the Group amounted to approximately RMB161.9 million
(2022: RMB78.7 million). As at 31 December 2023, cash
and bank balances were approximately RMB142.6 million,
representing a decrease of approximately RMB212.1 million
as compared with approximately RMB354.7 million as at the
end of last year. As at 31 December 2023, around 46.9%,
12.7% and 40.4% of the Group’s cash and bank balances
were denominated in Hong Kong dollars, Renminbi and US
dollars respectively. As at 31 December 2023, the short-
term borrowings of the Group were approximately RMB100.2
million (2022: RMB91.0 million). All loans were denominated
in Renminbi, with fixed interest rates and repayable within one
year.

As at 31 December 2023, the gearing ratio of the Group
was 58.7% (2022: 40.8%). Gearing ratio was calculated as
total debts divided by the total equity. Total debts refer to the
total liabilities minus the sum of tax payable and deferred tax
liability.

Capital Structure

As at 1 January 2023, the Company had 1,711,959,608
ordinary shares (“Shares”) in issue and a paid-up capital
of approximately RMB113,799,000. During the year, the
Company issued a total of 103,700,000 Shares to share option
holders who exercised their share options. As at 31 December
2023, the Company had 1,815,659,608 Shares in issue and a
paid-up capital of approximately RMB120,960,000.

Significant Investments, Material Acquisitions and
Disposals of Subsidiaries, Associated Companies and
Joint Ventures

During the year, the Group did not have any significant
investments, material acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries,
associated companies and joint ventures.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Pledge of Assets

As at 31 December 2023, the bills payables were secured by
a pledge of the Group's deposits amounting to approximately
RMB2.4 million (2022: RMB1.4 million). As at 31 December
2023, the bank borrowings of the Group were secured by
a pledge of the Group’s buildings with carrying amount
of approximately RMB2.0 million (2022: RMB1.9 million),
leasehold land of right-of-use assets and the leasehold land of
investment properties with carrying amounts of approximately
RMB3.8 million (2022: RMB3.9 million) and approximately
RMB35.6 million (2022: RMB35.7 million) respectively.

Contingent Liabilities

There were no material contingent liabilities as at 31 December
2023 and 2022.

Foreign Exchange Risk

During the year, the revenue of the Group were mainly
denominated in US dollars and Renminbi. The cost of sales and
operating expenses were mainly denominated in Renminbi.
Management of the Group monitors the foreign exchange
risk and will consider hedging significant foreign currency risk
exposure if necessary.

Human Resources

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had a total of
approximately 1,090 employees (2022: 930 employees),
with total staff costs for the year ended 31 December 2023,
including directors’ remuneration, amounted to approximately
RMB293,067,000 (2022: RMB218,154,000). The Group's
emolument policies are based on the merit, qualifications and
competence of individual employee and are reviewed by the
remuneration committee periodically. The emoluments of the
Directors are recommended by the remuneration committee
and are decided by the Board, having regard to the Group's
operating results, individual performance and comparable
market statistics. The Company also adopted a share option
scheme on 2 July 2021 (the “2021 Share Option Scheme”)
(which was terminated with effect from 16 June 2023) and a
new share option scheme on 16 June 2023 (the “2023 Share
Option Scheme”) to motivate and reward its Directors and
eligible employees.

Management Discussion and Analysis
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)
Use of Net Proceeds From 2022 Placing

As disclosed in the Company’s announcements dated 30
December 2021 and 14 January 2022, the Company placed
a total of 50,000,000 new Shares through a placing agent to
two placees at the placing price of HK$10 per placing share
(the “2022 Placing”) which was completed on 14 January
2022. The closing market price was HK$10.3 per Share on the
date on which the terms of the 2022 Placing were fixed. The
gross proceeds and net proceeds (after deducting the placing
commission and other related expenses and professional fees)
from the 2022 Placing were approximately HK$500,000,000
(equivalent to approximately RMB409,050,000) and
approximately HK$497,850,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB407,291,000) respectively. The net placing price, after
deducting relevant expenses, was approximately HK$9.96 per
placing share.

The Directors considered that the 2022 Placing represented a
good opportunity for the Company to raise additional capital
and hence strengthen the Company’s capital base for the
business operations of the Group without incurring interest
costs.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BEEENRR DM

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued) BYFE B8 (&)

Use of Net Proceeds From 2022 Placing (continued) —ECCEREESEMESIEIEARZ
(%&)

The utilisation of the net proceeds of the 2022 Placing as at 31 RZBE-_=F+_HA=+—8B &=

December 2023 is set out as follows: FRESHEMEFRBFENDAB LT
LU

Amount of the Amount of the
net proceeds  net proceeds
utilised during utilised during  Balance of the

the year the year  net proceeds

Intended use ended ended untilised as at
of thenet  31December  31December 31 December
proceeds 2022 2023 2023
Bz RS iy

—EC-CE “E-zE - Sy -3

tZA=t-8 +2A=t-B tZAzt-B

LEEEHR LEECHA B A

FrmERE FERAE FE%E FE%E
Nature #g RERR FHEEE FELE FELHR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTT ARBTT ARETT AEBTT

Procurement costs of raw materials and A EEERER kAR AN EM
subcontracting fee for production of the — BEVRERARNIE

Cast-mono wafers and solar modules 156,952 88,297 68,655 -
Modification of the casting silicon furnaces  $Z§E (B2 61,358 2,016 6,498 52,844
Procurement of other peripheral production 5188 H 0 [E18 £ A R &

equipment 49,086 5,889 39,724 3,473
Procurement of production equipment for  IEBEZE fB MK 4 RIS

flexible modules 14,726 2,763 3,206 8,757
Procurement costs of raw materials for the 21 48 (£ 60 BT BV BREE A AR

flexible modules 2,454 2,454 - -

Potential strategic equity investment to BERBRERE  UBVEEHT
establish a Cast-mono HIT photovoltaic YRE AN R ERE

cell and module manufacturing facility 40,905 - - 40,905
General working capital —hegds 81,810 69,345 12,465 -
Total: @t 407,291 170,764 130,548 105,979
Note: TR
1. It is expected that the remaining balances of the unutilised net 1. FEHARSAAESRIEFESEEN -

proceeds will be utilised on or before 31 December 2024. ZME+ZA=+—ASZRIEA-
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FUTURE PROSPECTS

In 2023, in spite of the drastic changes in the global
photovoltaic market, the Group achieved the following
milestones by focusing its resources on the development of HJT
technology in previous years:

1.  Became the world’s first mass producer of second-
generation high efficiency hybrid HBC solar cells with
maximum conversion efficiency exceeding 27%;

2. Became the world’s first mass producer of high efficiency
flexible HBC solar modules focusing on consumer
products for residential and RVs usage by using HBC solar
cells. The weight of such innovative product is only one-
eighth of the weight of a traditional glass solar modules
and is bendable with less than 3 inches diameter when
fully rolled in;

3.  Applied for several patents, including Europe and US
patents, covering structure, production process and
production equipment of HBC solar cells and modules,
and has successfully obtained dozens of authorized
patents.

In view of the above favorable conditions, the Group’s
innovative high efficiency flexible HBC solar modules has
successfully entered into the high-end market for RVs and
camping solar application products in the first phase, and
successfully initiated collaborations with multiple large RV
retailers and manufacturers in the US, Europe and Australia.
In the near future, the Group will build up a multi-channel
sales business model through 1) the Group’s own website and
other online channels, 2) offline channels for RV manufacturers
and after-sales installation markets, and 3) partners’ online
channels. Selecting RV market as the first market for the
Group's high efficiency flexible HBC solar modules is mainly
due to the inherent power generation demands of RV users.
Due to the physical limitations of most RVs, the power of
modules usually ranges between 400 watt (“W") and 1,500W
depending on the size of RVs. Take the Group’s 12 feet
800W bendable solar awning for RV as an example, users
may generate an additional 50% to 200% electricity, without
occupying rooftop area, making it a very attractive product.
Currently, the Group’s first batch of products have been
shipped to the US and the Group plans to ship large quantities
to Europe and Australia in the next two quarters.
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FUTURE PROSPECTS (continued)

There are about 20 million RVs in the world. With an average
of 1,000W at US$2.20 per W of flexible solar cells per RV, the
total market capacity would exceed US$40 billion. The Group
plans to cover most of such inherent demand of this market
within the next three to five years.

Based on consumers’ positive experience in solar awning for
RV, the Group’s second phase plan is to gradually replace the
existing residential solar energy systems and eventually develop
into an independent power system for household. Such
system can better integrate with the building and is expected
to reduce the cost compared to existing independent power
system for household in US by at least 30%.

Management Discussion and Analysis
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Corporate Governance Report

The Board and the management of the Company are
committed to the maintenance of good corporate governance
practices and procedures. The Company believes that good
corporate governance provides a framework that is essential
for effective management, a healthy corporate culture,
successful business growth and enhancing shareholders’ value.

The Company’s corporate governance practices are based
on the principles and code provisions as set out in the then
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”, and each a "CG
Code”) which was effective for the year ended 31 December
2023 contained in Appendix C1 (formerly known as Appendix
14) to the Rules (the “Listing Rules”) Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
"Stock Exchange”).

The Company has complied with the code provision (the
“Code Provision”) as set out in the CG Code throughout the
year ended 31 December 2023. The Company periodically
reviews its corporate governance practices to ensure its
continuous compliance.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code")
as set out in Appendix C3 (formerly known as Appendix 10)
to the Listing Rules as the required standard for securities
transactions by the Directors. The Company made specific
enquiries of all the Directors and each of them confirmed that
they have complied with the required standards set out in the
Model Code during the year ended 31 December 2023.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board members are:

° Executive Directors:

Mr. LEUNG Tsz Chung
Mr. ZHENG Jingdong
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Corporate Governance Report
TEERBSE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)
° Non-Executive Director:
Ms. LIN Weihuan

e Independent Non-Executive Directors:

Ms. AN Na
Professor ZHAO Jinbao
Mr. CHEN Shaohua

The biographical details of the Directors are disclosed in the
section headed "“Biographical Details of Directors” on pages
62 to 64 of this annual report. The composition of the Board is
well balanced. Each of the Directors has relevant expertise and
extensive experiences that may contribute to the business of
the Group. The Company has complied with the requirements
under Rules 3.10(1) and (2) of the Listing Rules during the
year ended 31 December 2023. All independent non-executive
Directors also meet the guidelines for assessment of their
independence as set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

Every director is subject to re-election on retirement by rotation
in accordance with the articles of association of the Company
(the "Articles"”).

To the best knowledge of the Company, there is no financial,
business, family or other material/relevant relationship among
the members and chairman of the Board and chief executive
of the Company. All of them are free to exercise their
independent judgement.

Pursuant to the Code Provision B.2.3 of the CG Code as set
out in Appendix C1 (formerly known as Appendix 14) of the
Listing Rules, if an independent non-executive Director serves
more than nine years, his/her further appointment should
be subject to a separate resolution to be approved by the
shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”). Since
Professor Zhao Jinbao and Mr. Chen Shaohua have served as
independent non-executive Directors for more than nine years,
their re-election will be subject to separate resolutions to be
approved by the Shareholders. Ms. An Na has tendered her
resignation as an independent non-executive Director due to
having reached the retirement age. Accordingly, she will step
down from the Board and cease to be the chairperson of the
remuneration committee and a member of each of the audit
committee and the nomination committee of the Company
with effect from the close of the annual general meeting
("AGM").
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Corporate Governance Report

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Pursuant to Code Provision B.2.4(b) of the CG Code, where
all the independent non-executive directors of an issuer have
served more than nine years on the board, the issuer should
appoint a new independent non-executive director on the
board at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

Professor Zhao Jinbao, Mr. Chen Shaohua and Ms. An Na
were appointed as independent non-executive Directors
on 3 February 2015, 3 February 2015 and 30 June 2010
respectively, and they have served for nine years, nine years
and fourteen years on the Board respectively. As each of them
has served more than nine years on the Board, the Company
will appoint a new independent non-executive Director in
accordance with Code Provision B.2.4(b) of the CG Code at
the forthcoming AGM.

Save as disclosed in this annual report, there is no other
information required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule
13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.

The Board is responsible for establishing the overall strategic
development and direction, setting business objectives
and development plans, monitoring the performance of
the business and senior management and making major
investments and funding decisions of the Group.

The daily business operations and administrative functions of
the Group are delegated to the management with department
heads responsible for different aspects of the business and
functions of the Group.
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Corporate Governance Report
TERERBHE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

The Board meets regularly throughout the year to formulate
overall strategy of the Group, monitor its financial
performance and maintain effective oversight over the
management. Sufficient notice of meetings is given to
Directors prior to a regular board meeting, and each Director
is able to request inclusion of matters in the agenda for board
meeting. Full minutes are prepared after the meetings.

Details of the attendance of the Board meetings, the AGM and
the extraordinary general meeting ("EGM") held during the
year ended 31 December 2023 are summarised as follows:

EEg(#)
EXgAE2FEHAMER UHIEAE
BEERRE EEEVHRAL#TY
EEENBEUEE -THAHRESSSS
AERMEFELACRE MEEFA
BRREFCEZAETMASTE -8
RREHEARETESHLE -

REBEZE-_=F+-A=+—HILEE
FITESe g% REBFRE RBRES
AlRE (REFRIARE]) ML ELEFE
BEALEN T

Number of
board Number of Number of
meetings AGM EGM
attended/ attended/ attended/
held in 2023 held in 2023 held in 2023
—E-= —E-= —E-=
HE BT HE BT HE BT
NESSg HRREF Y AR R 4% Bl
EEAH RKEREY RERXRH
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. LEUNG Tsz Chung RFHTAE 11/11 11 1/1
Mr. ZHENG Jingdong EI= R AL 11/11 11 1/1
Non-Executive Director FHITES
Ms. LIN Weihuan MIEE 22+ 11/11 11 171
Independent Non-Executive B FHITES
Directors
Ms. AN Na izt 11/11 11 171
Professor ZHAO Jinbao e RER 11/11 11 11
Mr. CHEN Shaohua PR EE S A 11/11 1/1 11
PROFESSIONAL TRAINING OF THE COMPANY NRME Z2BEEZI

SECRETARY

Pursuant to Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, the company
secretary of the Company must take no less than 15 hours
of relevant professional training in each financial year. The
company secretary, Mr. Ip Pui Sum, provided his training
records to the Company, indicating that he has taken more
than 35 hours of relevant professional training during the year
ended 31 December 2023.
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Corporate Governance Report

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is also responsible for performing the corporate
governance duties including the duties and responsibilities
as set out in A.2 in the CG Code which include the
development and reviewing of policies and practices on
corporate governance and compliance with all legal and
regulatory requirements, monitoring the training and
continuous professional development of Directors and senior
management, development, reviewing and monitoring of the
code of conduct and compliance manual (if any) applicable to
employees and Directors and reviewing the compliance with
the CG Code, and ensuring proper disclosure in the corporate
governance report of the Company.

CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT
OF DIRECTORS

All Directors should participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and
skills. This is to ensure that their contribution to the Board
remains informed and relevant. Up to the date of this report,
all the Directors have participated in appropriate continuous
professional development activities by attending training
courses or reading materials and e-learning materials on the
topics related to corporate governance and regulations or the
Company’s business or their duties and responsibilities.

The individual training record of each Director received for the
year ended 31 December 2023 is summarised below:
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relevant materials in relation
to the business or Directors’

duties
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Mr. LEUNG Tsz Chung REREE v
Mr. ZHENG Jingdong BEREE v
Ms. LIN Weihuan MEBL T v
Ms. AN Na Zif+ v/
Professor ZHAQ Jinbao BeRER v/
Mr. CHEN Shaohua ROEL A v
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Corporate Governance Report
TERERBHE

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Code Provision C.2.1 stipulates that the roles of the Chairman
and Chief Executive Officer should be separate and should
not be performed by the same individual. During the year
ended 31 December 2023, Mr. Leung Tsz Chung (“Mr. Leung”)
served as the Chairman of the Board and Mr. He Shuangquan
("Mr. He") served as the Chief Executive Officer of the
Group. The roles of the Chairman of the Board and the Chief
Executive Officer of the Group are separate and are served by
different persons to ensure independence of each role.

Mr. Leung is primarily responsible for governing and leading
the Board, as well as formulating the Company’s development
strategy. Mr. He is primarily responsible for overseeing the
Group's overall operation and business activities, with strong
focus on the Photovoltaic Products segment. The Company
has complied with Code Provision C.2.1 throughout the year
ended 31 December 2023.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Independent non-executive Directors have played a significant
role in the Board by bringing their independent judgment at
the Board meetings and scrutinising the Group’s performance.
Their views carry significant weight in the Board’s decision, in
particular, they bring an impartial view to bear on issues of the
Group’s strategy, performance and control.

All independent non-executive Directors possess extensive
academic, professional and industry expertise and
management experience and have provided their professional
advices to the Board.

The independent non-executive Directors provide independent
advice on the Group’s business strategy, results and
management so that all interests of shareholders can be
taken into account, and the interests of the Company and its
shareholders can be protected.

As at 31 December 2023, the Board has three independent
non-executive Directors, Professor Zhao Jinbao, Mr. Chen
Shaohua and Ms. An Na. Among them, Mr. Chen Shaohua
possesses appropriate professional accounting qualifications
and financial management expertise in compliance with the
requirements set out in Rules 3.10(1) and (2) of the Listing
Rules.
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The Company has received from each of its independent
non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of his/her
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules,
and the Company considers the independent non-executive
Directors to be independent.

TERMS OF APPOINTMENT OF NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Each of the non-executive Directors (including independent
non-executive Directors) has entered into a service contract
with the Company for an initial term of 3 years, which will
continue thereafter until terminated by not less than three-
month notice in writing served by either party on the other.

All independent non-executive Directors and non-executive
Directors are subject to re-election on retirement by rotation in
accordance with the Articles.

APPOINTMENTS, RE-ELECTION AND REMOVAL
OF DIRECTORS

Each of the executive Directors, non-executive Directors
and independent non-executive Directors of the Company
has entered into a service contract with the Company for a
specific term. Such term is subject to retirement by rotation
and re-election at an AGM at least once every three years in
accordance with the Articles. The Articles provide that any
Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy in
the Board shall hold office until the first general meeting of
the Company after his/her appointment and be subject to re-
election at such meeting, and any Director appointed by the
Board as an addition to the existing Board shall hold office only
until the next AGM of the Company and shall then be eligible
for re-election.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Company currently has three committees, namely, the
audit committee, the remuneration committee and the
nomination committee (collectively, the “Board Committees”),
for overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s affairs.
Terms of reference of all Board Committees are in line with the
Code Provision and are available on the Stock Exchange website
and the Company's website at www.goldensolargroup.com.
The Board Committees are provided with sufficient resources
to discharge their duties and, upon reasonable request, are
able to seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances, at the Company’s expenses.
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PUTTING ENQUIRIES TO THE BOARD

Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns to the
Board by addressing them to the company secretary of the
Company by mail at the Company’s principal place of business
in Hong Kong at Room 504, 5/F.,, OfficePlus @Sheung Wan, 93-
103 Wing Lok Street, Sheung Wan, Hong Kong. The company
secretary forwards communications relating to matters within
the Board’s purview to the Board and communications relating
to ordinary business matters, such as suggestions, inquiries and
customer complaints, to the chief executives.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee was established by the Board on 8
January 2011 with written terms of reference in compliance
with the CG Code as set out in Appendix C1 (formerly known
as Appendix 14) to the Listing Rules. The primary duties of
the audit committee are to review and supervise the Group's
financial reporting process and risk management and internal
control systems, effectiveness of the Group’s internal audit
function and review and monitor appointment of the auditors
and their independence.

As at 31 December 2023, the audit committee comprised
three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chen
Shaohua, Professor Zhao Jinbao and Ms. An Na, and Mr.
Chen Shaohua is the chairperson of the audit committee. The
annual results of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2023 have been reviewed by the audit committee. The
audit committee held 3 meetings during the year ended 31
December 2023 to review interim and annual financial results
and reports, significant issues on the financial reporting and
compliance procedures, internal control and risk management
systems, the effectiveness of the Group’'s internal audit
function and scope of work and appointment of external
auditors.
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Details of the attendance of the audit committee are as follow:

TEERERE

ERREBENHELEFBET

Members KB Attendance of Meeting
ERHUERBR

Mr. CHEN Shaohua PRAEESR
(Chairperson of audit committee) (BREZEETE) 3/3
Professor ZHAO Jinbao B IREIX 3/3
Ms. AN Na R+ 3/3

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Board established the remuneration committee on 8
January 2011 with written terms of reference in compliance
with the CG Code as set out in Appendix C1 (formerly known
as Appendix 14) to the Listing Rules. The primary duties of
the remuneration committee are to make recommendations
to the Board on the remuneration policies and structure of
the remuneration for the Directors and senior management
and to set up a formal and transparent procedure for
determination of such remuneration policies. It shall also make
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages
of individual executive directors and senior management.

The remuneration committee comprised three independent
non-executive Directors, namely Ms. An Na (the chairperson of
the remuneration committee), Professor Zhao Jinbao and Mr.
Chen Shaohua as at 31 December 2023. The remuneration
committee held 1 meeting during the year ended 31
December 2023 to assess the performance of the executive
Directors, review and make recommendations to the Board
on the remuneration policy and structure of the Company, to
determine the remuneration packages of executive Directors
and senior management and, review and/or approve matters
relating to share schemes under Chapter 17 of the Listing
Rules.

The details of the attendance of the remuneration committee
are as follows:
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Ms. AN Na (Chairperson of B2 A
remuneration committee) (FEEEEXRE) A
Professor ZHAO Jinbao S IREIR A
Mr. CHEN Shaohua BRAEE LA 11
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Pursuant to Code Provision E.1.5, the annual remuneration of
the members of the senior management of the Company by
band for the year ended 31 December 2023 is set out below:

Remuneration band (RMB)

RIBETEEXEENSE HE T -_=F
+ - A=+—"BIFEARARASHEEA
EMFEHZEHRWOT .

Number of individuals

FNEE (AR®) AR
500,000 - 1,000,000 1
1,000,000 - 1,500,000 2
7,500,000 - 8,000,000 1
9,000,000 - 9,500,000 1
9,500,000 - 10,000,000 1
20,500,000 - 21,000,000 1
25,500,000 - 26,000,000 2
26,000,000 - 26,500,000 2

Details of remuneration of each Director for the year ended
31 December 2023 are set out in note 9 to the consolidated
financial statements contained in this annual report.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Board established the nomination committee on 8 January
2011 with written terms of reference in compliance with CG
Code as set out in Appendix C1 (formerly known as Appendix
14) to the Listing Rules. The primary duties of the nomination
committee are set out below:

(a) to make recommendations to the Board on the
appointment or re-appointment of Directors;

(b) to review the size, structure and composition of the
Board;

(c) to review the terms of reference, to assess the
independence of independent non-executive Directors;

(d) to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and select or make recommendations to the
Board on the selection of, individuals nominated for
directorships;

(e) to develop, review and disclose the policy for nomination
of directors, as appropriate, in the Company’s corporate
governance report annually; and

(f)  to implement and review the board diversity policy
("Board Diversity Policy”).
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The nomination committee comprised the three independent
non-executive Directors, namely Professor Zhao Jinbao
(the chairperson of the nomination committee), Mr. Chen
Shaohua and Ms. An Na as at 31 December 2023. The
nomination committee held 1 meeting during the year
ended 31 December 2023 to make recommendations to the
Board on the appointment of Directors, review the structure,
size and composition of the Board and the independence
of the independent non-executive Directors and make
recommendations to the Board on the re-election of Directors
at the AGM.

The details of the attendance of the nomination committee are
as follows:
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REAZBEHELEFBOT:

Members A Attendance of Meetings
SRLEERER

Professor ZHAO Jinbao (Chairperson of e IR
nomination committee) (RBZBEXF) A
Mr. CHEN Shaohua BRAFESE A 7
Ms. AN Na it 1

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group adopted
a Board Diversity Policy setting out the approach to achieve
and maintain diversity on the Board in order to enhance the
effectiveness of the Board.

Pursuant to the Board Diversity Policy, the Group considered
the diversity of the Board members can be achieved through
the consideration of a number of factors, including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and education background,
ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length
of service.

Measurable objectives

Selection of candidates of the Board members will be based
on a range of diversity perspectives, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service
and any other factors that the Board may consider relevant
and applicable from time to time. The ultimate decision will be
based on merit and contribution that the selected candidates
will bring to the Board, having due regard to the benefits of
diversity on the Board and also the needs of the Board without
focusing on a single diversity aspect.
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The nomination committee will review the Board Diversity
Policy from time to time to ensure its continued effectiveness.

As at 31 December 2023, the Board consisted of two executive
Directors, one non-executive Director, and three independent
non-executive Directors, of which 66.7% were male and
33.3% are were female. The Board targets to maintain its
female representation in accordance with the requirements
of the Listing Rules and to increase the proportion of female
Directors as and when suitable candidates are identified. The
members of the Board have extensive business, engineering
and professional backgrounds, and have a diverse range of
business, accounting and engineering experience.

As at 31 December 2023, the ratio of female to male in
the workforce (excluding Directors) was 42.6 : 57.4, which
demonstrated a well gender balance in our workforce. The
Group expects to maintain a balanced gender ratio of male
and female in the workforce in the coming year. Gender
is neutral in our recruitment consideration as no position
of any kind in our Group requires any capability or skill
that is regarded as performed better by one gender than
another. For details of gender distribution, please refer to our
Environmental, Social and Governance Report contained in this
annual report.

NOMINATION POLICY

The nomination committee shall consider certain factors,
which are not exhaustive and the Board has discretion if
it considers appropriate, in assessing the suitability of the
proposed candidate regarding the appointment of directors or
re-appointment of any existing Board member(s).

In assessing the suitability of a proposed candidate, the
nomination committee shall make reference to certain criteria
including reputation for integrity; accomplishment, experience
and reputation in the business and industry; commitment
in respect of sufficient time, interest and attention to the
businesses of the Group; diversity policy of the Company; in
case of independent non-executive director, the independence
as prescribed under Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules; and any
other relevant factors as may be determined by the nomination
committee or the Board from time to time as appropriate.
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Nomination procedures
Appointment of new director

a)

(i)

(i)

(iii)

The nomination committee may select candidates
for directorship from various channels, including but
not limited to internal promotion, re-designation,
referral by other member of the management
and external recruitment agents, and should,
upon receipt of the proposal on appointment of
new director and the biographical information (or
relevant details) of the candidate, evaluate such
candidate based on the criteria as set out above
to determine whether such candidate is qualified
for directorship. If an independent non-executive
director is to be appointed, the nomination
committee will also assess and consider whether
the candidate can satisfy the independence
requirements as set out in the Listing Rules.

If the process yields one or more desirable
candidates, the nomination committee should rank
them by order of preference based on the needs
of the Company and reference check of each
candidate (where applicable).

The nomination committee should then recommend
to the Board to appoint the appropriate candidate
for directorship, as applicable. Where the Board
proposes a resolution to elect an individual as
an independent non-executive director at the
general meeting, it should set out in the circular
to shareholders and/or explanatory statement
accompanying the notice of the relevant general
meeting:

e the process used for identifying the individual
and why the Board believes the individual
should be elected and the reasons why it
considers the individual to be independent;

o if the proposed independent non-executive
director will be holding their seventh (or more)
listed company directorship, why the Board
believes the individual would still be able to
devote sufficient time to the Board;

o the perspectives, skills and experience that the
individual can bring to the Board; and
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o how the individual contributes to diversity of
the Board.

(iv) For any person that is nominated by a shareholder
for election as a director at the general meeting of
the Company, the nomination committee should
evaluate such candidate based on the criteria as set
out above to determine whether such candidate is
qualified for directorship.

Where appropriate, the nomination committee should
make recommendation to shareholders in respect of the
proposed election of director at the general meeting.

b)  Re-election of director at general meeting
(i)  The nomination committee should review the
overall contribution and service to the Company of
the retiring director and his/her level of participation
and performance on the Board.

(i)  The nomination committee should also review
and determine whether the retiring director
continues to meet the criteria as set out above. If
an independent non-executive director is subject
to the re-election, the nomination committee will
also assess and consider whether the independent
non-executive director will continue to satisfy the
independence requirements as set out in the Listing
Rules.

(i) The nomination committee should then make
recommendation to shareholders in respect of the
proposed re-election of director at the general
meeting.

Where the Board proposes a resolution to elect or re-
elect a candidate as director at the general meeting, the
relevant information of the candidate will be disclosed in
the circular to shareholders and/or explanatory statement
accompanying the notice of the relevant general meeting
in accordance with the Listing Rules and/or applicable
laws and regulations.

The nomination committee will review the nomination policy,
as appropriate, to ensure the effectiveness of the nomination
policy. The nomination committee will discuss any revisions to
the nomination policy that may be required, and recommend
any such revisions to the Board for consideration and approval.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Directors' Responsibilities for Financial Reporting in
respect of Financial Statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing
the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023
which give a true and fair view of the affairs of the Company
and the Group and of the Group's results and cash flows.

The management has provided to the Board such explanation
and information as are necessary to enable the Board to
carry out an informed assessment of the Company's financial
statements, which are put to the Board for approval. The
Company provides all members of the Board with updates
from time to time on the Company's performance, positions
and prospects.

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the
financial statements which give a true and fair view of
the state of affairs of the Group, and in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
The statement by the auditors of the Company about their
responsibilities for the financial statements is set out in the
independent auditor’s report contained in this annual report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has the responsibility to maintain an effective risk
management and internal control system in order to protect
the Group’s assets and shareholders’ interests. The Group has
an internal audit function. The Board and audit committee
also conduct periodic reviews to ensure the effectiveness of
the Group’s risk management and internal control systems as
well as to resolve material internal control defects. The risk
management and internal control systems include a well-
established corporate structure and organisation with clearly
defined lines of responsibility and authority. Each department
is responsible for its daily operations, and is also required to
implement and monitor the strategies and policies adopted by
the Board and effective employment of the resources of the
Company, in order to avoid misappropriation of resources and
damages made to the Company’s assets, and prevent against
errors and fraud.
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During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Board and
audit committee conducted a review and assessment of the
effectiveness of the internal control system and procedures
based on information derived from discussions with the
management of the Company and its external auditor. The
Board and audit committee believe that the existing risk
management and internal control systems are adequate and
effective. The review covered all material controls, including
financial, operational and compliance controls and risk
management functions as well as the adequacy of resources,
qualifications and experience of staff of the Company’s
accounting, internal audit and financial reporting function,
Listing Rules compliance, as well as those relating to the
Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG") performance
and reporting, and their training programmes and budget.

The Group has adopted procedures for the handling and
dissemination of inside information in a timely manner and
in compliance with the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(the “SFO") and the Listing Rules. The procedures and their
effectiveness are subject to review on a reqgular basis. Unless
the inside information falls within any of the safe harbors as
permitted under the SFO, the Group is required to disseminate
such information through the electronic publication system
operated by the Stock Exchange to the public in a timely
manner. All Directors, officers and relevant employees are
required to take reasonable precautions for preserving
the confidentiality of inside information and the relevant
announcement (if applicable) before publication. If the Group
believes that the necessary degree of confidentiality cannot
be maintained, the Group will immediately disclose the
information to the public as soon as reasonably practicable.

The Board has established a clearly defined scope of
activities, responsibility and authority for each department
and its management staff within the Group. The Group has
a defined goal for each department to accomplish. These
goals were discussed in the Board meeting and pass on to
the management through the executive Directors, and will
be implemented and closely monitored by the executive
Directors who shall review the operational and financial results
from time to time, and take any necessary actions for the
improvement of business activities.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The Audit Committee is mandated to monitor the
independence of the external auditors to ensure the objectivity
in the financial statements. Members of the Audit Committee
are of the view that the Company’s external auditors are
independent.

During the year, the remuneration in respect of audit services
provided by the Company’s auditor, Confucius International
CPA Limited was RMB1,643,000 and Confucius International
CPA Limited did not provide non-audit services to the Group.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board adopted a dividend policy on 20 February 2019. The
Board has the discretion to declare and distribute dividends
to the Shareholders. Any declaration of final dividends for
the year will be subject to the approval of the Company’s
shareholders. In proposing any dividend pay-out, the Board
shall take into account the following factors:

—  the Group’s actual and expected financial performance;

— the Group’s expected working capital requirements,
capital expenditure requirements and future expansion
plans;

- retained earnings and distributable reserves of the
Company and each of the members of the Group;

—  the Group’s liquidity position;

- general economic conditions and other internal or
external factors that may have impact on the business or
financial performance and position of the Group; and

— any other factors that the Board deems relevant.

INVESTOR RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATION
WITH SHAREHOLDERS

Information about the Group has been provided to the
shareholders through financial reports, announcements and
general meetings including AGM in order to keep shareholders
well informed of the business activities and directions of the
Group. The Group has also established a corporate website
www.goldensolargroup.com as a channel to facilitate effective
communication with the shareholders.

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and concerns
to the Board in writing to the Company’s principal place of
business in Hong Kong at Room 504, 5/F, OfficePlus @Sheung
Wan, 93-103 Wing Lok Street, Sheung Wan, Hong Kong.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Board has reviewed
the implementation and effectiveness of the shareholder
communication policy of the Group and after taking into
account the aforementioned communication channels of
investors and the measures taken and the events held by the
Company, the Company is of the view that the shareholder
communication policy has been effectively implemented during
the year ended 31 December 2023.

A special resolution has been passed at the AGM of the
Company held on 16 June 2023 to adopt the amended
and restated memorandum of association and articles of
association of the Company to ensure compliance with the
applicable laws of the Cayman Islands and Listing Rules. For
details of the amendments, please refer to the Company’s
circular dated 28 April 2023.

SHAREHOLDER’S RIGHT

Convening an EGM and Putting Forward Proposals at
Shareholders’ Meetings

Pursuant to Article 58 of the Articles, any one or more
members of the Company holding at the date of deposit
of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up
capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at
general meetings of the Company shall at all times have the
right, by written requisition to the Board or the company
secretary of the Company, to require an extraordinary general
meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of
any business or resolution specified in such requisition; and
such meeting shall be held within two months after the
deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-one days of such
deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting
the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the
same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

The same requirements and procedures also apply to any
proposal to be tabled at shareholders’ meetings for adoption.

Directors’ and Officers’ Liabilities Insurance

Appropriate insurance coverage for Directors’ and officers’
liabilities in respect of legal actions against the Directors and
officers of the Group arising out of corporate activities of the
Group has been arranged by the Company.
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This ESG Report (the “Report”) covers information on the
Group’s principal activities in the manufacture and sale of
slippers, sandals, casual footwear, Graphene-based EVA Foam
Material and Graphene-based Slippers, Sterilizing Chips and
graphene air sterilizers, and Cast-mono wafers and Cast-
mono HJT solar cells and modules, HBC solar cells, HBC flexible
modules and bendable solar awnings in the PRC. This Report
is prepared in accordance with the ESG Reporting Guide set
out in Appendix C2 (formerly known as Appendix 27) to the
Listing Rules on the Stock Exchange ("ESG Reporting Guide”).
This Report mainly summarises the environment and social
performance of the Group during the period from 1 January
2023 to 31 December 2023. The scope of the information
disclosed in this Report and the statistical methods are
consistent with the previous year.

This Report covers the following companies:
Principal activities Principal subsidiaries name
1 Manufacturing and sale

of slippers, sandals and
casual footwear

Quanzhou Baofeng Shoes
Co., Ltd.

2 Manufacturing and sale of
Graphene-based Products

Xinfeng 2D (Fujian) Material
Technology Company Limited

Golden Solar Silicon Science
& Technology (Xu Zhou) Co.,
Ltd.

3 Manufacturing and sale of
Photovoltaic Products

Golden Solar (Quanzhou)
New Energy Technology Co.,
Ltd.

4 Manufacturing and sale of
Photovoltaic Products

The Company strives to safeguard and balance the interests
of each stakeholder and follows the operating principle of
“taste of life, happy production”. Facing the changes and
challenges of business environment, the Group never forget
to commit corporate social responsibility while pursuing
growth. In respect of the respective area of product safety,
product quality, energy saving and environmental protection,
social welfare and employee care, the Group will ensure
that the business operations can create value for the social,
human and natural capital, and actively fulfill corporate social
responsibility.
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REPORTING PRINCIPLES

In the preparation of the Report, the Group has complied with
all “comply or explain” provisions set out in the ESG Reporting
Guide and adhered to the four reporting principles as stated
in the ESG Reporting Guide, namely materiality, quantitative,
balance and consistency.

o Materiality: Stakeholder engagement and materiality
assessment were conducted to identify and prioritize
material ESG issues in our business operations.

° Quantitative: Quantitative metrics are disclosed in
this Report to keep track of and evaluate our ESG
performance.

o Balance: This Report provides an unbiased assessment
on the Group’s ESG performance by highlighting both
our achievements and areas for improvement on ESG
management.

o Consistency: Unless otherwise specified, consistent
methodologies are adopted for year-on-year comparisons
of the Group's ESG performance.

The Board is responsible for determining the ESG risks of the
Group, formulating ESG strategies, ensuring the establishment
and maintenance of an effective internal control system
on ESG and conducting regular analysis and independent
assessment on the adequacy and effectiveness of the
aforementioned system through internal audit functions.
The Board have identified the material ESG issues from the
annual materiality assessment exercise that involved both
the key employees and external stakeholders. The Group's
environmental and social related impacts and the target
to reduce the negative impacts of material ESG issues are
reported in quantitative numbers that are specific and
measurable. Overall ESG performance is reviewed by the Board
at least on an annual basis through the approval of this Report.

The production and the major business of the Group are based
in the PRC. Therefore, the information and data included in
the Report are the information and data of the Group that
originates in the PRC.

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
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Environmental, Social

STAKEHOLDERS ENGAGEMENT

The Group continues to establish diversified communication
channels with its stakeholders to proactively understand their
expectations and concerns regarding the social responsibility
of the Group. We have paid great attention to the valuable
opinions of stakeholders. The Group believes that through
understanding their opinions would assist us to analyze,
identify and revise the aspects of corporate social responsibility
in order to continuously improve and raise our comprehensive
corporate management ability and standard. The table
below sets forth the expectations and concerns which major
stakeholders are more concerned with and the relevant

engagement methods:

Expectation and

and Governance Report
RE HLSREBRHRS
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Means of Communication and

Stakeholders Concern issues Response

FE HERBTIEE BREREREDE
Investors — Return on investment — General meetings
REE - REMO®R - BREA®

Government or
regulatory authorities

B 2 B B

Employees

(=]

— Sustainable business growth

- ARBEERMEBER

— Compliance to listing requirements
- FAELWHRE

— Timely and transparent reporting
- REFEAHRE

— Compliance with law and
regulations

- BERMEMR

— Fulfilment of tax obligations

- BITWMER

— Promoting regional economic
development and employment

- HEESREEERLAERS

— Remuneration and welfares

- FEEEA

— Working environment and
occupational safety

- IEREEBELZSD

— Career development opportunities

- BEBEH#E

— Financial results announcements and
annual report

- UBEELERFERS

— Published announcements

- BHEAE

— Websites of the Company/the Stock
Exchange

- NAEEE P AS U

— Response to queries or investigation

- HEEHNmE

— Participation in government meetings or
seminars

- Z2HEBFEHRAMNE

— Regular declaration

- THIRW®R

— Performance evaluation and training
sessions

- REUEHE RIEIIERE

— Employee performance assessment

- BIBEMERZ

— Internal meetings and announcements

- ABEBRBE
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Expectation and

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Means of Communication and

Stakeholders Concern issues Response
B0E HERBIERE BERERDOE
Customers Safe and high quality products and — Regular communication via email and
%P services conference calls
e MBEEm MR - BREHLTEAGRNTHER
Stable and long—term business Contracts
relationship - &M
BER KB EBBER — Business visit
Reasonable price - ®MEFED
BIRER
Corporate reputation
ThEEE
Suppliers Stable and long-term business — Business meetings and conference calls
HrErg relationship - XealkEEeR

Community and general
public
HEgRR

IBE MR EBRIE
Corporate reputation
CEEE

Prompt payment cycles
Ko B £ 5 BB HA

Community involvement
it lm 2

Economic development
KRBER

Understand our environmental and

social impact to the society

THEMETEEELNRERME S

By 488
2

Business visit

[EESE]

Charity activities and social investment
RERPRUHEERE
Participate in community employment

SEMEBE
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

Through communications with respective stakeholders, the
Group understands stakeholders’ expectations and concerns
and responds to the feedback of stakeholders in a timely
manner, determines the disclosure highlights of this Report
and proactively responds to the expectations and concerns
of respective stakeholders. The material ESG issue list of the
Group was formulated in reference to the Stock Exchange’s
regulatory requirements, the Materiality Map published by
the Sustainability Accounting Standards Board, and material
issues identified by the peer listed companies in Hong Kong.
After the consideration and assessment of the Company's
management, the Group’s and stakeholders’ matters of
concern are presented in the following materiality matrix:

Materiality Matrix & 2 14 45 f&
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECTS

The Group always pays attention to environmental
protection. In respect of environmental management, the
ISO14001 environmental management system has been
established and implemented since 2006, with annual
review supervised by third-party certification institutions
and regulatory authorities. The Group formulates
appropriate environmental management operation control
procedures, commits to environmental protection through
continuous enhancement on production technology
and product quality, introduction and promotion of
energy conservation, waste reduction, clean production,
improvement on pollution prevention and control
technology, and material recycling and reuse. In 2023, the
Group invested a total of approximately RMB163,000 for
energy saving, environmental protection, and emission and
waste reduction. The Group adheres to green and low-
carbon development principle, protects the environment as
its mission, and integrates environmental protection with
enterprise development. The Group strictly follows relevant
national environmental laws and regulations to minimize
the impact of production and operating activities to the
environment to the greatest extent, strives to achieve
resource recycling and non-hazardous objectives during
production and operation process and continues to build
a green and harmonious environment. Climate-change
issues do not have significant impact on the Group’s
business activities.

To the best of the Group’s knowledge, there were no
material non-compliances concerning environmental laws
and regulations during the reporting period.

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
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A.1 Emissions Management

The Group strives to carry out clean production,
abides by the “Environmental Protection Law of the
People’s Republic of China” and other relevant laws
and regulations, and reduces the environmental
impact of emissions generated from the production
and operation process. The Group ensures that the
emissions generated from production and operation
activities are in compliance with national standards
and the requirements of local environmental
protection authorities of the PRC. In the meantime,
the Group formulates and implements daily
inspection of pollution treatment facilities,
and formulates monthly, quarterly and annual
maintenance plans to ensure emission treatment
facilities are under normal operation, so as to
reduce the impact of emissions on the environment.
The main non-hazardous waste generated during
the production used to be wastewater, most
of which is duly processed by our waste water
treatment process. The Group was not subject to
any penalties or fines as a result of non-compliance
with environmental laws and regulations.

Air Pollutant Emissions Control

Air emissions include nitrogen oxides (NOx) and
other pollutants regulated under national laws
and regulations. Pollutants are primarily emitted
from the solar cell production process and mobile
vehicle usage. The activated carbon filtration of
the felt cartridges through the activated carbon-
based organic gas flaring towers gives rise to
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fluorochemical residues. Air pollutant emissions of EEAMBIEAT
the Group are detailed below:
2023
—E-=
Type of Air pollutants ERSRYHER Unit E{y Emission Amount
g
Nitrogen oxides (NO.) ARE kg A 167.51
Particulate Matter (PM) A kg N 1,229.56

As summarised in Table 1 below, the Group’s
emissions during the reporting period included:
greenhouse gas (“GHG") and waste water.
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Table 1: Total emissions of the Group in 2022 and

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

R AKE_ZT-__FR-F

2023 “=ERYNE
2023 2022 2023 2022
—EZ=fF —ZT-C “E-=ZE 2
Intensity @ Intensity
(Tonnes/ (Tonnes/
Emissions - 34| Unit Efu Amount Amount RMB’000) RMB’OOO)
BEN BmEw
\ (W, (w8,
ERE BHE AR®TR) AREFTT)
GHG BERE
Direct emission EREM
(Scope 1) (&E1)
Company car oil NEFH Tonnes [
consumption (Kt2)
(note 2) 72.31 39.85 0.0002 0.0001
Natural gas ARR Tonnes [
(note 2) (Kt2) 1,750.67 1,826.24 0.0059 0.0067
Indirect emission % HE A
(Scope 2) (#E2)
Externally- SMEES  Tonnes
purchased (Kfit3)
electricity
(note 3) 15,734.99¢ 29,655.98 0.0533@ 0.1081
Wastewater JEE 7K Tonnes 8 20,106.20 41,707.00 0.0681 0.1521
Notes: TR
1. The calculation for intensity is the emissions amount 1. EEMNFEARANEERE
divided by revenue in the Group’s reporting period. HARBE Y & B AMES ©
2. The calculation of the GHG is based on the 2. BEREGEDNENATRE
“Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standard” ZERERN [PESTERE
from greenhouse gas protocol. 2RI o

3. The externally-purchased electricity emission factor
refers to the 2019 Emission Factors for Purchased
Electricity in Mainland China as published by the
Ministry of Ecology and Environment of the People’s
Republic of China.

4. For the year ended 31 December 2023, the decrease
in amount and intensity of indirect GHG emission
of externally-purchased electricity of the Group was
mainly attributable to the reduction of consumption
of electricity of manufacture of Photovoltaic
Products due to the delay in the relocation of the
new factory in Xuzhou.
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GHG Emission

GHG included carbon dioxide, methane and nitrous
oxide, which were mainly from externally-purchased
electricity and fuel. The Group is in compliance with
the “Law of the People’s Republic of China on the
Prevention and Control of Atmospheric Pollution”
and other relevant laws and regulations, recycling
certain particles generated during the production
process to minimize exhaust gas emission to the
greatest extent. The Group uses clean natural gas
and has installed exhaust gas treatment equipment
on production boilers to effectively control exhaust
gas and soot generated during the combustion of
boilers and ensure the emission concentration meets
the standard stipulated in the “Emission Standard of
Air Pollutants for Boiler”.

Wastewater Discharge

Wastewater generated from the production process
and daily domestic sewage from employees will
be collected for further processing. No sewage is
untreated or illegally released to external waters.
The related procedures are in compliance with the
“Law of the People’s Republic of China on the
Prevention and Control of Water Pollution”.

Solid Wastes Generation

The main non-hazardous solid wastes produced
during the production process are remaining
materials and scrap materials of finished products
produced by the Group. To minimize the amount
of solid waste generated during the production
process, the Group strictly abides by the principles
of recycling and reuse, as well as the provisions of
the “Law of the People’s Republic of China on the
Prevention and Control of Environmental Pollution
by Solid Waste”. The Group carries out hazard
elimination treatment, classification and recycling
on solid wastes pursuant to the “Solid Waste
Management Operations Guide” of the Group,
including (i) recycling and reuse of grinding powder,
scrap; (ii) selling of cardboard boxes, paper products
to other paper mills for recycling and reuse; and
(iii) unified recycling of domestic wastes for hazard
elimination treatment, etc.
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The data of non-hazardous solid waste generated by
the Group is detailed as follows:

Type of Non-hazardous

solid waste EZEREENEE Unit Efr

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE HERERRSE

AEEEANBEEZREBEEYH
R

2023 2023
—EC-=F —EC-=F
Intensity

Emission Amount (Tonnes/RMB’000)

BE
BGHE (B/AR®TR)

Total of non-hazardous BZEEEZENHNEEEE Tonnes 1

solid waste generated

The non-hazardous solid wastes are sorted and
appropriately stored in designated locations before
disposal, the waste left behind after the solar cell
and module manufacturing process will be collected
by professional recycling parties for material
recovery. Furthermore, the non-hazardous solid
waste with good conditions are sold to external
recycling parties to minimize disposal volume.

Noise Control

The source of noise is mainly from the noise
generated by mechanical operations during the
production process. The equipments with larger
noise are all placed indoor, while noise reduction,
sound insulation, shock absorption and other
measures are adopted in order to comply with the
relevant provisions of the “Emission Standard for
Industrial Enterprises Noise at Boundary”.
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Targets Setting

In order to reduce emissions and optimize resource
consumption, the Group referenced the ESG
Reporting Guide and approaches from other listed
companies in manufacturing industry to set long-
term targets in three aspects, i.e., emissions, energy
and water.

e With respect to "“Emissions”, the Group will
pursue the goal of reducing waste emissions
intensity (by revenue) by 20% as of 2027,
relative to 2023. The Group intends to further
reduce waste generation and emission in
the future through continuing to improve
the operating procedure and upgrading the
current wasting process unit, establishing a
waste monitoring system, modifying pollution
treatment facilities, and fostering a corporate
culture that values environmental protection;

e With respect to “Energy”, as of 2027, the
Group will pursue the goal of reducing
purchased electricity consumption intensity (by
revenue) by 10%, relative to 2023; and

e  With respect to “Water”, the Group will
pursue the goal of reducing water usage
intensity (by revenue) by 15% as of 2027,
relative to 2023. The Group regularly monitor
our water consumption and patterns in
different operational units to ensure the
operation of water taps and pipes. In case
of any malfunction, we enforce maintenance
work in time to reduce leakage and waste
losses. Apart from these initiatives, we
also raise our staff's awareness of water
conservation by placing signs at the pantry and
restroom.
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BRI HERERBKSE

The Group will be committed to drive down the
use of resources for targets achievement via
implementing green office practices, cultivating
employees’ energy-saving awareness, and
promoting energy saving.

A2. Use of Resources A2.

Summarised in Table 2 below, the resources used by
the Group during the reporting period were energy,
water, paper and packaging materials.

Table 2: Total resources consumption of the Group

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
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in 2022 and 2023 —=FRERERE
2023 2022 2023 2022
ZEC-=EF - ZEC-ZE -
Resources &R Unit EfI Amount Amount Intensity Intensity
(Unit/RMB'000)  (Unit/RMB000)
& ik BEO BEO
(B/ARBT (EARET
) )
Energy ER
Direct consumption E#ER
Petrol T Litres A F 31,833.94 17,543.25 0.1078 0.0640
Natural gas ARG M OIFK 800,837.72 835,405.00 27115 3.0458
Indirect consumption % B
Electricity g7 Kwh FTRE  19,864,905.40¢ 37,439,686.35 67.2593@ 136.5032
Water X Tonnes 1 222,261.95 333,532.54 0.7525 1.2160
Paper iR Tonnes 8 25 2.90 0.0000 0.0000
Packaging BEME
By plastic 2BE Tonnes 13 6.14 5.81 0.0000 0.0000
By paper REE Tonnes 609.96 584.04 0.0021 0.0021
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Notes:

1. The calculation for intensity is the resources
consumption amount divided by revenue in the
Group's reporting period.

2. For the year ended 31 December 2023, the decrease
in amount and intensity of indirect consumption
of electricity of the Group was mainly attributable
to the reduction of consumption of electricity
of manufacture of Photovoltaic Products due to
the delay in the relocation of the new factory in
Xuzhou.

The Group strives to fully recycle resources as
much as possible during product development and
production process, constantly pursuing energy
conservation and emission reduction.

The Group has implemented “Green Procurement”
policy to actively encourage suppliers to establish
production management system with environmental
protection and energy saving, purchase
environmentally friendly raw materials in higher
priority through procurement mechanism and supply
chain management, so as to facilitate suppliers to
reduce waste of resources and pollution.

The Group also regularly inspects and reviews
energy consumption, through internal policies and
advanced technologies to prevent wastage so as to
conserve energy and resources. Specific measures
include: (i) reduction of natural gas consumption
through the installation of boiler thermal oil
recycling pipeline for heat recycling and reuse; (ii)
reduction of hydraulic oil consumption by the use
of hydraulic oil precipitation; and (iii) reduction of
raw material input by recycling the grinding powder
of grinding workshop and the scrap of cutting and
clipping workshop. Other actively advocated routine
resource conservation measures include: (i) replacing
high energy-consumption equipment with the more
energy-saving one; (ii) turning off unnecessary
equipment, lighting and air conditioning not in use;
(iii) strengthening inspection and maintenance of
faucets, water pipes and water storage facilities and
other water supply systems to avoid any leakage;
and (iv) announcing company information in
electronic form (such as e-mail or electronic bulletin)
if possible and reducing paper use with double-
sided printing.
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To meet the energy-saving and emission reduction
targets of the government, the Group reports
and evaluates energy-saving new technologies
and emission reduction, and develops energy
performance indicators to strictly control energy
consumption, improve and enhance energy
management.

In addition, the Group encourages employees to
submit energy-saving proposals actively, reduces
power consumption, promotes continuous energy
management training, etc. in order to enhance
the knowledge on energy conservation and
environmental protection policies and energy saving
awareness among employees, so that the resources
can be used more efficiently.

The Environment and Natural Resources

The main environmental impact of the production
business is the use of boiler and electricity in its
manufacturing process. The operation of the boiler
and the use of electricity generate both direct and
indirect GHG emissions. To minimise the impact, the
production and operation sites of the Group have
been evaluated during the initial planning period in
respect of the relevant industrial land environment
and related regulations and the selected production
sites are located in the areas permitted by the local
government. During the production and operation
process, collection and treatment facilities are
installed for proper treatment of pollutants and
emissions in order to ensure meeting the standard
required by local regulations before discharge. The
Group also assesses the feasibility of environmental
protection facilities from time to time, adopts
effective environmental protection measures and
programs, including the prevention and control of
pollution and exhaust gas emission, sustainable
use of resources and ecological and environmental
protection, more active support and promotion of
social and environmental sustainable development.

A3.
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A4. Climate change

Global climate change has resulted in some extreme
weather and climate events that are more intense,
more frequent, and longer in duration. Heavy rain,
frost, sandstorm, extreme low and high temperature
weather all have a certain degree of impact on site
selection of new factory, stable production and safe
operations. Utilization of the recycling water from
the preset sewage station can secure the water
supply temporarily. In addition, backup generators
and fuel are prepared to ensure an emergency
power supply in the event of an electricity shortage.

Prior to the selection of production site, the Group
actively researched and analyzed the possibility
of various future climate changes in the selected
venues and its potential impact on the production
and operation at the site, and gradually deployed
and adopted countermeasures and solutions.
Besides, the Group continuously enhanced the
adaptability of solar panels and modules under
different extreme climatic conditions through the
design optimization, so that our products can adapt
to the severe weather.

In 2023, the Group has not encountered climate
change and related matters that have a material
adverse impact on operations.

B. SOCIAL ASPECTS

1.

Employment and Labour Practices

As a responsible employer, the Group is fully
in compliance with the relevant national laws
and regulations in respect of remuneration,
compensation and dismissal, recruitment and
promotion, working hours, holidays, equal
opportunities, diversification, anti-discrimination
and other employee benefits and welfare. The
Group also regards employees as its most valuable
asset and strives to provide the competitive salaries,
welfare and working environment for them.

To the best of the Group’s knowledge, there were
no material non-compliances with relevant laws
and regulations regarding employment, employee’s
health and safety, labour standards, product and
service responsibility or corruption during the
reporting period.
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B 5

B1.

Employment

The Group adheres to fair, impartial and open
employment principles, providing all employees
equal opportunities and fair treatment. The Group
strictly abides by the relevant provisions of the
“Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China”
and the “The Labour Contract Law of the People’s
Republic of China”. No arbitrary dismissal of an
employee is allowed; the rights and obligations
of both parties to the employment contract are
clearly stated, the legitimate rights of employees are
protected, in order to establish a harmonious and
stable employment relationship.

Employee Benefits

The Group recruits personnel in line with its
strategic requirements through various channels
like campus interview, social recruitment, network
recruitment in a fair and impartial way. The
Group provides employees with comprehensive
social security benefits, including basic salary,
pensions, incentive bonuses, medical insurance,
injury insurance, maternity insurance and housing
provident fund. The Group will also provide other
employee benefits depending on job nature,
including meals, uniforms and fully equipped
accommodation. The human resources department
of the Group conducts regular reviews and updates
on the relevant company policies from time to
time pursuant to the latest laws and regulations.
Employee performance appraisal, management
position promotion, and other company policies are
implemented to provide career development path
to employees like internal promotions, on the job
training. To attract high-quality talents and retain
outstanding employees, the Group launches 2023
Share Option Scheme and timely conducts reviews
on salary with reference to market standards,
formulates competitive salary and bonus system,
and provides competitive and fair remuneration
and benefits based on personal performance,
professional qualifications, and experience.

B1.
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Diversity and Equal Opportunities

The Group is committed to creating and maintaining
an inclusive and collaborative workplace culture in
which all can thrive.

The Group treats all employees equally. No
employees are discriminated against on the grounds
of gender, race, religion, age, disability, family
status, sexual orientation, nationality, political
opinion, ethnic background or any other non-
working related factors. Each newly-recruited
employee is required to sign a labour contract,
which clearly defines the rights, responsibilities,
and obligations of both the employee and the
employer, and all employees are entitled to
terminate the employment relationship with the
related employment company of the Group. The
entering, amendment, cancellation and termination
of the relevant employment contract are strictly in
compliance with the relevant laws and regulations.

Total Employees and Turnover

The Group had a total number of 1,090 employees
as at 31 December 2023 (2022: 934). Below is a
detailed breakdown of our employees by gender,
age group, employment type and geographical
region as at 31 December 2023 and 2022:
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2023 2022
—E-=H —ET-CF

Number of Number of

headcount  Percentage headcount Percentage
Recruitment statistics BEGEH ETAY BAk BIAH BAkt
By gender BRI
Male E 626 57.4% 528 56.5%
Female eg i 464 42.6% 406 43.5%
By employment type EERER
Full-time 28 1,044 95.8% 905 96.9%
Part-time Bl 46 4.2% 29 3.1%
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2023 2022
ZEZ=F —ZE- -

Number of Number of

headcount  Percentage headcount Percentage
Recruitment statistics BER BTAEY BA BIAH Bt
By age group RERAR
Below 30 30U T 125 11.5% 107 11.5%
30-50 30-507% 689 63.2% 601 64.3%
Above 50 5050 & 276 25.3% 226 24.2%
By geographical region BLE
PRC (excluding Hong Kong) Bl (BB ) 1,077 98.8% 929 99.5%
Hong Kong B 13 1.2% 5 0.5%
During the reporting period, our employee turnover NpEERN - M 8 T B
headcount was 258 (2022: 274). Below is a detailed A BIE8Z (—E - —F:274
breakdown of our employee turnover rate by Z)Y REEN_-_E - —F[EH]
gender, age group and geographical region during R FE AR R R HE 25 B
the year and the corresponding period in 2022: BERARZEMPAET AT

2023 2022
Turnover Statistics BEB TS —E_-= —F=-=
Turnover rate by gender BRI & 2 R KR
Male e 25.1% 30.9%
Female pegis 21.8% 27.3%
Turnover rate by age group RERAR B D KR KR
Below 30 30BR A T 55.2% 67.3%
30-50 30-50%% 22.2% 27.6%
Above 50 5078 A 13.0% 15.9%
Turnover rate by R BEDHREAR
geographical region

PRC (excluding Hong Kong) hE (BRI 23.9% 29.3%
Hong Kong BB 7.7% 40.0%
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Health and Safety

The Group attaches great importance to the health
and safety of employees and has obtained OHSAS
18001:2007 Occupational Health and Safety
Management System certification, Work Safety
Standardisation certification. The Group has set up
an occupational health and safety management
organisation and a safety production committee
and strictly abides by the relevant standards of
“Occupation Health and Safety Management
System” and “Basic Standard for Work Safety
Standardisation”. The Group also adheres to
the principles of safety production management
and formulates the regulatory system of safety
production management and operation rules for
all positions. The safety and health of employees
are effectively protected by the implementation
of various job safety management systems and
the clarification and definition of safe production
responsibilities of all positions.

Occupational Health and Safety

To provide and maintain a safe and healthy working
environment at all times, the Group regularly
provides various kinds of work protective gears to
employees in accordance with working requirements
of each position and supervises and educates them
to wear and utilise correctly; appoints responsible
staff for the safe production of each department
and implements various safety education; installs
dust removal and waste discharging devices on
facilities generating dust and exhaust gas; controls
noise transmission of machinery exceeding the noise
limit or provides protective gears to employees. Fire
safety inspection, training, and drills are regularly
organized to improve safety awareness and self-
protection of employees.
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The Group also strictly abides by the “Law of
the People’s Republic of China on Work Safety”,
“Rule for Storage of Chemical Dangers”, “Special
Equipment Safety Law of the People’s Republic of
China” and other relevant laws and regulations, to
build a safe working environment.

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
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Occupational health and safety data 2023 2022 2021
BEREERZ2HE —E=-= —E- T —%F
Work related fatality cases

HIEBEMLTESE - - _
Work injury cases

THEz 8 12 10
Lost days due to work injury

AIGHERTIERR 318 166 224
Other Health and Safety Measures HEtERZEERE

Since the outbreak of the COVID-19 epidemic in
early 2020, the Group is highly conscious of the
potential health and safety impacts that it may
bring to its employees and customers. During
the outbreak of the epidemic, the Group have
established an Epidemic Prevention Working Group
and formulated various safe management measures
against COVID-19 epidemic, displayed notices in
workplace area, provided employees with sufficient
epidemic prevention supplies, and taught employees
the correct personal protection means, so as to
prevent the virus from spreading in the workplace.
Also, regular disinfection was carried out to provide
a virus free working environment to safeguard
employee’s health.

GOLDEN SOLAR NEW ENERGY TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL Report 2023

B - - FH)EZECOVID-19
BB REBEBEEREE
BEURBREERNEERERE R
TEFE-TRBEBEEHME K
&= B COVID-19Z BRI BT
TEPNEARSIESELEERE
M ETESFTEE R BE -
REZHNFZEARTES U
MM EREBIEEMNEALES
FBRIREETIESTER
EEF - HRPIEREITES AR
TZREARHNIIERE  RE
RERERE-



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RIE HERERRSE
B3. Development and Training B3. ZEEEII
In respect of human resources training, the TEADBEREINFIE ~EEE
Group provides employees with induction and 8 TR AR NMSESET DR
continuous training to promote their career EETHRELRRE - ABE
development. For newly-recruited employees, E-AEEFSRHEIEERIE
the Group provides comprehensive orientation Al EETRBARXE BIER
training of corporate culture, operation processes, B IEEREEZE BEBR
work health and safety, management policies and REBER AKENSBET
business development. The Group also encourages 2MEREI BReERNE
employees to participate in on the job training and THETEERMAL - #TE TIEMN
provides appropriate subsidies to eligible employees. B AEBEXRUSE 2R
Based on job nature, the Group offers trainings NIBEFINFHFAREE EE
of different types and levels to newly recruited TE EREFERZOAL WM
employees, junior supervisors, senior supervisors EEEIIINAEEBEE SN F8
and key personnel, like management and THsREBREMTEIRS - A
production project training, aiming at constantly IR R IREBWNAFERE-
improving the overall quality of employees, so as to
maintain sustainable business development in the
future.
For the reporting period, a total of 594 (2022: 468) RBmEBHA #5944 (ZF ==
of our employees received trainings with an average F:468)% 8 TS F196.95
of 6.95 (2022: 9.99) training hours. Our training ZEZZF:9.99) (/NS
statistics of employees are as follows: Fl- BB THFIIST 8T
T~
2023 2022
—E-=F “E-F

Number of Number of

headcount  Percentage headcount Percentage
Employee received training ¥ &I BEIAE BAk BIAH [ERal
By gender BRI
Male B 398 67.0% 313 66.9%
Female pegid 196 33.0% 155 33.1%
By employment category  Z{EEERI
Senior management SREERE 24 4.0% 21 4.5%
Middle management hREEE 9% 15.8% 94 20.1%
Staff BT 476 80.1% 353 75.4%

EHEFEBENEERARIR —B-=FFEHRE
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Average training hours 2023 2022
per employee BURETFHZIRH —E=-= S
By gender =B

Male B4 8.3 11.7
Female el 4.2 6.5
By employment category RIERER

Senior management SRERE 2.5 8.4
Middle management RREIRE 4.0 4.1
Staff =N 7.8 11.6
Labour Standards B4. T %R

Prevention of Child Labour and Forced By 1k B T 3% 3H %5 B

Labour

To prevent illegal employment of child labour,
underage and forced labour, the Group has
established a well-developed mechanism. The
employee manual stipulates that selected candidates
must meet the legal age. Before confirming the
employment, the human resources department of
the Group will require applicants to provide valid
identity documents to ensure that they are legally
employed and fully in compliance with the latest
relevant laws and regulations prohibiting child
labour and forced labour. The Group also conducts
regular inspection and review of the implementation
of human resources policies to eliminate child
labour and forced labour.

The Group strictly abides by the relevant provisions
of the “Labour Law of the People’s Republic of
China” and the “The Labour Contract Law of the
People’s Republic of China”, and set reasonable
working hours and leaves for employees pursuant
to local employment ordinances and employment
contracts with employees. The Group has installed a
human resources computerized attendance system
for effective management of staff working hours
and vacation dates. If overtime work is required,
employees may obtain appropriate overtime
payment or compensatory leave under the relevant
employment contract or labour legislation. To
prevent forced overtime work, overtime must be
agreed by employees voluntarily. During office
hours, employees are allowed to move freely within
the factory or office area (except prohibited special
areas), and it is not mandatory for employees to live
in the factory quarters.
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Operating Practices
Supply Chain Management

The Group attaches great importance to sustainable
and reliable supply chain to ensure sustainable
enterprise development. The Group has formulated
and implemented supplier management system.
Regarding supplier selection, the Group conducts
qualification inspection, factory visit and other
assessment processes on potential suppliers with
the principles of fairness, impartiality, openness
and honesty. Inspection areas include the
production capacity, product quality, service quality,
environmental protection, occupational health and
safety of the supplier.

In order to avoid issues such as varied quality of
products and non-standardisation of materials,
the goods and materials provided by suppliers
are detected by the internal department of the
Group or third-party testing organisations, so as
to select qualified suppliers. Besides, the relevant
departments conduct annual re-evaluation and
assessment on the qualified suppliers for the
supervision of product quality. At the same time,
the Group closely monitors procurement process
to ensure that the procured products meet the
requirements of production technology and product
quality.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group has a total of
1,293 suppliers (2022: 993 suppliers). Among them,
1,284 suppliers (2022: 979 suppliers) are from the
PRC (excluding Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan),
and the remaining 9 suppliers (2022: 14 suppliers)
are from overseas.

The Group does not include environmental and
social factors as assessment criteria of our suppliers.
Nevertheless, we will review and terminate the
business relationship with the suppliers should
there be press and media coverage on the negative
environmental and social impacts caused by them,
such as excessive pollutions and discharges to the
environment, unfair treatment, exploitation of
workers and product safety incidents.

7 5
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Sustainable Supply Chain Practices

There are stakeholders’ concerns regarding the
environmental and social impacts that may come
from our supply chain, such as sourcing raw
materials and transporting the finished products
can significantly affect the Group’s production
process, quality, and corporate reputation, therefore
the Group has implemented socially responsible
and green procurement practices in response to
the increasing focus on managing environmental
and social risks in the supply chain. For instance,
the contract with the supplier has clauses on
environmental requirements, and those who obtain
reputable environmental-related certifications will
be given priority as a consideration factor when
selecting our potential suppliers. We will encourage
the suppliers to train their employee to equip
with the relevant knowledge related to green
procurement and socially responsible sourcing.

Product Responsibility

Quality Management

The Group attaches great importance to product
quality and safety, strictly abides by the “Product
Quality Law of the People's Republic of China”
and “Law of the People’s Republic of China on
the Protection of Consumer Rights and Interests”,
formulates and implements quality policies to
ensure product quality. The Group has obtained
ISO9001 quality management system certification
in 2003. During the process of mass production,
quality control personnel performs sampling
tests on raw materials, semi-finished goods and
finished goods for tracking and identification of
any potentially inferior products and preventing
problematic material misuse in production. All
finished products must be specifically checked
before packaging to ensure they are qualified.
When receiving a customer’s complaints and/or
request for the return and exchange of defective
products, the quality control department will first
arrange a re-inspection of the returned defective
products and make corresponding measures based
on the cause of the defective products.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group
did not receive any complaints from regulatory
authorities or consumers regarding product safety
and did not recover any products due to product
safety and health reasons. The Group is not aware
of any material non-compliance with relevant laws
and regulations on health and safety, advertising,
labelling and privacy matters related to products
sold during the year.

B6.
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Data Privacy and Intellectual Property
Protection

The Group maintains close and good business
relationships with product distributors, highly
protects the privacy and business secrets of
distributors and strives to ensure timely response to
the feedback of customers and instant response to
product inquiries. Unless prior approval is obtained,
employees shall not disclose any price-sensitive
information relating to the customers, product
distributors, intangible assets, business secrets of
the Group which may come to their knowledge
during their employment or after termination of
their employment.

The promotion activities of the Group’s products are
carried out by advertising agencies in accordance
with the Group’s policy of privacy, its business
strategy, and the “Contract Law of the People’s
Republic of China”, the “Anti-Unfair Competition
Law of the People’s Republic of China” and the
“Criminal Law of the People’s Republic of China”.

The Group strictly abides by the “Trademark Law
of the People’s Republic of China”, “Patent Law of
the People’s Republic of China”, and other relevant
laws and regulations relating to intellectual property
protection. Apart from manufacturing customers’
products, the Group has also established its own
brands. The Group has implemented internal
policies to eliminate the risk of infringing customers’
and third parties’ intellectual property in its design,
research, development and manufacturing processes
as well as protecting its own rights. The Group’s
design and development team shall ensure their
designs are not identical and do not bear a close
resemblance to the products of any other customers
or those in the public market. In addition, measures
have been adopted to facilitate the management
and protection of intellectual property, for example,
using password-protected computers to store
products’ information, encrypting files in the
transmission process and prohibiting employees
from taking out product prototypes and samples
without permission.
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B7. Anti-corruption

The Group adheres to the core value of integrity and
strictly abides by the provisions of the “Company
Law of the People’s Republic of China”, the “Anti-
Money Laundering Law of the People’s Republic
of China” and the “Interim Provisions on Banning
of Commercial Bribery” and other relevant laws
and regulations. The Group has formulated
“Personnel Management Regulations” and other
related systems to standardise various business
activities. An internal monitoring system is set up
for strengthening anti-fraud, anti-extortion, anti-
corruption, anti-money laundering and bribery
supervision, while a whistle-blowing mechanism
and a reward and punishment committee are also
set up to strengthen management and promote
compliance, so as to prevent and eliminate fraud,
extortion, bribery and corruptions on various
aspects of operation and management. The
Group prohibits any acts of fraud, extortion,
corruption and bribery, prohibits employees from
taking advantages of their powers and duties
for corruption, embezzlement, encroachment
of corporate property, acceptance of bribes and
kickbacks, etc. Through various measures like
training and promotion, the Group strengthens
the communication with employees in respect
of internal control and anti-fraud, anti-extortion,
anti-corruption, anti-commercial bribery, so as
to enhance their awareness in this regard. The
Group issues anti-corruption training materials to
management and general employees from time to
time, including theoretical and case training.

The Group has formulated supplier relationship
guidelines and government authority relationship
guidelines. Standard professional code of ethics and
conduct is formulated for the communication with
business partners, suppliers, customers, etc. and
employees are required to follow strictly.

When there is any alleged case in violation of laws,
regulations or Group’s policies, the Group will
investigate and impose disciplinary actions upon
offenders after verification.

B7.

GOLDEN SOLAR NEW ENERGY TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL Report 2023

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE HERERRSE

RES
AEERRERBENZOEE
B BREsT (REARLME
RAVE) (PHEARAMBE KR
WEOR) M (RANZE LR A
TRONETHRE) SHEEREX
MEBRIE - NEBIRHIE T KA
SEEMRE) REMAREE -
MREE AL RS - W REN
MEERRAE MBI K
HR REG ROUENERE
RTAF RIEB RS N IRER
g MREgBMmERET X
PrEMmitEg=E R SR
BEF R BHMERTR-
AEEZEEMRF R -F
B RERITR BB T AR
BB EES BAAK
RIS DB Y W2 G s A0 [ 30
FoAKEBBIBINEBRESE
He AN o B2 8 T 78 4 A1 S RRE
RPYFR - -REF REEBRD
BB RELEIRELTEMNE
o AEETRFREIER MR
BTIHHRESEIER 81
B M E=OIE

AEEESEHERBAERERR
BT RRPI R R AR B - S 41 ARG 5
ki - HEFNER,S AEE
EHERERMEERET MR
#BEWMBERETET-

fid BRI TR AP SRR ROE R -
SRR EER - AN R E R
BERMEEEEITRATAIED
AREED



B8.

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

During the year, the Group did not notice any non-
compliance of the applicable laws and regulations
relating to anti-corruption and did not face any
disciplinary action with respect to corruption issues.

Community
Community Investment

The Group strives to implement corporate social
responsibility and actively participates in public
welfare activities. No formal policy on community
investment has been established. Nevertheless, the
Group contributed to the charity and public welfare
undertakings through organising blood donation,
and continuously encourages its employees to
participate in charitable events during the year.
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Biographical Details of Directors

EEBEFK

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Leung Tsz Chung

Mr. Leung Tsz Chung, aged 54, has been appointed as the
Chairman of the Board and the Chief Executive Officer of
the Group since 26 February 2021. Mr. Leung resigned
as Chief Executive Officer of the Group on 17 October
2022 but continued to be the Chairman of the Board and
authorised representative under the Listing Rules. Before the
re-designation on 26 February 2021, he had been appointed
as the executive Director, Vice-Chairman of the Board and the
authorised representative under the Listing Rules with effect
from 3 February 2015. Mr. Leung holds a degree of bachelor
of arts in Business Studies from the Hong Kong Polytechnic
University and a degree of master in Business Administration
from the University of New South Wales. He has 30 years of
extensive experience in business administration in domestic
and overseas markets. Mr. Leung joined 2D Material
Technology Company Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of
the Company, as the chief executive officer in November 2014.

Mr. Zheng Jingdong

Mr. Zheng Jingdong, aged 58, is an executive Director of the
Company and the authorised representative under the Listing
Rules. Before the re-designation on 26 February 2021, Mr.
Zheng had been appointed as a Director since 21 July 2008,
and had been appointed as the Chairman of the Board, the
Chief Executive Officer of the Group, an executive Director and
the authorised representative under the Listing Rules since 10
May 2013. Mr. Zheng has more than 20 years of experience
in the slipper business in the PRC. He has been appointed as a
director of Quanzhou Baofeng since 28 March 2007 and as a
director of BAOF International Limited since 21 July 2008.
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Biographical Details of Directors

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
Ms. Lin Weihuan

Ms. Lin Weihuan, aged 42, has been appointed as the non-
executive Director since 7 January 2016. Ms. Lin obtained a
bachelor of business degree in financial management from
La Trobe University in Melbourne, Australia in 2005. She
later obtained a master of business degree in professional
accounting from Victoria University in Melbourne, Australia in
2006. Ms. Lin has over ten years of experience in accounting.
She is now the sole director and sole shareholder of Total
Shine Investments Limited (“Total Shine”) which is principally
engaged in investment business.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Ms. An Na

Ms. An Na, aged 64, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on 30 June 2010. She has been an executive
editor of B & T % H kx4t (China Light Industry Press) since
1982 She has also been a vice president of 1tH (MmEE)
M54t (Beijing Rayli Magazine House) since 2003 at which
she has been responsible for managing and coordinating the
publication of several fashion magazines. In August 2015,
she resigned her post in Beijing Rayli Magazine House. She
received an editor’s qualification from B EBEEEEEE
1B & 8@ (State-owned Assets Supervision and Administration
Commission) in 2002. She obtained a bachelor’s degree in
Engineering with a major in the study of leather from PEILE T
¥ 2B (Northwest Institute of Light Industry) (now known as
PR RHE A E: (Shaanxi University of Science and Technology))
in 1982.
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Biographical Details of Directors

EEBEFK

Mr. Chen Shaohua

Mr. Chen Shaohua, aged 57, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive Director since 3 February 2015.
Mr. Chen graduated from the Open University of China (8%
FFK E2) (previously known as China Central Radio and TV
University (R EEE R KE)), and obtained a bachelor's
degree in Management majoring in Accounting from Beijing
Technology and Business University (1t & T AE) in 2010.
He is a member of the Chinese Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (CICPA) and qualified as certified assets valuer,
certified tax agent, certified real estate valuer, certified cost
engineer and certified land valuer in the PRC. Mr. Chen is a
senior accountant and senior economist in the PRC. He has
over 20 years of extensive experience in accounting, audit and
tax matters. Mr. Chen is currently the executive director and
legal representative of auditing firm, tax company, asset and
property valuation company in the PRC.

Professor Zhao Jinbao

Professor Zhao Jinbao, aged 60, has been appointed as
an independent non-executive Director since 3 February
2015. Professor Zhao graduated from Harbin Institute of
Technology (¥ E8/8 T ¥ K£) of the PRC and obtained a
bachelor of engineering degree in Electrochemistry in 1984
and a master’s degree in High Polymer Materials Engineering
in 1987. Professor Zhao further obtained a doctor’s degree
in Engineering from Kyoto University in Japan in 1996. He
has been a distinguished professor of Physical Chemistry in
the Xiamen University (BP9 K2 of the PRC since 2011. He
has over 30 years of extensive experience in research and
development in the field of engineering and chemistry and was
recruited as one of the experts in The Recruitment Program of
Global Experts (85M= B IR A A S #EETE)).
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The Directors are pleased to present their report and the
audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
Details of the principal activities of the principal subsidiaries are
set out in note 45 to the consolidated financial statements.

There were no significant changes in the nature of the Group’s
principal activities during the year ended 31 December 2023.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group during the year ended
31 December 2023 and a discussion on the Group's future
business development and its principal risks and uncertainties
are provided in the sections “Chairman’s Statement” and
“Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual
report. The financial risk management objectives and policies
of the Group can be found in note 41 to the consolidated
financial statements. An analysis of the Group’s performance
during the year ended 31 December 2023 using financial key
performance indicators is provided in the “Five-Year Financial
Summary” on page 4 of this annual report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group always pays attention to environmental protection.
Details of the environmental policies and performance of the
Group are set out in the section headed “Environmental, Social
and Governance Report”.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group continues to update the requirement of the relevant
laws and regulations in various countries, particularly in the
PRC and Hong Kong, applicable to it to ensure compliance.
During the year, the Group was not aware of any non-
compliance with any relevant laws and regulations that had a
significant impact on it.

Report of the Directors
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RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, SUPPLIERS
AND CUSTOMERS

The Group believes that employees are valuable assets.
The Group provides competitive remuneration package to
employees and is periodically reviewed with reference to
industry practice. Discretionary bonuses and share options
may be awarded to employees according to the assessment
of individual performance. During the year under review, the
Group considered the relationship with employees was good
and the turnover rate is acceptable.

The Group also understands that it is important to maintain
good relationship with its suppliers and customers to fulfil its
immediate and long-term goals. The Group has been working
continuously with its suppliers to improve the standard of
raw materials and aiming at delivering products with high
quality to its customers. All key customers and suppliers have
a close and long term relationship with the Group. During the
year ended 31 December 2023, there was no material and
significant dispute between the Group and its suppliers and/or
customers.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The result of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023
and the state of affairs of the Company and the Group at that
date are set out in the financial statements on pages 96 to 222.

The Board does not recommend payment of a final dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil).

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the financial information of the Group for the
last five financial years is set out on page 4 of this annual
report. This summary does not form part of the audited
financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment
of the Group during the year are set out in note 15 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital and share
options during the year are set out in notes 31 and 32 to the
consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s Articles or the laws of Cayman Islands which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to
existing shareholders.
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PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

For the year ended 31 December 2023, as the Board
considered that the price of the Shares did not reflect
their intrinsic value, and the share repurchase program
could reflect the Board's confidence in the Company’s
development prospects, the Company repurchased on the
Stock Exchange a total number of 1,286,000 Shares at a total
consideration (before deduction of expenses) of approximately
HK$4,752,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB4,326,000).
None of the repurchased Shares had been cancelled and
deducted from the share capital and share premium within
shareholders’ equity, and the repurchased Shares were
recorded as treasury stock as at 31 December 2023.
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Details of the share repurchases are as follows: RIDEIE 2 FFIBEMAT
Total number of Aggregate
Month Shares Price paid per share consideration
A R 4 48 B BRER BRE
Highest Lowest
BS RIE
(HKS) (HKS) (HK$°000)
(Bx) (&) (F#T)
December 2023 1,286,000 3.90 3.56 4,752

—TET-_=%+=-AH

None of the repurchased Shares had been cancelled and the
repurchased Shares were recorded as treasury stock as at 31
December 2023.

Save as disclosed above, during the year ended 31 December
2023, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed
securities.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available
to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of Shares.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and
the Group during the year are set out in note 44 to the
consolidated financial statements and in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity, respectively.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31 December 2023, the Company did not have any reserves
available for distribution calculated in accordance with the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 31 December 2023, sales to the Group’s
five largest customers accounted for 91.43% of the total sales
for the year and sales to the largest customer included therein
amounted to 34.50%.

Purchases from the Group’'s five largest suppliers accounted
for 40.80% of the total purchases for the year and purchase
from the Group’s largest supplier included therein amounted to
17.24% of the total purchases for the year.

None of the Directors or any of their close associates or any
shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors,
own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had
any beneficial interest in the Group’s five largest customers or
suppliers.

DIRECTORS

The Chairman and the Directors during the year and up to the
date of this report were:

e  Executive Directors:

Mr. LEUNG Tsz Chung
Mr. ZHENG Jingdong

e Non-Executive Director:
Ms. LIN Weihuan

* Independent Non-Executive Directors:
Ms. AN Na

Professor ZHAQ Jinbao
Mr. CHEN Shaohua
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Pursuant to Articles 84(1) and (2), at each AGM one-third
of the Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not
a multiple of three (3), the number nearest to but not less
than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation provided
that every Director shall be subject to retirement at the AGM
at least once every three years. A retiring Director shall be
eligible for re-election. In accordance with Articles 84(1) and
(2), Mr. Zheng Jingdong, Ms. Lin Weihuan, Professor Zhao
Jinbao and Mr. Chen Shaohua shall retire from office by
rotation at the AGM. Being eligible, Mr. Zheng Jingdong, Ms.
Lin Weihuan, Professor Zhao Jinbao and Mr. Chen Shaohua
will offer themselves for re-election as executive Director, non-
executive Director, independent non-executive Director and
independent non-executive Director, respectively at the AGM.
Ms. An Na has tendered her resignation as an independent
non-executive Director due to having reached the retirement
age. Accordingly, she will step down from the Board and cease
to be the chairperson of the remuneration committee and a
member of each of the audit committee and the nomination
committee of the Company with effect from the close of the
AGM.

Pursuant to the Code Provision B.2.3 of the CG Code as set
out in Appendix C1 (formerly known as Appendix 14) of
the Listing Rules, if an independent non-executive Director
serves more than nine years, his/her further appointment
should be subject to a separate resolution to be approved by
the Shareholders. Since Professor Zhao Jinbao and Mr. Chen
Shaohua have served as independent non-executive Directors
for more than nine years, their re-election will be subject to
separate resolutions to be approved by the Shareholders at the
forthcoming AGM.

Pursuant to Code Provision B.2.4(b) of the CG Code as set out
in Appendix C1 (formerly known as Appendix 14) of the Listing
Rules, where all the independent non-executive directors of
an issuer have served more than nine years on the board,
the issuer should appoint a new independent non-executive
director on the board at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

Professor Zhao Jinbao, Mr. Chen Shaohua and Ms. An Na
were appointed as independent non-executive Directors
on 3 February 2015, 3 February 2015 and 30 June 2010
respectively, and they have served for nine years, nine years
and fourteen years on the Board respectively. As each of them
has served more than nine years on the Board, the Company
will appoint a new independent non-executive Director in
accordance with Code Provision B.2.4(b) of the CG Code as set
out in Appendix C1 (formerly known as Appendix 14) of the
Listing Rules at the forthcoming AGM.
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The Company has received from each of its independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of his/her independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, and the Company
considers the independent non-executive Directors to be
independent. The Board is of the view that each of Professor
Zhao Jinbao and Mr. Chen Shaohua meets the independence
guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and maintains
their independence in accordance with the terms of the guidelines
despite that each of them has served the Board for more than
nine years. For further details, please refer to the circular of the
Company dated 30 April 2024 relating to, among others, the
AGM.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE DIRECTORS

The biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages
62 to 64 of the annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the Directors has entered into a service contract with
the Company for an initial term of 3 years, which will continue
thereafter until terminated by not less than three-month notice
in writing served by either party on the other. The details of
the remuneration of each of the Directors are revealed on note
9 to the consolidated financial statements.

None of the Directors had entered, or was proposing to
enter, into any service contract with the Company which is
not determinable by the Company within one year without
payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

Directors are subject to retirement by rotation at least once
every three years as required by the Articles.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Under the Articles, and subject to the applicable laws and
regulations, the Directors and officers of the Group shall be
indemnified out of the assets and profits of the Company
from or against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages
and expenses which they or any of them may incur or sustain
in or about the execution of their duty in their offices. Such
permitted indemnity provision has been in force throughout
the year ended 31 December 2023. The Company has
arranged appropriate Directors’ and officers’ liability insurance
coverage for the Directors and officers of the Group.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

None of the Directors was materially interested, directly or
indirectly, in any transaction, contract or arrangement during
the year ended 31 December 2023 which is significant in
relation to the business of the Group.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS IN
CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

No contract of significance between any members of the
Group and any of the controlling shareholders of the
Company, or any of their subsidiaries, subsisted during the
year ended 31 December 2023.

DIRECTORS' INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESS

None of the Directors or any of their respective close associates
had any material interest in business which competed or might
compete with the business of the Group.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Group were entered into or in existence during the year ended
31 December 2023.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2023, the interests and short positions
of the Directors and chief executives of the Company in the
Shares, underlying Shares and debentures of the Company
and its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV
of the SFO (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong), which
were required (i) to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests and short positions in which they were
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO);
(i) pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the
register maintained by the Company referred to therein; or
(iii) pursuant to the Model Code contained in Appendix C3
(formerly known as Appendix 14) to the Listing Rules, to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange were as
follows:
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Interests in the Shares and underlying Shares:

Number of
Shares/underlying
Shares (other than

R K AHE R 65 ey

Percentage of
the Company'’s
issued share

Name of Directors Capacity and nature of interest share options) held capital®
FRERG, R

7 (BREIUN) HEAQTERT
BEEpnR BOREZME %A [ NE Al
Ms. LIN Weihuan (“Ms. Lin") @ Interest in controlled corporation 233,155,792(L) 12.84%
WEEZL ([Mhat])@ FriE s =B A s
Mr. ZHENG Jingdong Beneficial owner 500,000(L) 0.03%
Bl =R A EmEAA
Long positions in share options of the Company: RAEQRARERERNEE

Number of share

Percentage of
the Company'’s
issued share

Name of Directors Capacity and nature of interest options held® capital®
HARARATSET

EEKE BHORERME FrisEREHE® &N gAY

Ms. Lin Beneficial owner 1,000,000(L) 0.06%

e EnlEa A

Mr. LEUNG Beneficial owner 6,000,000(L) 0.33%

REHE EniEa A

Mr. ZHENG Jingdong Beneficial owner 8,000,000(L) 0.44%

BRREE

Name and title of

BEaBEAA

Capacity and nature

Number of share

Percentage of
the Company'’s
issued share

chief executive of interest options held @ capital ™

HARRARE BT
FETBRAEHERBN BORERME FEBREHRR® RAEBTZ O
Mr. HE (Chief Executive Officer) Beneficial owner 17,000,000 (L) 0.94%

et (T E)

BESBEAA
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Notes:

) The percentage has been calculated based on the total number
of Shares in issue as at 31 December 2023 (i.e. 1,815,659,608
shares).

(2) Ms. Lin is deemed to be interested in the Shares in which Total
Shine is interested.

(3) These represent the number of shares which will be allotted
and issued to the respective Directors and chief executive upon
the exercise of the share options granted to each of them
under the 2021 Share Option Scheme. Accordingly, each of
them was regarded as interested in the underlying Shares.

(4) The letter “L" denotes a long position in the Shares or
underlying Shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, none of
the Directors and chief executives of the Company had any
interests or short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares
or debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which
were required (i) to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the provisions of Divisions 7 and 8 of
Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which
they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions
of the SFO); or (ii) pursuant to section 352 of Part XV of
the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein; or
(iii) pursuant to the Model Code contained in Appendix C3
(formerly known as Appendix 10) to the Listing Rules, to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.

SHARE OPTIONS OR OTHER SIMILAR RIGHTS

Details of share options of the Company are included in the
section “Share Option Schemes” below and also shown in
note 32 to the financial statements.

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

The Company adopted the share option scheme on 8 January
2011 (“2011 Share Option Scheme”) which became effective
on 28 January 2011 and expired on 27 January 2021. On
2 July 2021, the Company adopted the 2021 Share Option
Scheme which was terminated with effect from 16 June
2023. Upon the termination of 2021 Share Option Scheme,
the Company adopted a new share option scheme on 16
June 2023 (“2023 Share Option Scheme”). Details of the
2011 Share Option Scheme, 2021 Share Option Scheme and
2023 Share Option Scheme are set out in note 32 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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As at 31 December 2023, the Company had 111,000,000 and RZE-_=F+_HA=+—H A2aR
155,830,000 accumulated total outstanding share options —E——FEREAZIIR T —FER
under the 2011 Share Option Scheme and 2021 Share Option BtER B RTECERELHE SR A
Scheme respectively. Save for the aforementioned share 111,000,0001%7 2 155,830,00017 ° B& it
options, the Company does not have any other outstanding BRI KRR W EBEMHE A& ARITHE
share options. B B AR A o

The following table discloses the outstanding share options TRBEER-_ZE-_=F+-_A=+—H#H

under the 2011 Share Option Scheme as at 31 December TE——FREBRETEE TR ARITERE
2023: Ao -
Number of share options
EREHE
Outstanding Outstanding
asat  Granted  Exercised Cancelled  Lapsed as at Exercise
Date of {lanary duringthe  duringthe duringthe duringthe 31 December  Ewercise price per
grant w3 year year year year 023 period® share (HKS)  Notes
W-gzzk WoEozE
SRANLS -A-8 tZAz1-8 SRARE
Name or Category of particpants 55 REngo HAGE ERRE  EAGE  EREE  ERRN HAGE  GEH0 (Bm) Wit
Executive Director HEs
ZHENG Jingdong 987 19/6/2018 300,000 - (300,000) - - - A 0.54
19/6/2018 200,000 - (200,000) - - - B 0.54
Sub-total st 500,000 - (500,000) - - -
Employees ] 19/6/2018 43,920,000 - (43920,000) - - - A 054 3a
19/6/2018 29,280,000 - (29,280,000} - - - B 05 3
211012020 50,400,000 - - - - 50,400,000 C 055 X
22101020 33,600,000 - - - - 33,600,000 D 055 3
Sub-total st 157,200,000 - (73,200,000} - - 84,000,000
Consultants Ef 19/6/2018 18,000,000 - (18,000,000} - - - A 0.54
19/6/2018 12,000,000 - (12,000,000} - - - B 0.54
22101020 16,200,000 - - - - 16,200,000 ( 055
221102020 10,800,000 - - - - 10,800,000 D 055
Sub-total It 57,000,000 - (30,000,000) - - 27,000,000
Total s 214,700,000 - (103,700,000} - - 111,000,000
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Notes:

The closing prices of the Shares immediately before the date of
grant on 19 June 2018 and 22 October 2020 were HK$0.50 and
HK$0.50 respectively.

The respective exercise periods of the share options granted are
as follows:

A: From 19 June 2018 to 18 June 2023;

B: From 19 June 2019 to 18 June 2023;

C: From 22 October 2020 to 21 October 2025; and

D: From 22 October 2021 to 21 October 2025.

The vesting period of the share options is from the date of grant
until the commencement of the exercise period.

a. 6,480,000 share options were granted to Dr. Xu Zhi who
was an executive Director and resigned on 17 October
2022 but continued to be an employee of the Group.
These share options were exercised during the year ended
31 December 2023.

6,000,000 share options were granted to a person who
was a consultant of the Group and has become an
employee of the Group subsequently. These share options
were exercised during the year ended 31 December 2023.

b. 4,320,000 share options were granted to Dr. Xu Zhi who
was an executive Director and resigned on 17 October
2022 but continued to be an employee of the Group.
These share options were exercised during the year ended
31 December 2023.

4,000,000 share options were granted to a person who
was a consultant of the Group and has become an
employee of the Group subsequently. These share options
were exercised during the year ended 31 December 2023.
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C. 8,400,000 share options were granted to Dr. Xu Zhi who
was an executive Director and resigned on 17 October
2022 but continued to be an employee of the Group.

d. 5,600,000 share options were granted to Dr. Xu Zhi who
was an executive Director and resigned on 17 October
2022 but continued to be an employee of the Group.

4. Exercise condition: Provided always that a grantee of share
options shall remain as a Director, an employee or a consultant
of the Group, at the time of exercise of his or her share options.

5. The number and/or exercise price of the share options may be
subject to adjustments in the case of rights or bonus issues, or
other changes in the Company’s share capital.

6.  The weighted average share price immediately before the dates
of exercise for share options exercised during the year was
HK$5.99.

No share option may be granted to any one person such that
the total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of share options granted and to be granted to that
person in any 12-month period exceeds 1% of Shares in issue
from time to time. The amount payable on acceptance of an
option under the 2011 Share Option Scheme is HK$1.

The exercise price of share options is determinable by the
Board, but shall not be less than whichever is the highest of (i)
the nominal value of a Share; (i) the closing price of a Share
as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily quotations sheet on
the offer date; and (iii) the average closing price of a Share as
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the
five business days (as defined in the Listing Rules) immediately
preceding the offer date. Please refer to the prospectus of
the Company dated 18 January 2011 and the circular of the
Company dated 29 April 2019 for further details.

As at 1 January 2023, the Company had 111,269,560 share
options available for grant under the 2021 Share Option
Scheme and such share option scheme was terminated on 16
June 2023.

c. 8,400,000 R ED R T EE
T HEARITEERE_T -
F+A+THHEIT BENAREHR
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d. 5,600,000 R ED R FHEE
T HEARTEERE_T -
F+A+TLHEIT BENAREHR
ZEE-
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The following table discloses the outstanding share options TREER - E-_=F+_A=+—HH

under the 2021 Share Option Scheme as at 31 December TE - FERERESEBE NN ARTEE
2023: Ao i -
Number of share options
BhERA
Outstanding Qutstanding
asat  Granted  Exercised Cancelled  Lapsed as at Exercise
Date of {January duringthe  duringthe duringthe duringthe ~ 31December  Exercise price per
grant® JlK year year year year 023 period® share (HKS)  Notes
p-gock WoEozE
SEANLS -A-8 +2R=1-H SRARE
Name o Category of particpants S5 REago HAGE  ERRE  EAGE  EREE  ERRN HARE  AEH0 (A7) M
Executive Directors HrEs
ZHENG Jingdong 953 21112022 2,000,000 - - - - 2,000,000 A 9.6
211112022 2,000,000 - - - - 2,000,000 B 9.6
211112022 2,000,000 - - - - 2,000,000 ( 9.6
2112022 2,000,000 - - - - 2,000,000 D 962
LEUNG Tsz Chung R 2110022 750,000 - - - - 750,000 A 9.6
21112022 750,000 - - - - 750,000 B 9.6
211112022 750,000 - - - - 750,000 ( 9.6
21112022 750,000 - - - - 750,000 D 9.6
1204703 - 750,000 - - - 750,000 f 115
1242023 - 750,000 - - - 750,000 G 115
12/42023 - 750,000 - - - 750,000 H 115
12042023 - 750,000 - - - 750,000 \ 115
Non-Executive Director FunEE
LN Weilhuan iR 2110022 250,000 - - - - 250,000 A 96
2112022 250,000 - - - - 250,000 B 9.6
211002 250,000 - - - - 250,000 ( 9.6
21112022 250,000 - - - - 250,000 D 9.6
Sub-total I 12,000,000 3,000,000 - - - 15,000,000
Chief Executive Officer fiads
HE Shuangguan neE 122023 - 4250000 - - - 45000 ; 715
12042023 - 4,250,000 - - - 4,250,000 G 115
12042023 - 4,250,000 - - - 4,250,000 H 115
12042023 - 4,250,000 - - - 4,250,000 \ 115
Sub-total st - 17,000,000 - - - 17,000,000

SBFRRANEERERAT —2-=fEERs [/
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Number of share options
BRRYE
Qutstanding Qutstanding
asat  Granted  Exercised Cancelled  Lapsed as at Exercise
Date of {January duringthe  duringthe duringthe duringthe ~ 31December  Exercise price per
grant w3 year year year year 003 period® share (HKS)  Notes
-gocE W-gozE
SRANLS -A-8 t2R=1-H SRAEE
Name o Category of particpants 585 REngo WATE  EARE  ERGE  EREE  ERKN HAGE  fEEe (Bm) Wi
Employees k8
21112022 14,007,600 - - - - 14,007,600 t 9.6
21112022 13,436,900 - - - (1,777500) 11,659,400 A 9.6
211112022 4,098,500 - - - (17775000 2,321,000 B 9.6
2110022 4,098,500 - - - (17775000 2.321,000 ( 9.6
2110022 4,098,500 - - - (7715000 2,321,000 D 962
1242023 - 43,725,000 - - - 43725000 f 115 3
12042023 - 30,125,000 - - - 30,125,000 G 115 3
12042023 - 2,925,000 - - - 2,925,000 H 715 3
12042023 - 2,925,000 - - - 2,925,000 \ 715 3
Sub-total st 39,740,000 79,700,000 - - (7,110,000) 112,330,000
Consultants ]
12042023 - 2875000 - - - 2,875,000 f 115
12042023 - 2875000 - - - 2,875,000 G 115
1204203 - 2,875,000 - - - 2875000 H 115
1204203 - 875,000 - - - 2875000 \ 115
Sub-total It - 11,500,000 - - - 11,500,000
Total H 51,740,000 111,200,000 - - (7,110,000) 155,830,000
Notes: B et -
1. The closing prices of the Shares immediately before the date of 1. BROREERLBH_-_Z-__F—A4
grant on 21 January 2022 and 12 April 2023 were HK$9.45 and Zt-BAR-ZZE_=FNA+ Bk
HK$7.00 respectively. MBS B A9.45%8 7T K& 7.007 T o
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The respective exercise periods of the share options granted are 2.

as follows:

A: From 21 January 2023 to 20 January 2027,

B: From 21 January 2024 to 20 January 2027,

(@ From 21 January 2025 to 20 January 2027,

D: From 21 January 2026 to 20 January 2027,

E: From 21 January 2022 to 20 January 2027,

F: From 12 April 2024 to 11 April 2028;

G:  From 12 April 2025 to 11 April 2028;

H:  From 12 April 2026 to 11 April 2028; and

From 12 April 2027 to 11 April 2028.

The vesting period of the share options is from the date of grant
until the commencement of the exercise period.

375,000 share options were granted to a person who was a 3.

consultant of the Group and has become an employee of the
Group subsequently.

Exercise condition: Provided always that a grantee of share 4.

options shall remain as a Director, an employee or a consultant
of the Group, at the time of exercise of his or her share options.

The number and/or exercise price of the share options may be 5.

subject to adjustments in the case of rights or bonus issues, or
other changes in the Company’s share capital.
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The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted to each Eligible Participant (as
defined in the circular of the Company dated 10 June 2021 (the
“Circular”) or Grantee (as defined in the Circular) (including
exercised and outstanding options) in any twelve (12)-month
period up to the date of grant shall not exceed 1% of the
Shares in issue. A non-refundable nominal consideration of
HK$1.00 is payable by the Grantee upon acceptance of an
option under the 2021 Share Option Scheme.

The exercise price of share options is determinable by the Board,
but in any event will not be less than the highest of: (i) the
closing price of the Shares on the Stock Exchange as shown in
the daily quotations sheet of the Stock Exchange on the Offer
Date (as defined in the Circular), which must be a business
day as defined in the Circular); (i) the average of the closing
prices of the Shares as shown in the daily quotations sheets of
the Stock Exchange for the five (5) Business Days immediately
preceding the Offer Date (as defined in the Circular); and (iii) the
nominal value of the Share on the Offer Date. Please refer to the
Circular for further details.

As at 31 December 2023, the Company had 181,565,960 share
options available for grant under the 2023 Share Option Scheme.
There were no share options granted under 2023 Share Option
Scheme as at 31 December 2023.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in the section entitled “Share Option
Schemes” above, no equity-linked agreements were entered
into by the Company during the year or subsisted at the end of
the year ended 31 December 2023.

ARRANGEMENT FOR DIRECTORS TO
PURCHASE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the section of “Directors’ and chief
executive's interests and short positions in Shares, underlying
Shares and debentures” and “Share Option Schemes” above, at
no time during the year were rights to acquire benefits by means
of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company
granted to any of the Directors or their respective spouses or
minor children, or were any such rights exercised by them; or
was the Company, its holding company or any of its subsidiaries
and fellow subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the
Directors to acquire such rights in any other body corporate.

REEREE B IHER+=(12)E A 2R
AR TFTEBEEER2HE (TEREARAR
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M- - —FRERREEIE TR ERA
L A1.008 7T 2 AR B RFAAKE -

BEREZITEERESSETE  HEMEM
BERTEHABERAT Z&SE - (WD
RELOBH (ERRZBR) (ZRBAR
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BEEHOBRH(EERZBEK)FAG)EE
XREBXMERABRERAR 2 FHED
E: R(EORBHARZ@E-FAE
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T =FHERERTEITE T H 181,565,960 fE AR AE
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER FEREREMALTRABRORE
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS BIRH MR E %A

IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2023, so far as was known to the Directors
and chief executives of the Company, the following persons
or corporations (other than the Directors or chief executives
of the Company) who had, or were deemed or taken to have
interests and short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares
which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO and be
recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 336
of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company were as
follows:

R-FE-_=F+-_A=t—H BEEXK
ARABEBTHRAEMM AT AR
(BEFSARAEBITHRABRIN BRI
MEBER NP EES R DR E R
RIgEZ MHIE R EXVERE2 M35 5K
RXZAMARRIRE M BCRRIEEF M
HERPIFIB6HRBATHFENELMKA
FITHEARRRZEH IR T -

REROREBROTHERZR XA

Interests and short positions in the Shares and
underlying Shares:

Percentage of the

Capacity and nature of Number of Shares/ Company’s issued

Name interests underlying Shares share capital®®
Bt HARRAT ST
£ SORERMEE HEERAE B L NER A
Mr. Chiu Hsin-Wang Interest in controlled 251,108,365 (L) 13.83%
("Mr. Chiu") ™ corporation/beneficial
owner
ERFrEE S 4 ([EREA]) ™ FrizslxEr s,
EmfEB A
Market Dragon Investments Interest in controlled 240,656,365 (L) 13.25%
Limited (“Market Dragon”) @ corporation
FrizEsl A =
Best Mark International Limited Beneficial owner 240,656,365 (L) 13.25%
("Best Mark”) @ BERBEA A
Ms. Lin @ Interest in controlled 234,155,792 (L) 12.90%
corporation/beneficial
owner
Mz @ FriEsl =B iEm,
EmlER A
Total Shine @ Beneficial owner 233,155,792 (L) 12.84%

BEaBEAA

EHEFEBENEERARIR —B-=FFEHRE
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Capacity and nature of

Number of Shares/

Percentage of the
Company’s issued

Name interests underlying Shares" share capital®®
’13, EERARE BT
=E: SO RERME HER 5 EE RAH 5 o
Bluestone Technologies (Cayman)  Beneficial owner 174,400,000 (L) 9.61%
Limited (“Bluestone”) ®
EOMR(FHE2)BERAF ExnEAA
([EEAL)®
Mr. Zhuang Chaohui ® Interest in controlled 174,400,000 (L) 9.61%
corporation
HTEARE SO PG EE R R
Mr. Wang Xiaoan © Interest in controlled 141,942,000 (L) 7.82%
corporation/beneficial
owner
FELRLEO® Sigea b el oL 2
EnfEAA
Ms. Zhang Bihong Interest in controlled 110,800,000 (L) 6.10%
("Ms. Zhang”) @ corporation
REBLL(TREXL])? PITYE A B 0 4 2
Mr. Lin Chaohui @ Spousal interest/interest in 110,800,000 (L) 6.10%
controlled corporation
ARERIE S5 A o B4 e BT il B A
Venus Capital Fund ©® Beneficial owner 100,800,000 (L) 5.55%
EnlEA A
Venus Capital Management Interest in controlled 100,800,000 (L) 5.55%

Company Limited ©

Notes:

corporation

P 1A B ey a1

(1) Mr. Chiu directly holds 10,452,000 Shares and is also deemed
to be interested in the 240,656,365 Shares held by Best Mark.
Best Mark is indirectly wholly owned and controlled by Mr. Chiu

through Market Dragon.

it -

(1)  EBScAEEEFH10,452,000/0 /%15 » TRk
R A Best Mark#5 & 2240,656,3650% I&
{7 R B S ° Best Marke Ef % 435 38
Market Dragonfil# 2 & B KT H|
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(10)

(1

Market Dragon wholly owns Best Mark and is deemed to be
interested in the Shares in which Best Mark is interested.

Best Mark is interested in 240,656,365 Shares.

Total Shine is interested in 233,155,792 Shares. Ms. Lin,
who wholly owns and controls Total Shine, is deemed to be
interested in the Shares in which Total Shine is interested. Ms.
Lin is also interested in 1,000,000 Shares by virtue of the share
options granted to her under the 2021 Share Option Scheme.

Bluestone is interested in 174,400,000 Shares. Mr. Zhuang
Chaohui, who wholly owns and controls Bluestone, is deemed
to be interested in the Shares in which Bluestone is interested.

141,942,000 Shares were held by Mr. Wang Xiaoan and/or
corporation(s) controlled by him.

Ms. Zhang, who wholly owns and controls Venus Capital
Management Company Limited, is deemed to be interested
in the Shares in which Venus Capital Management Company
Limited is interested.

Mr. Lin Chaohui, the spouse of Ms. Zhang, is deemed to be
interested in Ms. Zhang's interests in the Company.

Ms. Zhang and Mr. Lin Chaohui also together indirectly holds
Gold Stone (Fujian) Energy Company Limited (“Gold Stone”).
Hwabao Trust Co., Ltd, who acted as the trustee of Gold
Stone holding 10,000,000 Shares through its trust fund named
Hwabao e Overseas Investment Series 2 No. 45-9 QDII Single
Money Trust.

Venus Capital Fund is interested in 100,800,000 Shares.

Venus Capital Management Company Limited wholly owns
Venus Capital Fund and is deemed to be interested in the Shares
in which Venus Capital Fund is interested.

The percentage has been calculated based on the total number
of Shares in issue as at 31 December 2023 (i.e. 1,815,659,608
shares).

The letter “L" denotes the person’s long position in the Shares
or underlying Shares.

Report of the Directors
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, none of
the Directors and the chief executives of the Company was
aware of any other person (other than the Directors or the
chief executives of the Company) or corporation which had,
or was deemed or taken to have, an interest or short position
in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures which would
fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO and be recorded in the
register required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO or as
otherwise notified to the Company.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

No connected transaction was entered into or in existence
during the year. The related party transactions disclosed in
note 37 to the consolidated financial statements do not
fall under the definition of “connected transaction” or
“continuing connected transaction” in Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the
Company’s total issued share capital was held by the public as
at the date of this report.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Group’s emolument policies are based on the merit,
qualifications and competence of individual employees and are
reviewed by the remuneration committee periodically.

The emoluments of the Directors are recommended by the
remuneration committee and are decided by the Board, having
regard to the Group’s operating results, individual performance
and comparable market statistics.

The Company adopted the 2011 Share Option Scheme, 2021
Share Option Scheme and 2023 Share Option Scheme to
motivate and reward its Directors and eligible participants.
Details of the 2011 Share Option Scheme, 2021 Share Option
Scheme and 2023 Share Option Scheme are set out in note 32
to the consolidated financial statements.
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AUDITOR

Confucius International CPA Limited will retire and a resolution
for their re-appointment as the Company’s auditor is to be
proposed at the forthcoming AGM. There is no disagreement
with the audit committee on such appointment. The Company
did not change its auditor in the preceding three years.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

As at the date that these consolidated financial statements
were approved, there is no event after the reporting period
which should be disclosed.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Leung Tsz Chung
Chairman

Hong Kong
28 March 2024
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B & B RS

£ R W AT IS T FTIR )
) P W s ¥ A=

=—a————— Confucius International CPA Limited

TO THE MEMBERS OF GOLDEN SOLAR NEW ENERGY
TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Golden Solar New Energy Technology Holdings Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”) set out on pages 96 to 222, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December
2023, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of
changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for
the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including material accounting policy information
and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group as at 31 December 2023 and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described
in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We
are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”)
together with any ethical requirements that are relevant to our
audit of the consolidated financial statements in the Cayman
Islands, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities
in accordance with these requirements and the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Certified Public Accountants
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion
on these matters.

Valuation and impairment of inventories

We identified the valuation and impairment of inventories as
a key audit matter because the carrying amount of inventories
was significant and the assessment of recoverability of the
carrying amount involved significant judgement and estimation
uncertainty.

At 31 December 2023, inventories of the Group amounted
to approximately RMB138,183,000, which represented
approximately 16% of total assets of the Group. As described
in the accounting policies in note 3 to the consolidated financial
statements, inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. The net realisable value of inventory could be
impacted by changes in economic conditions as well as changes
in customers’ preferences and competitor strategies in responses
to changes in market conditions.

As disclosed in note 19 to the consolidated financial statements,
the Group recognised the impairment loss on inventories
approximately RMB9,255,000 for the year ended 31 December
2023.

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matters

Our procedures in relation to management’s assessment on
valuation and impairment of inventories include:

o Understanding the Group’s key controls in relation
to the identification of slow-moving inventories and
measurement of the allowance for inventories;

o Compared the carrying amounts of a sample of
inventories to their net realisable value through a detailed
review of sales subsequent to the year end. When there
are no subsequent sales, assessing and examining the
assumptions and estimates applied by management
in determining the net realisable value of inventories
including discussing with the management for the
assumptions and judgement made in assessing net
realisable values;
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matters
(continued)

o Observed the physical condition of samples of inventories
during attendance of stock take conducted by
management to identify any slow-moving or damaged
items;

o Checked the mathematical accuracy of management’s
calculations of the impairment allowance for inventories;
and

o Checked the accuracy of inventory aging used by
management to estimate the appropriate provision for
slow-moving and obsolete inventories on a sample basis.

Impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment

We have identified the valuation of property, plant and
equipment as a key audit matter because of its significance
to the consolidated financial statements and because
applying the Group’s accounting policies in this area involves
a significant degree of judgement by the management in
assessing whether there are any indicators of impairment for
property, plant and equipment at the end of the reporting
period which may affect its respective carrying amount.

As at 31 December 2023, the net carrying amount of
property, plant and equipment amounted to approximately
RMB203,964,000. Impairment loss of RMB2,307,000 has been
recognised against the carrying amount of property, plant and
equipment for the year ended 31 December 2023.

Details of the property, plant and equipment is set out in note
15 to the consolidated financial statements.

Our audit procedures in relation to impairment assessment of
property, plant and equipment included:

o performing the physical inspection to check whether the
property, plant and equipment are in good conditions;

o evaluating the management’s assessment of the
indicators of impairment and, where such indicators were
identified, assessed the management’s impairment testing
and identify any valuation risk of property, plant and
equipment;
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Independent Auditor’s Report

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
(continued)

o discussing with the management on the key assumptions
used in the management’s assessment of the indicators of
impairment;

o assessing the methodologies used and the appropriateness
of the key assumptions adopted; and

o challenging the data and assumptions, used as inputs for
the valuation, which included reference to the market
selling price of comparable assets and other available
market information.

Impairment assessment of trade receivables

At 31 December 2023, the net carrying amount of the Group’s
trade receivables amounted to approximately RMB155,321,000,
net of allowance for credit losses of approximately RMB450,000,
which was material to the Group’s consolidated financial
statements. The Group recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables which are assessed individually with a provision
matrix with appropriate groupings. The assessment of
expected credit losses of trade receivables involved significant
management judgement and estimation including their
assessment of customers’ current financial position and forward-
looking information.

In determining the allowance for trade receivables, the
management considers the credit history including default or
delay in payments, settlement records, subsequent settlements
and aging analysis of the trade receivables.

Details of the trade receivables are set out in note 20 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

Our audit procedures in relation to impairment assessment of
trade receivables included:

o obtaining an understanding of the Group's procedures
on setting of credit limits and credit periods given to
customers with the management;

o evaluating the design and implementation of controls
over the accounting process of making allowance for
credit losses and evaluated management’s assumptions
and judgement by comparing to the historical collection
trends;

o checking the accuracy of preparation of the aging
analysis of trade receivables by customers by tracing the
data back to the source documents;

o checking on a sampling basis, the debtors’ historical
payment pattern and the bank receipts for the payments
received subsequent to the reporting period;

o checking on a sampling basis, the evidence including
correspondence with the debtors for the latest progress
of the outstanding amounts; and

o assessing the expected credit loss provision methodology,
examining the key data inputs on a sampling basis and
reviewing the key assumptions used to determine the
expected credit losses, including both historical and
forward-looking information.

We found that the estimation and judgement made by
management in respect of the recoverability of trade
receivables were supportable by credible evidence.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Valuation of investment properties

As set out in note 16 to the consolidated financial statements
at 31 December 2023, the Group had investment properties
held by a subsidiary of approximately RMB66,043,000 and for
which a loss arising on change in fair value of approximately
RMB208,000 was recognised and presented as “Fair value
loss on investment properties” in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. The fair
value was determined by management with reference to the
valuations performed by independent professional property
valuer (the “Valuer”) engaged by the Group.

The valuation of investment properties was considered as a
key audit matter due to the significance of the balance to the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, combined with
the significant judgements involved in determining the inputs
used in the valuation.

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matters

Our procedures in relation to the valuations of investment
properties included:

o evaluating the competence, capabilities, independence
and objectivity of the Valuers;

o obtaining and reviewing the valuation report prepared by
the Valuers;

o discussing the valuations with management and the
Valuers and challenging key estimates adopted and
inputs used in the valuations, including those relating
to market selling prices, market rents and capitalisation
rates, by comparing them with historical rates and market
observable data;

o evaluating the valuation methodology used and the
appropriateness of the key assumptions and parameters
based on our knowledge of other property valuations for
similar types of properties; and

o checking the accuracy and relevance of the input data
used in the valuations on a sample basis.

We found the key assumptions used in management’s
valuation of investment properties were supported by available
evidence.
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Other information

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not included the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Directors and Those Charged
with Governance for the Consolidated Financial
Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that
give a true and fair view in accordance with IFRSs issued
by IASB and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the
Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative
but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing
the Group’s financial reporting process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms
of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a
high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control;

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group's internal control,

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors;
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use
of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may
cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention
in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the
date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern;

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation; and

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including
any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a
statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and communicate with
them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably
be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, related safeguards.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of
most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances,
we determine that a matter should not be communicated in
our report because the adverse consequences of doing so
would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

Confucius International CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Wong Ho Yuen, Gary
Practising Certificate Number: PO1316

Hong Kong
28 March 2024
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 B Z_F-=4F+_-_H=+—HIFE

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

2023 2022
—EBC-=F =z
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
K at ARET T AR®ET T
REVENUE e 6 295,348 274,277
Cost of sales SHE KA (252,443) (238,754)
GROSS PROFIT EF 42,905 35,523
Other net income and gains H A R 5E 6 15,660 55,502
(Impairment loss)/reversal of impairment  FEWE F R CRE
loss on trade receivables B8,/ mEEERD (337) 1,220
Selling and distribution expenses SHE R DHEBEX (24,814) (11,707)
General and administrative expenses —MRITH A (257,115) (184,551)
Impairment loss on property, plant and Y WE MR ERE
equipment E1a 15 (2,307) -
Impairment loss on inventories FERERRE 19 (9,255) (3,985)
Research and development costs Ak A (83,352) (52,370)
Amortisation of intangible assets A E 18 (460) (416)
Finance costs BB KA 7 (5,154) (4,414)
Fair value gain on financial assets at fair R AF(E AR
value through profit or loss TREEZATE
s 608 141
Fair value (loss)/gain on investment "EYE L NE
properties (E518), Wz 16 (208) 135
LOSS BEFORE TAX BRI RIEE 8 (323,829) (164,922)
Income tax expense TSR 2 11 (2,551) (2,118)
LOSS FOR THE YEAR AND TOTAL RATEE ARG
COMPREHENSIVE EXPENSES FOR FABER
THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO FAZEMAXAE
OWNERS OF THE COMPANY 12 (326,380) (167,040)
LOSS PER SHARE BREE 14
— Basic (RMB cent) —ER(ARE D) (18.400) (9.767)
- Diluted (RMB cent) —#HEARED) (18.400) (9.767)
Details of dividends are disclosed in note 13 to the  REFBHRENGESMBEHRENTIZ -

consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

As at 31 December 2023

B BRI R

S

—E-—=HF+=-fA=+—H

2023 2022
—EC-=F — g
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
k3 ARBET T AREFTT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y ER NG 15 203,964 131,639
Investment properties KREME 16 66,043 66,251
Right-of-use assets EREEE 17 71,087 5,674
Intangible assets BEEE 18 38 3,723
341,132 207,287
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Inventories FE 19 138,183 179,392
Trade and bills receivables JEUCE 5 BR 3 I B I 22 4 20 155,321 101,583
Prepayments, deposits and other  FBNFUE - e K H b EUFRIA
receivables 21 83,570 69,934
Financial assets at fair value AV ETABRZeBEE
through profit or loss 22 720 990
Pledged deposits BEIFFER 23 2,426 1,431
Cash and bank balances Re MIRTT4E 8 23 142,643 354,724
522,863 708,054
CURRENT LIABILITIES nEBAE
Trade and bills payables BT E BRI EN RE 24 79,592 94,422
Deposits received, other payables DUk 4 - Hith B~ ZIE K&
and accruals JEETE 25 47,589 43,119
Short-term borrowings HHEE 26 100,200 91,000
Contract liabilities ERAaE 27 8,751 16,424
Deferred income EAE A 28 3,386 3,636
Lease liabilities HEAE 29 21,424 1,716
Income tax payable FEIFriSH I8 400 2,183
261,342 252,500
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEEFE 261,521 455,554
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT #EERARDEE
LIABILITIES 602,653 662,841
SHEHFERRFTERERATE —E-=FFERE
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

maE B BRI R

As at 31 December 2023 WR-ZE-=#F+_H=4+—H

2023 2022
—EC-=F —Eg-=
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

ftat ARBT R ARETT

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBEE
Deferred income RIEWA 28 9,187 12,572
Lease liabilities HEBE 29 47,279 109
Deferred tax liability RIEFIAEE 30 5,193 5,360
61,659 18,041
NET ASSETS BEERE 540,994 644,800
EQUITY R
Share capital & s 31 120,960 113,799
Reserves B 420,034 531,001
TOTAL EQUITY RELAEEE 540,994 644,800
The consolidated financial statements on pages 96 to 222 FIE2NDEMREMBHRRLEEETE R
were approved and authorised for issue by the board of ZEZMF=ZA =+ N\ BB RIRET
directors on 28 March 2024 and signed on its behalf by: B WHRATATREKRESE -
LEUNG Tsz Chung ZHENG Jingdong
RFH BMIER
Director Director
EF EZF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

REERBBR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z_—FT_-=F+_-H=+—HI-F)Z
Statutory ~ Exchange  Capital Share
Share  Treasury Share Contributed  surplus fluctuation redemption  options Accumulated Total Total
capital stock  premium  surplus fund  reserve  reserve  reserve losses ~ reserves equity
tERA  EXR® EAER BRE
k& ERRH RMEE  EHEE 0B i il fE  EiEE  REEE  RaEE
Notes — RMB'OO0  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'0O0  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
WE ARETR ARETT ARETT ARETR ARETT ARETR ARETR ARETI ARETT ARETT ARETR
(note 31) (note 33()  (note 33(i))  (note 33ii))
(Kit31) (&) (W) ()
At 1 January 2022 H-%=2£-
-A 110,606 - 916602 141376 95478 155 54 3,600 (1016505 174230 284836
Loss and total comprehensive  FREERR2ER
expenses for the year Tl - - - - - - - - (1670400 (167,040)  (167,040)
Completion of placing of new  THEEHHR
shares 3 3190 - 404718 - - - - - - 40418 407376
lsue of shares upon exercise 7R RIER
of share options iR 31 3 - hij - - - - 0 - 0 Ik}
Equity-settled share-based ~ RIREEE )
payments RABERH
E 3 - - - - - - - 119605 119605 119,605
Lapse of share options Bl % - - - - - - - (1 1754 - -
At31 December 202and  H=E=Z%
1 January 203 tZR=t-R
it T
-A-H 113,799 - 130815 141376 95478 155 54 154444 (1181791) 531001 644,800
Loss and total comprehensive  EREERAEE
expenses for the year Tt - - - - - - - - (326,380  (326,380)  (326,380)
lsue of shares upon exercise  H7EETRER
of share options ki 31 1,161 - 57,068 - - - - (14966) - i 898
Bquity-settled share-based RIS MR
paymerts BERSRE 2 - - - - - - - M - MEE 1M
Lapse of share options BiERH 3 - - - - - - - (1061) 17,061 - -
Repurchase of own shares ~ BEIEARD 3l - (4,326) - - - - - - - (4320)  (4.326)
Echange diference arsing ~ #E 55\ 7457
from translation of foreign 2B E
operations - - - - - 1 - - - 1 1
At31December 203 HZ%2zf
t2f=1-A 120,960 (43260) 1377883 141,376 95,478 156 54 30005 (1491110) 420034 540,99
SHEFERBBERERAE —E-ZFFERE
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RERTMRER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 B Z_F-=4F+_-_H=+—HIFE

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

2023 2022
—E=-= —E- 4
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
i &+ AR® T ARETT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES RESTE
Loss before tax BRAGATEE (323,829) (164,922)
Adjustments for: PR IEFE
Interest income FEUA 6 (4,455) (432)
Interest expenses FE R 7 4,640 4,176
Depreciation of property, plant and M B NEREITE
equipment 15 17,616 10,383
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 17 6,164 2,402
Gain on modification of lease BT HE W= - (13)
Gain on disposals of items of HEWE - BE R
property, plant and equipment HAB1E B s (10) (79)
Amortisation of intangible assets B EESN 18 460 416
Loss on write-off/disposals of items s, HEME - BE &
of property, plant and equipment RHIEE EE 56 2
Impairment loss on property, plant M - B MR
and equipment REEE 15 2,307 -
Impairment loss on intangible B EERERBE
assets 18 4,374 -
Impairment loss/(reversal of impairment FEWE 5 ERFURE R,
loss) on trade receivables CREEIERE M) 337 (1,220)
Impairment loss on inventories FEREERE 19 9,255 3,985
Equity-settled share-based RIRREEE ARG
payments BEBREONR 177,636 119,605
Fair value gain on financial assets at HMANFEE AEBZH Y
fair value through profit or loss SREEY AT EE (608) (141)
Fair value loss/(gain) on investment REME 2 ~NFE
properties &8 (a) 16 208 (135)
Exchange difference arising from BREBINEBIEEZ
translation of foreign operations fEH =% 1 -
Operating cash flow before changes EEESEHRI LS
in working capital REmE (105,848) (25,973)
Decrease/(increase) in inventories FERL () 31,954 (72,718)
Increase in trade and bills receivables EUNE ZERF N W E
120 (54,075) (12,023)
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments, AR - e R A A FEY
deposits and other receivables FIEOEM), W (12,758) 9,807
(Decrease)/increase in trade and bills BB ZER R ENEZE
payables G,/ (14,830) 5,555
Increase in deposits received, other B S - HAb R RIE K&
payables and accruals FEETE AL 5,021 5,398
Decrease in deferred income PRI AR (3,635) (3,912)
(Decrease)/increase in contract liabilities ARAECED), (7,673) 15,730
Cash used in operations KEFTAR S (161,844) (78,136)
Interest received EHFILE 4,455 432
Enterprise income taxes paid B EMER (4,501) (999)
Net cash flows used in operating RETERFIARSRETFE
activities (161,890) (78,703)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

RERTMRER

SE+AS+—ALFE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - % —

2023 2022
—E-= T F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Mt aF AR®T T ARETT
INVESTING ACTIVITIES BREEH
Purchases of items of property, plant BEMX HWEMXEEE
and equipment 15 (92,319) (56,855)
Purchases and addition of intangible HEE N e & s
assets 18 (1,149) (3,258)
Proceeds from disposals of items of HEWZE BEMEKEER
property, plant and equipment FriS 538 25 311
Increase of pledged deposits NS B HFER (995) (1,005)
Net cash flows used in investing RETHFRARESREFH
activities (94,438) (60,807)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES BESEE
Proceeds from placing of new shares R E SR TS 218 - 374,672
Proceed from issue of new shares T B R B 1T AR BT
upon exercise of share options BFIAE 49,263 23
Repurchase of own shares EARIER =R &) (4,326) -
Drawdown of new short-term BT EEEE
borrowings 36 115,200 91,330
Repayments of short-term borrowings EEEHEE 36 (106,000) (100,771)
Repayments of principal of lease EEMEAELS
liabilities 36 (4,699) (2,228)
Interest paid ERFLE (5,191) (4,586)
Net cash flows generated from RMETEBBRSREFH
financing activities 44,247 358,440
NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN e RESEEVORD)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS BinFE (212,081) 218,930
Cash and cash equivalents at FUHeRREEED
beginning of year 354,724 135,794
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FRAERREEEY
END OF YEAR 142,643 354,724
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH RERBEEBYERIM
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances & RIRTTA 142,643 354,724
SHFERRHERERAT —S=FFERE
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 B Z_F-=4F+_-_H=+—HIFE
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

Golden Solar New Energy Technology Holdings Limited (the
“Company”) is a limited liability company incorporated
in the Cayman Islands. The registered office address and
principal place of business of the Company are disclosed in
the “Corporate Information” section of the annual report.
The ordinary shares of the Company (the “Shares”) were
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 28 January 2011
(the “Listing Date").

The principal activity of the Company is investment
holding. Details of the principal activities of its
subsidiaries are set out in note 45 to the consolidated
financial statements. There were no significant
changes in the nature of principal activities of
the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the
“Group”) during the year.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Renminbi (“RMB"), which is the same as the functional
currency of the Company.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the
immediate holding company and the ultimate holding
company of the Company are Best Mark International
Limited (“Best Mark”) and Market Dragon Investments
Limited, respectively, which were incorporated in the
British Virgin Islands (“BVI"). Its ultimate controlling party
is Mr. Chiu Hsin-Wang.

DNAREH
CHEHFERBRERERAR (AR
ADARASESEMKINERE
ERF ARRGEMHEEREEE
EHF U NARF R ABER | —
B EE - AR A EAEB( K DR =
E——F—A-+N\B(LHAHAD
REEBAXZMERAA(EHR
Pl EMR T -

AARMEBER BT E TR - I
BRAREEEBNFBIANGAEITE
MR FAS - FRARBFREWBER
(B AEE DM EZEBKMEL
BEBAEE -

HAMBREUARE(ARED 2
5l HIVAARAT Z AR -

RABERERE ARRNEEZER
RARBEBEERRBD RN EBRE
LHS(IHEELRES M
Best Mark International Limited([ Best
Mark |) Market Dragon Investments
Limited  ELERARIZE Il A R EFFHE SR 4
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBERRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #ZE_—FT-=F+_-H=+—HILFZE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“IFRSs")

The Group has applied the following new and
amendments to revised IFRSs which include IFRSs and
International Accounting Standards (“IASs”) issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) for
the first time in the current year:

Amendments to IAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting
and IFRS Practice Policies
Statement 2

Amendments to IAS 8 Definition of Accounting
Estimates

Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from
a Single Transaction and
International Tax Reform —

Pillar Two Model Rules

Amendments to IAS 12

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts

Except as disclosed below, the application of the new
and amendments to IFRSs in the current year has had no
material impact on the Group’s financial positions and
performance for the current and prior years and/or on
the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.

Disclosure of Accounting Policies - Amendments
to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2

The amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement
2 Making Materiality Judgements provide guidance and
examples to help entities apply materiality judgements to
accounting policy disclosures. The amendments aim to
help entities to provide accounting policy disclosures that
are more useful by replacing the requirement for entities
to disclose their “significant” account policies with a
requirement to disclose their “material” accounting
policies and adding guidance on how entities apply
the concept of materiality in making decisions about
accounting policy disclosures.

F&E FIRTR] B ARAE 5T B R B 3 3R
%Jj"i’;ﬁ'] (I EHPR A B 3R 5 2
Z]

AEBERAFEEREAHEEE
s EEe(( AR e LR
& 1)L TH ] RS TR B
TSR] BB B R R R A
BB HEa) ([ ER & ER):

Re AR SETBURIEEE
155 MBI
B M5k 42 R
BEEREFE2%
(1BETA)
Re et AR FEHHETER
ERLACCHEN)
ReElE EEXEBE-XRS
125 (IBETA) MEERBE
TR R IEIER]
18 K BIRR T 7%
ME-E X
AR A

BRI S RERA )
ZERIF 1757

BRINXBEEIN RAFEEMNA]
K AERT BIRR B 5 s 5 2 R B AN R (8]
RARFEE B EFE NI BN KR
BE/ S M BREMARE
WEEATE -

B BRIRE - ERETERE 1R
KBS R R E R & 25
CCHEN)
REFTERE VR MERS B RS
FREBREF2RUERTA)EHE
ZHEHE ] RERESRREES
HEAERHEHERE THEILE
- ZFBFTEEWBEREHE M
BRHESHERREE HERLER
BHIEAXSTBERNAEE R LT
BEIEZ | SsTBERMRE @ LE 0
FANEB NS BOR N EF L
RREEAEZMBIRMIES

EHEFEBENEERARIR —B-=FFEHRE
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REMBERRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 B Z_F-=4F+_-_H=+—HIFE
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("IFRSs") (continued)

Disclosure of Accounting Policies - Amendments
to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2 (continued)

The amendments have had an impact on the Group’s
disclosure of accounting policies, but not on the
measurement, recognition or presentation of any items in
the Group’s financial statements.

New guidance on accounting implications of the
abolition of the MPF-LSP offsetting mechanism in
Hong Kong issued by the HKICPA

In June 2022, Employment and Retirement Schemes
Legislation (Offsetting Arrangement) (Amendment)
Ordinance 2022 (the "Amendment Ordinance”) was
enacted. The Amendment Ordinance abolishes the use of
the accrued benefits derived from employers’ mandatory
contributions under the mandatory provident fund
("MPF") to offset severance payments (“SP”) and long
service payments (“LSP”) (the “Abolition”). Subsequently,
the Government of HKSAR announced that the Abolition
will take effect on 1 May 2025 (the “Transition Date”).
The following key changes will take effect on the
Transition Date:

— Accrued benefits derived from employers’
mandatory MPF contributions cannot be used to
offset the LSP/SP in respect of the employment
period after the Transition Date.

—  The pre-transition LSP/SP is calculated using the last
month’s salary immediately preceding the Transition
Date, instead of using the salary of employment
termination date.

F&E FIRTR] B AAE 5T B R B A 3R
2R ([ BPR B  5 28
Bl D)

B BERE -BEBR S ERE 1R
kBB BHREENERREE2R
(BFTA)(78)

ZEEFEARENSHABREES
TE BYAKERBEHRERATMAA
BAHETE R E I W EEK T E -

BABTM A ASEREBE BN
HRES -RESEEES 2S5
FEZFigsl
RZBEZZFANACZE_FERE
FORARETEABI (R S L2 HE ) (B RT ) K
BIXTHE BT 1) 13838 - (S 7T 1B ER
ARG AES([RES DIETE
FoaslEHFN REEEEIHENE
([BEEDEERBERSS(ERRE))
MZHE([BUBREE]) - Hig HEKE
BREM BUBLHBR_ZT_RHF
FR—B(&@& 8 AR THETE
BEGEEH B RBER

- EEXrRFIUBEEHFNRE
R NS AR EEES R RZE
HWRRe, SEAE -

— BHZRRES EMENRE
EEFBA&RE—EANFERE
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBERRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #ZE_—FT-=F+_-H=+—HILFZE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("IFRSs") (continued)

New guidance on accounting implications of the
abolition of the MPF-LSP offsetting mechanism in
Hong Kong issued by the HKICPA (continued)

Due to the complexities of the accounting for the
offsetting of accrued benefits derived from an employer’s
MPF contributions and its LSP obligation and the
accounting for offsetting mechanism could become
material in light of the Abolition, the HKICPA published
“Accounting implications of the abolition of the MPF-LSP
offsetting mechanism in Hong Kong” (the “Guidance”)
in July 2023 to provide guidance to account for the
offsetting mechanism and the Abolition. The HKICPA
concluded that there are two acceptable accounting
approaches for the offsetting mechanism, being:
Approach 1:  Account for the amount expected
to be offset as a deemed employee
contribution towards that employee’s
LSP benefits in terms of Hong Kong
Accounting Standard 19.93(a)
Approach 2:  Account for the employer MPF
contributions and the offsetting
mechanism as a funding mechanism for
the LSP obligation

For the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2023,
the Group’s LSP liability before the expected offsetting
under the MPF-LSP offsetting mechanism is insignificant.
Application of the guidance had no material effect on the
consolidated financial statements of the Group.

F&E FIRTR] B ARAE 5T B R B 3 3R
2R ([ PR #3528
Bl D)

BERETRMASEMEREEN
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e -—ERSEEEFIZEHTE)
(TR fE 5! 1) - B SHH I & BOUR % 5F
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REMBERRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 B Z_F-=4F+_-_H=+—HIFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND 2. FERFE] RIS BIRR 9 B3R
AMENDMENTS TO INTERNATIONAL EXER ([ BEIPRE ISR &%
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS B &)

("IFRSs") (continued)
New and amendments to IFRSs in issue but not BB MR E R RZERT
yet effective I3 PR B 7 3 5 ZE
The Group has not early applied the following new and AEBEWEIREREAUTCEMBER
amendments to IFRSs that have been issued but are not REME ] R B B i s
yet effective: AER]
Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Re TR MBS IERE
Current or Non-current’ EALHACCHEN) BESHE
Amendments to IAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with R = HE | b A 2 A HY
Covenants' F15R(EFTAR) EmEaE
Amendments to IAS 7 Supplier Finance et HEERE
and IFRS 7 Arrangements' FE75 K BEER i
B R 2R
EVEACCHIE)
Amendments to IAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability? e Rt AR TRZ B] a2
F(BFTA)
Amendments to IFRS 10  Sale or Contribution of Assets BIPR B S5 4ER| B E M H B
and IAS 28 between an Investor and its E105%R L EER e NAEIHEE
Associate or Joint Venture3 TR 285 NEIMEE
(1BETA) HESFE?
Amendments to IFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and RIS ZER] BB
Leaseback’ F165(ERIA) HEAF
! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 1 R-ZE-_mMF—A—HsKZ2EBHEA
January 2024 ZFEEER AR
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 2 RZZE-_AF—A—HxZ&HR
January 2025 ZFEERER-
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date 3 Mz FEBHBAESB R RE
to be determined. E °
The directors of the Company consider the application of RAREERREAZELEETERE
the amendments to IFRSs would not have any material B S ER W TN H R e M B RR
impact on the consolidated financial statements. EREATE -
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBERRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #ZE_—FT-=F+_-H=+—HILFZE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB. In
addition, the consolidated financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities (“Listing Rules”) on the Stock
Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis except for
investment properties and financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss (“FVTPL”) which are measured
at fair value at the end of each reporting period, as
explained in the accounting policy set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction in the market at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable
or estimated using another valuation technique. In
estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the
Group takes into account the characteristics of the
asset or liability if market participants would take
those characteristics into account when pricing the
asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value
for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements is determined on such
a basis, except for share-based payment transactions that
are within the scope of IFRS 2 Share-based Payments,
leasing transactions that are accounted with IFRS 16, and
measurements that have some similarities to fair value
but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in IAS
2 Inventories or value in use in IAS 36 Impairment of
Assets.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes
into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and
best use or by selling it to another market participant that
would use the asset in its highest and best use.

3.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Basis of preparation (continued)

For investment properties which are transacted at fair
value and a valuation technique that unobservable inputs
are to be used to measure fair value in subsequent
periods, the valuation technique is calibrated so that at
initial recognition the results of the valuation technique
equal the transaction price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based
on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which
are described as follows:

Level T  inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the
entity can access at the measurement date;

Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for
the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly;
and

Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

Going concern

The directors of the Company have, at the time of
approving the consolidated financial statements, a
reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate
resources to continue in operational existence for the
foreseeable future. Thus they continue to adopt the
going concern basis of accounting in preparing the
consolidated financial statements.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBERRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 B Z_F-=4F+_-_H=+—HIFE
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REMBERRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #ZE_—FT-=F+_-H=+—HILFZE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is
achieved when the Company:

—  has power over the investee;

- is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

—  has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control
listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when
the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically,
income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed
of during the year are included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income from the date the Group gains control until the
date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company
and to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive
income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this
results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies into line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Investments in subsidiaries

Investments in subsidiaries are stated on the statement
of financial position of the Company at cost less any
identified impairment loss. The results of the subsidiaries
are accounted for by the Company as the basis of
dividend received and receivable.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief
operating decision-makers (“CODM"). The CODM, who
are responsible for allocating resources and assessing
performance of the operating segments, have been
identified as the executive directors that make strategic
decisions.

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control”
of the goods or services underlying the particular
performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series
of distinct goods or services that are substantially the
same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one
of the following criteria is met:

J the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as
the Group performs;

e the Group's performance creates or enhances an
asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

o the Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the
Group has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(continued)

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the customer obtains control of the distinct good or
service.

For granting of a licence that is distinct from other
promised goods or services, the nature of the Group’s
promise in granting a licence is a promise to provide a
right to access the Group’s intellectual property if all of
the following criteria are met:

o the contract requires, or the customer reasonably
expects, that the Group will undertake activities that
significantly affect the intellectual property to which
the customer has rights;

e  the rights granted by the licence directly expose the
customer to any positive or negative effects of the
Group’s activities; and

o those activities do not result in the transfer of a
good or a service to the customer as those activities
occur.

If the criteria above are met, the Group accounts for the
promise to grant a licence as a performance obligation
satisfied over time. Otherwise, the Group considers the
grant of licence as providing the customers the right to
use the Group’s intellectual property and the performance
obligation is satisfied at a point in time at which the
licence is granted

A contract asset represents the Group’'s right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services that
the Group has transferred to a customer that is not yet
unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in accordance
with IFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable represents the
Group’s unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only
the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(continued)

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation
to transfer goods or services to a customer for which
the Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to a
contract are accounted for and presented on a net basis.

Over time revenue recognition: measurement
of progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation

Input method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation is measured based on input
method, which is to recognise revenue on the basis of
the Group’'s efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of a
performance obligation relative to the total expected
inputs to the satisfaction of that performance obligation,
that best depict the Group’s performance in transferring
control of goods or services.

Variable consideration

For contracts that contain variable consideration (i.e.
sales-based licensing income of the Company), the Group
estimates the amount of consideration to which it will
be entitled using the most likely amount, which better
predicts the amount of consideration to which the Group
will be entitled.

The estimated amount of variable consideration is
included in the transaction price only to the extent that
it is highly probable that such an inclusion will not result
in a significant revenue reversal in the future when the
uncertainty associated with the variable consideration is
subsequently resolved.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group updates
the estimated transaction price (including updating
its assessment of whether an estimate of variable
consideration is constrained) to represent faithfully the
circumstances present at the end of the reporting period
and the changes in circumstances during the reporting
period.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Variable consideration (continued)

Notwithstanding the above criteria, the Group shall
recognise revenue for a sales-based or usage-based
royalty promised in exchange for a license of intellectual
property only when (or as) the later of the following
events occurs:

o the subsequent sale or usage occurs; and

o the performance obligation to which some or all
of the sales-based or usage-based royalty has been
allocated has been satisfied (or partially satisfied).

Leases
Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys
the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified or arising from
business combinations on or after the date of initial
application, the Group assesses whether a contract is or
contains a lease based on the definition under IFRS 16
at inception, modification date or acquisition date, as
appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed unless
the terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently
changed.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a
contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one
or more additional lease or non-lease components, the
Group allocates the consideration in the contract to each
lease component on the basis of the relative stand-alone
price of the lease component and the aggregate stand-
alone price of the non-lease components.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases of office equipment or properties
that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option. It also applies the recognition exemption for lease
of low-value assets. Lease payments on short-term leases
and leases of low-value assets are recognised as expense
on a straight-line basis or another systematic basis over
the lease term.

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

. the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

J any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

o an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group
in dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring
the underlying asset to the condition required by
the terms and conditions of the lease.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessee (continued)
Right-of-use assets (continued)

Except for those that are classified as investment
properties and measured under fair value model, right-
of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities other than adjustments
to lease liabilities resulting from Covid-19-related rent
concessions in which the Group applied the practical
expedient.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably
certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term are depreciated
from commencement date to the end of the useful
life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful
life and the lease term.

When the Group obtains ownership of the underlying
leased assets at the end of the lease term, upon
exercising purchase options, the cost of the relevant
right-of-use asset and the related accumulated
depreciation and impairment loss are transferred to
property, plant and equipment.

Right-of-use assets that meet the definition of investment
property but are under construction are presented in
“Right-of-use assets” and reclassified as investment
properties upon the completion of construction.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessee (continued)
Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted for under
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments and initially measured at fair
value. Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are
considered as additional lease payments and included in
the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the present
value of lease payments that are unpaid at that date.
In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

e fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable;

o variable lease payments that depend on an index or
a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as
at the commencement date;

J amounts expected to be payable by the Group
under residual value guarantees;

e the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group
is reasonably certain to exercise the option; and

o payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising an option to
terminate the lease.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessee (continued)
Lease liabilities (continued)

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are
adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use
assets) whenever:

o the lease term has changed or there is a change in
the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in
which case the related lease liability is remeasured
by discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate at the date of reassessment.

J the lease payments change due to changes in
expected payment under a guaranteed residual
value in which cases the related lease liability
is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using the initial discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item
on the consolidated statement of financial position.

Lease modifications

Except for Covid-19-related rent concessions in which
the Group applied the practical expedient, the Group
accounts for a lease modification as a separate lease if:

o the modification increases the scope of the lease
by adding the right to use one or more underlying
assets; and

e  the consideration for the leases increases by an
amount commensurate with the stand-alone price
for the increase in scope and any appropriate
adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect the
circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a
separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability
based on the lease term of the modified lease by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the effective date of the modification.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessee (continued)
Lease modifications (continued)

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease
liabilities and lease incentives from lessor by making
corresponding adjustments to the relevant right-of-
use asset. When the modified contract contains a lease
component and one or more additional lease or non-
lease components, the Group allocates the consideration
in the modified contract to each lease component on
the basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease
component and the aggregate stand-alone price of the
non-lease components.

Covid-19-related rent concessions

In relation to rent concessions that occurred as a direct
consequence of the Covid-19 pandemic, the Group has
elected to apply the practical expedient not to assess
whether the change is a lease modification if all of the
following conditions are met:

J the change in lease payments results in revised
consideration for the lease that is substantially the
same as, or less than, the consideration for the lease
immediately preceding the change;

o any reduction in lease payments affects only
payments originally due on or before 30 June
2022/2023; and

e there is no substantive change to other terms and
conditions of the lease.

A lessee applying the practical expedient accounts
for changes in lease payments resulting from rent
concessions the same way it would account for the
changes applying IFRS 16 if the changes are not a lease
modification. Forgiveness or waiver of lease payments
are accounted for as variable lease payments. The related
lease liabilities are adjusted to reflect the amounts
forgiven or waived with a corresponding adjustment
recognised in the profit or loss in the period in which the
event occurs.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessor
Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as
finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms of
the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the
lessee, the contract is classified as a finance lease. All
other leases are classified as operating leases.

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are
recognised as receivables at commencement date
at amounts equal to net investments in the leases,
measured using the interest rate implicit in the respective
leases. Initial direct costs (other than those incurred
by manufacturer or dealer lessors) are included in the
initial measurement of the net investments in the leases.
Interest income is allocated to accounting periods so as to
reflect a constant periodic rate of return on the Group’s
net investment outstanding in respect of the leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the
relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
and arranging an operating lease are added to the
carrying amount of the leased asset, and such costs are
recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over
the lease term except for investment properties measured
under fair value model. Variable lease payments for
operating leases that depend on an index or a rate are
estimated and included in the total lease payments to be
recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index
or a rate are recognised as income when they arise.

Allocation of consideration to components of a
contract

When a contract includes both leases and non-lease
components, the Group applies IFRS 15 to allocate
consideration in a contract to lease and non-lease
components. Non-lease components are separated from
lease component on the basis of their relative stand-alone
selling prices.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessor (continued)
Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted
for under IFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are
considered as additional lease payments from lessees.

Sublease

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, it accounts
for the head lease and the sublease as two separate
contracts. The sublease is classified as a finance or
operating lease by reference to the right-of-use asset
arising from the head lease, not with reference to the
underlying asset.

Lease modification

Changes in considerations of lease contracts that
were not part of the original terms and conditions are
accounted for as lease modifications, including lease
incentives provided through forgiveness or reduction of
rentals.

Operating leases

The Group accounts for a modification to an operating
lease as a new lease from the effective date of the
modification, considering any prepaid or accrued lease
payments relating to the original lease as part of the
lease payments for the new lease.

For rent concession under which the Group legally
releases the lessee from its obligation to make specifically
identified lease payment, of which some of these lease
payments are contractually due but not paid and some of
them are not yet contractually due, the Group accounts
for the portions which have been recognised as operating
lease receivables (i.e. the lease payments which are
contractually due but not paid) by applying the expected
credit losses (“ECL") and derecognition requirements
under HKFRS 9 and applies lease modification
requirements for the forgiven lease payments that the
Group has not recognised (i.e. the lease payments which
are not yet contractually due) as at the effective date of
modification.
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REMBERRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZE_—FE_-=ZF+_-H=+—HIF)ZF

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time
to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to
the cost of those assets until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Any specific borrowing that remain outstanding after
the related asset is ready for its intended use or sale is
included in the general borrowing pool for calculation
of capitalisation rate on general borrowings. Investment
income earned on the temporary investment of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they are incurred.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies)
are recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing
at the dates of the transactions. At the end of the
reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that
date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.

Exchange differences on monetary items, are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency
of the Group (i.e. RMB) using exchange rates prevailing at
the end of each reporting period. Income and expenses
items are translated at the average exchange rates for the
year, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during
the year, in which case, the exchange rate prevailing at the
dates of the transaction are used. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity under the heading of
exchange fluctuation reserve.

Retirement benefit costs

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for all of its employees in Hong Kong.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ basic salaries and are recognised as an
expense as they become payable in accordance with the
rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme
are held separately from those of the Group in an
independently administered fund. The Group’'s employer
contributions vest fully with the employees when
contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiary which operates
in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC") are required
to participate in central pension scheme operated by the
local municipal government. The subsidiary is required to
contribute a certain percentage of its payroll costs to the
central pension scheme. The contributions are charged to
the profit or loss as they become payable in accordance
with the rules of the central pension scheme.
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REMBERRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZE_—FE_-=ZF+_-H=+—HIF)ZF

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Retirement benefit costs (continued)

The Group contributes on a monthly basis to defined
contribution housing, medical and other benefit plans
organised by the PRC government. The PRC government
undertakes to assume the benefit obligations of all
existing and retired employees under these plans.
Contributions to these plans by the Group are expensed
as incurred. The Group has no further obligations for
benefits for their qualified employees under these plans.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on
a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which
the grants are intended to compensate. Specifically,
government grants whose primary condition is that the
Group should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire
non-current assets are recognised as deferred income
in the consolidated statement of financial position and
transferred to profit or loss on a systematic and rational
basis over the useful lives of the related assets.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation
for expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose
of giving immediate financial support to the Group with
no future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they become receivable.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Deferred rental income

Deferred rental income from operating leases is
recognised in profit or loss as other income on a straight-
line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Deferred
rental income from a tenant to be released within one
year has been included as deferred income under current
liabilities.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the current
tax and deferred income tax. The tax currently payable is
based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs
from “loss before tax” as reported in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income because of items of income or expense that
are taxable or deductible in other years and items that
are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for
current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
in which case, the current and deferred tax are also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity respectively.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation of
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred
tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary difference to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profits will be available against which those
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition
(other than in a business combination) of assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable
profit nor the accounting profit and at the time of the
transactions does not give rise to taxable and deductible
temporary differences.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #ZE_—FT-=F+_-H=+—HILFZE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries,
except where the Group is able to control the reversal
of the temporary difference and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such investments
and interests are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against
which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences
and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to
be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in
which the liability is settled or the asset is realised, based
on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Taxation (continued)

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for
investment properties that are measured using the fair
value model, the carrying amounts of such properties are
presumed to be recovered entirely through sale, unless
the presumption is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted
when the investment property is depreciable and is held
within a business model whose objective is to consume
substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the
investment property over time, rather than through sale.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to
income taxes levied to the same taxable entity by the
same taxation authority.

Leasehold land and building

When a lease includes both land and building elements,
the Group assesses the classification of each element as
a finance or an operating lease separately based on the
assessment as to whether substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental to ownership of each element have
been transferred to the Group, unless it is clear that both
elements are operating leases in which case the entire
lease is classified as an operating lease.

Specifically, the minimum lease payments (including any
lump-sum upfront payments) are allocated between
the land and the building elements in proportion to
the relative fair values of the leasehold interests in the
land element and building element of the lease at the
inception of the lease. To the extent the allocation of
the lease payments can be made reliably, interest in
leasehold land that is accounted for as an operating lease
is presented as “right-of-use assets” in the consolidated
statement of financial position and is amortised over the
lease term on a straight-line basis.

EESTEHE®#E)

BR(4E)
RETENBAFEELGENREY
EWELHRE ZEMENREET
REZBHEZBRE - bR IEZBRE
EREANER - BIREWER T
B WRAEE AR MR (MIFER
HE)VERZEENEMZRBARD
BN & B EORRRLS AR
e B [ -

BABARTREAF AR AR
EEANMRERERE WP KRRE—
M B 4 R — BRI B BB R 2 P
BHE AECHBREERAGEAT
EREES o

HETHREF
WEEBRRIMEETKY  ~NEH
RIBZX D AR HOBAED
Rk K ORELR BB EAREE N
i REBRD DB RBMELKLER
E RIFAEMBBEEARKEEH
E-RuBERN BOBHEEER
EaHE -

&«
WL

ARG REBENR(BIEER—
RUERNF)REERBRZEEN
TIPS R F KD 2 T E R H)AE
R FELPIE BB F R 5 2 A
ETDE - WMEENKERA D
fl MR EHEARNES s
REFBMBRRERP 2B E AR
BE| YRHEFIIREREHE-

GOLDEN SOLAR NEW ENERGY TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL Report 2023



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBERRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZE_—FE_-=ZF+_-H=+—HIF)ZF

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including buildings are
tangible assets held for use in the production or supply of
goods or for administrative purposes other than properties
under construction in progress as described below are
stated in the consolidated statement of financial position
at cost, less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
assets less their residual values over their estimated useful
lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated useful
lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

Properties in the course of construction for production,
supply or administrative purposes are carried at cost, less
any recognised impairment loss. Costs include professional
fees and, for qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised
in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy. Such
properties are classified to the appropriate categories of
property, plant and equipment when completed and ready
for intended use. Depreciation of these assets, as the same
basis as other property assets, commences when the assets
are ready for their intended use.

Properties in the course of construction for properties held
to earn rental and/or for capital appreciation are carried
at cost, less any recognised impairment loss. Costs include
any costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to
the location and condition necessary for it to be capable
of operating in the manner intended by management
and, for qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised
in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy.
Construction for that purpose are recognised in property,
plant and equipment and transferred to investment
properties upon the completion of construction.

Costs for repair and maintenance activities are expensed
as incurred except for cost of components that result in
improvements or betterments which are capitalised as
part of property, plant and equipment and depreciated
over their useful lives.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests
of properties which includes both leasehold land and
building elements, the entire consideration is allocated
between the leasehold land and the building elements in
proportion to the relative fair values at initial recognition.
To the extent the allocation of the relevant payments can
be made reliably, interest in leasehold land is presented
as “right-of-use assets” in the consolidated statement
of financial position except for those that are classified
and accounted for as investment properties under the
fair value model. When the consideration cannot be
allocated reliably between non-lease building element
and undivided interest in the underlying leasehold land,
the entire properties are classified as property, plant and
equipment.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset.
Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of
an item of property, plant and equipment is determined
as the difference between the sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit
or loss.

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals
and/or for capital appreciation. Investment properties
include land held for undetermined future use, which is
regarded as held for capital appreciation purpose.

Investment properties also include leasehold land
which are being recognised as right-of-use assets upon
application of IFRS 16.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost,
including any directly attributable expenditure.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties
are measured at fair value, adjusted to exclude any
prepaid or accrued operating lease income.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of
investment properties are included in profit or loss for the
period in which they arise.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Investment properties (continued)

Construction costs incurred for investment properties
under construction are capitalised as part of the carrying
amount of the investment properties under construction.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or
when the investment property is permanently withdrawn
from use and no future economic benefits are expected
from its disposal. A leased property which is recognised
as a right-of-use asset is derecognised if the Group as
intermediate lessor classifies the sublease as a finance
lease. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the
property (calculated as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset)
is included in profit or loss in the period in which the
property is derecognised.

Research and development costs

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an
expense in the period in which it is incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products
is capitalised and deferred only when the Group can
demonstrate the technical feasibility of completing the
intangible asset so that it will be available for use or
sale, its intention to complete and its ability to use or sell
the asset, how the asset will generate future economic
benefits, the availability of resources to complete the
project and the ability to measure reliably the expenditure
during the development. Product development
expenditure which does not meet these criteria is
expensed when incurred.

Deferred development costs and patents are stated at
cost less any impairment losses and are amortised on a
systematic basis with reference to projected sales volume,
upon future sales volume of related products.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are
acquired separately are carried at costs less accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.
Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives
is recognised on a straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives. The estimated useful life and amortisation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being
accounted for on a prospective basis. Intangible assets
with indefinite useful lives that are acquired separately
are carried at cost less any subsequent accumulated
impairment losses.

An intangible asset is derecognised upon disposal, or
when no future economic benefits are expected from its
use or disposal. Gains or losses arising from derecognition
of an intangible asset are measured at the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and are recognised in profit or loss in
the period when the asset is derecognised.

Impairment losses on non-financial assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its tangible assets including
property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets with finite useful life to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists,
the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order
to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets
with finite useful life are estimated individually. When
it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of
an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Impairment losses on non-financial assets
(continued)

In addition, the Group assesses whether there is
indication that corporate assets may be impaired. If such
indication exists, corporate assets are also allocated to
individual cash-generating units, when a reasonable
and consistent basis of allocation can be identified,
or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group
of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates
of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or the cash-
generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount.
An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit
or loss. In allocating the impairment loss, the impairment
loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of
any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets
on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of
each asset in the unit or the group of cash-generating
units. The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced
below the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal
(if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and
zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would
otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated
pro-rata to the other assets of the unit or the group of
cash-generating units. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Impairment losses on non-financial assets

(continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or the cash-generating
unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable
amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for
the asset (or the cash-generating unit) in prior years. A
reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately
in profit or loss.

Inventories

Raw materials, work in progress and finished goods
are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost comprises direct materials, direct labour
and an appropriate proportion of variable and fixed
overheads expenditure, the latter being allocated
on the basis of normal operating capacity. Costs are
assigned to individual items of inventory on the basis of
weighted average costs. Costs of purchased inventory
are determined after deducting rebates and discounts.
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in
the ordinary course of business less estimated costs of
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make
the sale.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the consolidated
statement of financial position include:

(@) cash, which comprises of cash on hand and demand
deposits, excluding bank balances that are subject
to regulatory restrictions that result in such balances
no longer meeting the definition of cash; and

(b) cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term
(generally with original maturity of three months
or less), highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible to a known amount of cash and which
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value. Cash equivalents are held for the purpose of
meeting short-term cash commitments rather than
for investment or other purposes.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Cash and cash equivalents (continued)

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at
bank and on hand, demand deposits with banks or
other financial institutions and short-term highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible to known amount
of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of damages in
value, and having been within three months of maturing
of acquisition.

Share-based payments
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and
others providing similar services are measured at the fair
value of the equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based
payments determined at the grant date without taking
into consideration all non-market vesting conditions is
expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period,
based on the Group’s estimate of equity instruments
that will eventually vest, with a corresponding increase
in equity (share-based payments reserve). At the end
of each reporting period, the Group revises its estimate
of the number of equity instruments expected to vest
based on assessment of all relevant non-market vesting
conditions. The impact of the revision of the original
estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such that
the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with
a corresponding adjustment to the share-based payments
reserve. For share/share options that vest immediately
at the date of grant, the fair value of the shares/share
options granted is expensed immediately to profit or loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share-based payments reserve will be
transferred to share premium. When the share options
are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not
exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously
recognised in share-based payments reserve will be
transferred to accumulated losses.

When shares granted are vested, the amount previously
recognised in share-based payments reserve will be
transferred to share capital.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. All regular way purchases or
sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised
on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the time frame established by regulation
or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables
arising from contracts with customers which are initially
measured in accordance with IFRS 15. Transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue
of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than
financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL) are added
to or deducted from the fair value of the financial
assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at
FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense
over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
receipts and payments (including all fees and points paid
or received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or
discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset
or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter
period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

o the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows;
and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

EESTEHE®#E)

E®MTA
TREELAERABNEEEREKS
= m’]fkaE’J uT%’]EET}ﬁ&% )\EE ﬁﬁ'ﬁ
NERTAEENEREENR S H
REBUHBER - UER T ABEEE
ARBE ISR RSB HIET L2 BRI A
RWEEZEHEEERS -

BREIREEFARNEYRE SRR
B B 75 ¥R 5 22 R S5 1 SR 1T 4R
B HBRemEEREMARYIE
NP EETIRE - ARERETT
TREEMEBABIRAFETA
B Z%ﬂé?i%ﬂﬁﬁﬁ%)
BERELENR KA RI%H
%A@@ﬁ%ﬁ%@ﬁ%%@i@ﬁ
BEEREEXTRABENAFEIR
(RERER) ARBRAFERA
BameREESITRBEELENR
SRABNEE N B A FERR

BERNEEDAHEeREERETHME
TTE!’J%E%EX$LA&&EF%HHFEH§E 2l
BWARF B R IT A BERAM X
B?E%%ﬁéf?ji@ﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁiﬂﬁ
X B B (208 R ) A e RERG 3R R 2R
EEtREBFMER(BERES A
SORERI A ERF KA E D M E
REE RPRAREAM G E S ITE)
EVAHEREREFENFE -

EHEE
THEEZ T ERERAE

e MR 2 2R E ERRIREH
JEXZ’KD+E :

s ZEREENKEBIANERZMRE
RENZEFEEATHAR &

e EAHBKFNIEERHELECZRS
MEBARAT A RAREER
B ZHE o

GOLDEN SOLAR NEW ENERGY TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL Report 2023



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # %

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (continued)

(i)

(i)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost. Interest income is
calculated by applying the effective interest rate
to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset,
except for financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired (see below). For financial
assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying
the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of
the financial asset from the next reporting period.
If the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial
instrument improves so that the financial asset is no
longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised
by applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset from the
beginning of the reporting period following the
determination that the asset is no longer credit
impaired.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for
being measured at amortised cost are measured at
FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value
at the end of each reporting period, with any fair
value gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. The
net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss includes
any dividend or interest earned on the financial
asset and is included in the “other net income and
gains” line item.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under ECL
on financial assets (including trade and bills receivables,
financial assets included in prepayments, deposits and
other receivables, pledged deposits and bank balances
and cash) which are subject to impairment under IFRS 9.
The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to
reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m
ECL") represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events that are possible
within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessment
are done based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment
of both the current conditions at the reporting date as
well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for all trade
receivables which are assessed individually with a
provision matrix with appropriate groupings.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of
whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on
significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default
occurring since initial recognition.

(i)  Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with
the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition.
In making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that
is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the financial instrument’s external (if
available) or internal credit rating;

o significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit default
swap prices for the debtor;

e existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations;

o an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the operating results of the debtor;

o an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor that
results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the credit risk
has increased significantly since initial recognition
when contractual payments are more than 6
months past due, unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information that demonstrates
otherwise.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(i)

(i)

GOLDEN SOLAR NEW ENERGY TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL Report 2023

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the
credit risk on a debt instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the debt
instrument is determined to have low credit risk at
the reporting date. A debt instrument is determined
to have low credit risk if i) it has a low risk of
default, ii) the borrower has a strong capacity to
meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the
near term and iii) adverse changes in economic and
business conditions in the longer term may, but will
not necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower
to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations. The
Group considers a debt instrument to have low
credit risk when it has an internal or external
credit rating of ‘investment grade’ as per globally
understood definitions.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been
a significant increase in credit risk and revises them
as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable
of identifying significant increase in credit risk
before the amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely
to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full
(without taking into account any collaterals held by
the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset
is more than 365 days past due unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is
more appropriate.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # %

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events of default that have a detrimental
impact on the estimated future cash flows of that
financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a
financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable
data about the following events:

a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
the borrower;

b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past
due event;

c¢) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the
borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s)
would not otherwise consider;

d) it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

e) the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there
is information indicating that the counterparty is
in severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation or
has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the
case of trade receivables, when the amounts are
over two years past due, whichever occurs sooner.
Financial assets written off may still be subject to
enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition
event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in
profit or loss.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(v)

GOLDEN SOLAR NEW ENERGY TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL Report 2023

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and
the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is based
on historical data adjusted by forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased
and probability-weighted amount that is determined
with the respective risks of default occurring as
the weights. The Group uses a practical expedient
in estimating ECL on trade receivables using a
provision matrix taking into consideration historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for forward looking
information that is available without undue cost or
effort.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group
in accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at
the effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition.

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or
cater for cases where evidence at the individual
instrument level may not yet be available, the
financial instruments are grouped on the aging
basis:

° Nature of financial instruments;

o Past-due status; and

o Nature, size and industry of debtor.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management

to ensure the constituents of each group continue
to share similar credit risk characteristics.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on amortised
cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss
in profit or loss for all financial instruments by
adjusting their carrying amount, with the exception
of trade receivables, where the corresponding
adjustment is recognised through a loss allowance
account.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset is derecognised only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire,
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to
another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and
continues to control the transferred asset, the Group
continues to recognise the asset to the extent of its
continuing involvement and recognises an associated
liability. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the
Group continues to recognise the financial asset and also
recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds
received.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
sum of the consideration received and receivable and
the cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity
is recognised in profit or loss.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity
are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity
in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability
and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group
are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct
issue costs.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method or at
FVTPL.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL

Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when the
financial liabilities are either held for trading or those
designated as at FVTPL on initial recognition.

A financial liability is classified as held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
repurchasing in the near term; or

o on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern
of short-term profit-taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and effective
as a hedging instrument.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
(continued)

Financial liabilities at FVTPL (continued)

A financial liability other than a financial liability held
for trading may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial
recognition if:

o such designation eliminates or significantly reduces
a measurement or recognition inconsistency that
would otherwise arise; or

e the financial liability forms part of a group of
financial assets or financial liabilities or both, which
is managed and its performance is evaluated on
a fair value basis, in accordance with the Group’s
documented risk management or investment
strategy, and information about the grouping is
provided internally on that basis; or

° it forms part of a contract containing one or more
embedded derivatives, and IFRS 9/IAS 39 permits
the entire combined contract to be designated as at
FVTPL.

For financial liabilities that are designated as at FVTPL,
the amount of change in the fair value of the financial
liability that is attributable to changes in the credit risk of
that liability is recognised in other comprehensive income,
unless the recognition of the effects of changes in the
liability’s credit risk in other comprehensive income would
create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or
loss.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
(continued)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and bills payables,
deposit received, other payables and accruals, short-term
borrowings and lease liabilities are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when, and only when,
the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have
expired. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration
paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Related parties

(i) A person, or a close member of that person’s family,
is related to the Group if that person:

(@) has control or joint control over the Group;

(b) has significant influence over the Group; or

(¢) is @ member of the key management personnel
of the Group or the Group’s parent.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Related parties (continued)

(i) An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

(@) The entity and the Group are members of the
same Group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to
the others).

(b) One entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which the
other entity is a member).

() Both entities are joint ventures of the same
third party.

(d) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the third
entity.

(e) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group.

(f)  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by
a person identified in (i).

(g) A person identified in (i)(a) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of
a parent of the entity).

(h) The entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the
Group’s parent.

Close family members of an individual are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that individual in their dealings with the
entity.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
which are described in note 3, the directors of the
Company are required to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions about the amounts of assets, liabilities,
that are not readily apparent for other sources. The
estimates and underlying assumptions are based
on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is
revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies
The following are the critical judgements, apart from
those involving estimations (see below), that the directors
of the Company have made in the process of applying
the Group’s accounting policies and that have the
most significant effect on the amounts recognised and
disclosures made in the consolidated financial statements.

4.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies
(continued)

Classification between investment properties and
owner-occupied properties

The Group determines whether a property qualifies as an
investment property, and has developed criteria in making
that judgement. Investment property is a property held to
earn rentals or for capital appreciation or both. Therefore,
the Group considers whether a property generates
cash flows largely independently of the other assets
held by the Group. Some properties comprise a portion
that is held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation
and another portion that is held for use in the supply
of goods or services or for administrative purposes. If
these portions could be sold separately (or leased out
separately under a finance lease), the Group accounts for
the portions separately. If the portions could not be sold
separately, the property is an investment property only
if an insignificant portion is held for use in the supply
of goods or services or for administrative purposes.
Judgement is made on an individual property basis to
determine whether ancillary services are so significant
that a property does not qualify as an investment
property.

Certain properties of the Group comprise a portion that
is held to earn rentals and another portion that is held
for use in the supply of goods and for administrative
purposes. As the portion that is held to earn rentals
is small and could not be sold separately and the
portion that is held for use in supply of goods and for
administrative purposes is significant, the properties are
not classified as investment properties.

Withholding taxes arising from the distributions
of dividends

The Group's determination as to whether to accrue for
withholding taxes from the distribution of dividends from
a subsidiary in the PRC according to the relevant tax
jurisdiction is subject to judgement on the timing of the
payment of the dividend, where the Group considered
that if it is probable that the profits of the subsidiary in
the PRC will not be distributed in the foreseeable future,
then no withholding taxes should be provided.

4.

BEREHHE R AT RREER
EXERRA)

EREBERNE XA (&)
REWEREAYRN 7 E

AEBEEE —BAVERLTBENKRE
Y A E BIEIRTE DR RN R
BEMERFERBESHE R EEL
N EMABZAME- B NEE &
BEMEMELRERELSDTHILN
AEEBANEMEE - ETYEE
REBERBE R E N EZEARBIE
RS m LR HITHA RN 5 — &
7o M EWEE D LB HE AR
EREHEBLHE MAKESHK
EERBEE D D RIARK Wz EE8 D
TNREB L EMFFEREE M R
HITHEAENH O L FEKR BIZF
MENRRBRENE - AEESHL
BEMEBME  NEE - BMENE
ERGELSERBEETNAERDA
EREME

AEEETYEBERFIERIVES A
KRR E M RITH AR o
HRFERBRESHMERS A&
R BT BEBFEE MSERHE
mEITHRAENYERLIBEKN
HREMEL FFERENE -

REDIKELH A

AEEETERGERBEEBREZRT
B B8~ B FT 0 R B B B AT IR FE AT TR
OB - 78 1 B 32 A B BB B o i
AEBRAAREKIEETENE
REEE N DK - B EE L TR
B

EHEFEBENEERARIR —B-=FFEHRE

147



148

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the
future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty
at the end of the reporting period, that have a significant
risk of resulting in a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year.

Useful lives and impairment of property, plant
and equipment and right-of-use assets

The Group determines the estimated useful lives and
related depreciation charges for its property, plant and
equipment. This estimate is based on the historical
experience of the actual useful lives of property,
plant and equipment of similar nature and functions.
Management will revise the depreciation charge where
useful lives are different to the ones previously estimated,
it will write-off or write-down technically obsolete or
non-strategic assets that have been abandoned or sold.

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for property, plant and equipment at the end
of each reporting period. Property, plant and equipment
are tested for impairment when there are indicators
that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. An
impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or
a cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount,
which is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal
and its value in use. The calculation of the fair value less
costs of disposal is based on available data from binding
sales transactions in an arm’s length transaction of similar
assets or observable market prices less incremental costs
for disposing of the asset. When value in use calculations
are undertaken, management must estimate the expected
future cash flows from the asset or cash-generating unit
and choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate
the present value of those cash flows.

4.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

Useful lives and impairment of property, plant
and equipment and right-of-use assets (continued)

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amounts of
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets were
approximately RMB203,964,000 (2022: RMB131,639,000)
and RMB71,087,000 (2022: RMB5,674,000) respectively.
Impairment loss of approximately RMB2,307,000 on
property, plant and equipment was recognised in profit or
loss for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil). The
directors of the Company consider that no impairment loss
is required in respect of right-of-use assets during the years
ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

Impairment of intangible assets

Intangible asset are stated at costs less accumulated
depreciation and impairment, if any. In determining
whether an asset is impaired, the Group has to exercise
judgment and make estimation, particularly in assessing:
(1) whether an event has occurred or any indicators
that may affect the asset value; (2) whether the carrying
value of an asset can be supported by the recoverable
amount, in the case of value in use, the net present value
of future cash flows which are estimated based upon
the continued use of the asset; and (3) the appropriate
key assumptions to be applied in estimating the
recoverable amounts including cash flow projections and
an appropriate discount rate. When it is not possible to
estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset,
the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit to which the assets belongs. Changing
the assumptions and estimates, including the discount
rates or the growth rate in the cash flow projections,
could materially affect the net present value used in the
impairment test.

As at 31 December 2023, the net carrying amount of the
Group’s intangible assets was approximately RMB38,000
(2022: RMB3,723,000). Impairment loss of approximately
RMB4,374,000 on intangible assets was recognised in
profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 2023
(2022: Nil).
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Allowance for inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Net realisable value of inventories is
the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of
business less estimated selling expenses. These estimates
are based on the current market conditions and the
historical experience of selling merchandise of a similar
nature. It could change significantly as a result of changes
in customer taste or competitor actions. The Group
reassesses these estimates at the end of the reporting
period. As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amount of
inventories was approximately RMB138,183,000 (2022:
RMB179,392,000), net of allowance for write-down
inventories of approximately RMB13,490,000 (2022:
RMB4,235,000).

Provision of ECL for trade receivables

The Group uses provision matrix to calculate ECL for
the trade receivables. The provision rates are based on
past due analysis as groupings of various debtors on
this basis which demonstrate similar loss patterns with
shared credit risk characteristic. The provision matrix
is based on the Group’s historical default rates taking
into consideration forward-looking information that is
reasonable and supportable available without undue
costs or effort. At every reporting date, the historical
observed default rates are reassessed and changes in the
forward-looking information are considered. In addition,
trade receivables with significant balances and credit
impaired are assessed for ECL individually.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates.
As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amount of trade
receivables was approximately RMB155,321,000, net of
allowance for credit losses of approximately RMB450,000
(2022: RMB101,583,000, net of allowance for credit
losses of RMB147,000).
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EEP M S ERMATHERS -
ERAETHERREMR KRB f_ﬁﬁﬁﬂ
HFMEEmOERmEL YTeEAR
}Eﬁﬁ%mmftﬁ‘ FHFMITEmMS
MBEBANE AEBRERPREM
;Zﬁfﬁ.fr RZEZ=F+=A
=+—HB FENEREAEINRTEK
BB 4 A R #513,490,0000( = F
— 4% AR¥4,235,00070) 45
A R #138,183,000T( — T = =
AE#179,392,0007T)

BUREZRABREEERRE

$¢lﬁ%%ﬁﬁ@ﬁ e E iR
WE%ETQEO%%TBﬁ#t
DMETE RESEILER EEE
%Am\@%%ﬂﬁ SEREN el
BOEHABRRAME - SiEkE
ERNAEENELENE  WEEE
B H A BEE AL A S
MAEEBRXFHMATEERES &S
EREAM AEBGEHRTHESL
BANMEOR AZEFEAELER
B o AEE g BB G A
BEXREHRMNERBENEKE K
REFEMEERER

EHEEEBEEREHGHFTOS LR
BRER-R_E_=ZF+_A=+—
H BUREZEFINEAEANDAR
#155,321,0007T ' EHBRIEEEIERE
HBHANRE450,0000 (==
AR#101,583,0007T ' BB =EE
BEE ARE147,00000)
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REMBERRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #ZE_—FT-=F+_-H=+—HILFZE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Valuation of investment properties

Investment properties are carried in the consolidated
statement of financial position at 31 December 2023 at
their fair value of approximately RMB66,043,000 (2022:
RMB66,251,000). The fair value was based on a valuation
on these properties conducted by independent firms of
professional valuers using property valuation techniques
which involve certain assumptions of market conditions.
Favourable or unfavourable changes to these assumptions
would result in changes in the fair value of the Group’s
investment properties and corresponding adjustments to
the amount of gain or loss reported in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the directors of the Company,
being the CODM, for the purposes of resource allocation
and assessment of segment performance, focuses
on types of goods or services delivered or provided.
Specifically, the Group’s reportable and operating
segments are as follows:

(@) the Boree branded products segment manufactures
and sells Boree branded slippers, sandals and casual
footwear (“Boree Products”);

(b) the graphene-based products segment applied
the technology know-how by applying graphene
in the production of graphene-based ethylene-
vinyl acetate (“EVA") foam material (“Graphene-
based EVA Foam Material”) and slippers, graphene
deodorizing and sterilizing chips for air purifiers and
air conditioners (”Sterilizing Chips”) and graphene
air sterilizers (collectively as “Graphene-based
Products”) and provision of service;

(c) the Original Equipment Manufacturer (“OEM")
segment produces slippers for branding and resale
by others; and

4.

BEREHHE R AT RREER
EXERRA)

R TRERZENETERR(E)
BREY* EE
R-FE-—=F+_HA=+—0 &
WA A ETE R E B BRR &
A4 N R #66,043,0000T( -~ —
F: AR¥66,251,00070)° AF(ETY
BEBL AR ZEXHEMER X
AETRENRT SR MEGHERD
HMEEH 2 HE - LBER 2B FHK
TRz EeERAEE 2 IREYE
NEENERAEARGEER A
thEEBRARANERZIEEZSE -

2 EBE R

AARNBES EELLEREE
2HRAHERD I MFHE D RERIRE
BRI ERRARZNSARRENE
HRBER - ABME NEBEHOA
EHRMGESEWOT

(@ BAMERDHMEERKEBEA
e OREMKEE(T B AR
Ednl):

(b) AERGEMDD EBE AR R
ERGREANEEARE LIG-
FEBE 2 % B ([EVAL) B8
B BEBEVAZ B EL]) ki
- ARERFEENERNA
BHEBRERBESA(TRE L
FDARARZEGBERBEHEE(H
BAIAEKEM] RIEHR
7

(0 ERxEEEm(OEM]) D a4
EmBEAREE - &

EHEFEBENEERARIR —B-=FFEHRE
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

(d) the photovoltaic products segment manufactures
and sells cast monocrystalline silicon (“Cast-mono”)
wafers, Cast-mono heterojunction (“HJT") solar
cells and modules, HJT back contact (“HBC") solar
cells, HBC flexible modules and the bendable solar
awnings (collectively as “Photovoltaic Products”).

CODM monitors the results of the Group's operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions
about resource allocation and performance assessment.
Segment performance is evaluated based on reportable
segment result, which is a measure of adjusted result
before tax.

The accounting policies of the operating segments are
the same as the Group’s accounting policies described in
note 3. The segment profit or loss represents the profit
earned by or loss from each segment without allocation
of interest income, other unallocated net income and
gains, (impairment loss)/reversal of impairment loss on
trade receivables, fair value gain on financial assets
at FVTPL, fair value change on investment properties,
finance costs as well as corporate and other unallocated
expenses.

Segment assets exclude certain property, plant and
equipment, investment properties, certain prepayments,
deposits and other receivables, financial assets at FVTPL,
pledged deposits and cash and bank balances as these
assets are managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude deposits received, other
payables and accruals, short-term borrowings, certain
deferred income, income tax payable and deferred tax
liability as these liabilities are managed on a group basis.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBERRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 B Z_F-=4F+_-_H=+—HIFE
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #ZE_—FT-=F+_-H=+—HILFZE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Segment revenues and results

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and

results by reportable and operating segment.

Year ended 31 December 2023

5. ZEER#E)
2 U R

AT RIZFAT 2R NG0B D AE

By Yas M ERE DT

BE-_Z-_=f+-A=1+—HLEE

Graphene-
Boree based Photovoltaic
Products Products OEM Products Total
EYN: BER
Em ER RRER ok
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT AR®TR AR¥Tn AR®Tx AR¥ETn
Segment revenue k16
Sales and provision of & RIEMH RS
service 684 5,531 209,377 79,756 295,348
Segment results PEER (1,523) 505 38,803 (121,245) (83.460)
Reconciliation: #iE:
Interest income FEWA 4,455
Other unallocated net — E AR DEWA K
income and gains Wiz % e 10,205
Impairment loss on BB HER
trade receivables AEER (337)
Corporate and other PEREMRDE
unallocated expenses 53 (249,938)
Fair value gain on BRAVEFABGEZ
financial assets at PREEL
FVTPL AT ERER 608
Fair value loss on REWEZNTE
investment properties B (208)
Finance costs B& R AN (5,154)
Loss before tax BRIRIERE (323,829)
SBFERNERRERAT —B-=fFERE |53
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5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5. oZERE)
Segment revenues and results (continued) DEBN B R EE(E)
Year ended 31 December 2022 BE-ZE-—H+=-A=+t—HLEFE
Graphene-
Boree based Photovoltaic
Products Products OEM Products Total
EARE A2
Em Em HRER B
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREBFL ARETE ARBTT ARETE ARETR
Segment revenue ki 16
Sales and provision of ~ $#HE RIZMHIRHE
service 845 15,411 187,363 70,658 274,277
Segment results DEMERE (976) 5,012 16,716 (9,132) 11,620
Reconciliation: baf
Interest income FEdA 432
Other unallocated net  Ef R P B A K
income and gains Wz B 5 54,070
Reversal of impairment BN E S8R
loss on trade B E BB E
receivables 1,220
Corporate and other (¥R EMADE
unallocated expenses B (228,126)
Fair value gain on BAFEFABREZ
financial assets at PREEL
FVTPL AT ERE 141
Fair value gain on REME N TE
investment properties I &8 135
Finance costs RN (4,414)
Loss before tax BHAEE (164,922)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #ZE_—FT-=F+_-H=+—HILFZE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

REMBERRWE

5. ZHRPER )

Segment assets and liabilities PTHEEREE
The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and INTREAZHREEDE S D ARE
liabilities by reportable and operating segment: BERNEENBEDH

Year ended 31 December 2023

BE-_Z-_=f+-A=1+—HLEE

Graphene-
Boree based Photovoltaic
Products Products OEM Products Total
PN 2%
Em Em HRER M
RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARETRT AR®Tn AR¥TR ARETR AR®Txn
Segment assets ITWEE 573 15,831 172,621 461,521 650,546
Reconciliation: HE
Corporate and other 1% R H K5 EC
unallocated assets BE 213,449
Total assets BEER 863,995
Segment liabilities 2 HEE 248 5,917 74,936 83,940 165,041
Reconciliation: #E
Corporate and other ~ {>% & E it K 7 i
unallocated liabilities & (& 157,960
Total liabilities BlEEsE 323,001

emswRNERRERAT —e-=sfERs |55
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 B Z_F-=4F+_-_H=+—HIFE

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5. oZERE)
Segment assets and liabilities (continued) PWEEREE(E)
Year ended 31 December 2022 BE—_E-_—_H+-A=t—HLEE
Graphene-
Boree based Photovoltaic
Products Products OEM Products Total
B AR AEE
Em Em FRE R FCEE]

RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTT AREBTRE ARETT ARETRL

Segment assets PTHEE 691 15,095 152,437 321,556 489,779
Reconciliation: #HE -
Corporate and other D% % E i K 5 i

unallocated assets BE 425,562
Total assets BEHBRE 915,341
Segment liabilities 2 HEE 360 8,100 79,388 28,458 116,306
Reconciliation: R
Corporate and other ¥ R HE MK HE

unallocated liabilities & & 154,235
Total liabilities BEEE 270,541
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REMBERRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #ZE_—FT-=F+_-H=+—HILFZE

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5. DEERE)
Geographical information hEE R
(a) Revenue from external customers (a) XREIIREFH Kz
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-—
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®BT R ARETT

PRC (principal place of operations) RE(FELEE) 39,230 74,739

United States of America ("US") FEFER & RE([EE ) 198,111 182,730

South America EEI 631 428

Europe (H 46,691 7,027

South East Asia e 1,831 380

Other countries =R ETER 8,854 8,973

295,348 274,277

The revenue information above is based on the DA PR E R Ty E RN EY iy
locations of goods delivered. BEE|D o

(b) Non-current assets (b) FREBEE

2023 2022

—E-=F —E-—F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®BT T ARETT

PRC (principal place of operations) RE(FELEE) 341,114 207,263
Hong Kong B 18 24

341,132 207,287
The non-current assets information above is based A EIERBEEER HENREE
on the locations of the assets. NEED -

eBFERNERERERAT —2-=fEEHs |57/
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Information about major customers

Revenue from customers of the corresponding years
contributing over 10% of the total sales of the Group are
as follows:

DEBER (&)

FEEFNER

RIEEEE  REFEFPZRFEARE
BE/AHETE10% A EENT ¢

2023 2022

—E-=F —E-—
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARBT T AREFIT
Customer A ZEA 101,900 83,534
Customer B ZFEB 89,744 71,011
Customer C* ZEC* 43,705 2,640
* Revenue from Customer C contributed less than 10% * REAEREPCZHHFEARNERHZE —

of the total sales of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2022.

The Group’s major Customer A and B are included in the
OEM segment and Customer C is included in Photovoltaic
Products segment.

REVENUE, OTHER NET INCOME AND GAINS

Revenue, which is also the Group's turnover, represents
the net invoiced value of goods sold, after allowances for
returns and trade discounts and provision of service.

T F+A=t+—BILEEH
HETEDMNI0% °

AEEFEXFANKFBEEEOEM
DEp BECBEEXRRER DI -

Wz - E AU R W 55 5 2R

WA ASEBHZ X HER
HRERELRESTHRENEER
LR FE RIR RS -

2
ah
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REMBERRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #ZE_—FT-=F+_-H=+—HILFZE

6. REVENUE, OTHER NET INCOME AND GAINS 6.
(continued)

()

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts

with customers

An analysis of revenue, other net income and gains

rad - AWK W ES TR
(%&)
() BEFEHBADE

Woas ~ E AU R s FERH) D

is as follows: fran T -
2023 2022
—E-=F —ET-—
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AR¥ETTT
Revenue Wz
Recognised at a point in time A JE — BRf ] B T AR
Sale of goods and provision of service  $5%& @ RIZHRE 295,348 274,277
Other net income and gains HW AR W F8E
Interest income A B WA 4,455 432
Sales of scrap materials SHE B 276 492
Rental income from investment KEYEHHEWANR
properties less outgoing expenses of ~ HEXZHERAREOT
RMB Nil (2022: RMB Nil) (ZZ==F : ) 4,571 4,475
Rental income under operating leases &4 HEFFEEES
YA 408 343
Subsidy income* @ AR U A * 2,494 2,965
Exchange gain, net B 3 e H 58 1,545 42,263
Gain on disposals of items of property, HEWE &= NM&RE 10 79
plant and equipment BBz
Subcontracting income T YA 354 4,366
Gain on modification of lease BRI E R - 13
Others HAth 1,547 /4
15,660 55,502

* There are no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies

relating to these subsidies.

SN ERARA A

* YEABZEMMNRE
PRAGRIF SR AIE I

CERC=FFERS
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REMBERRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 B Z_F-=4F+_-_H=+—HIFE

6. REVENUE, OTHER NET INCOME AND GAINS
(continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Performance obligations for contracts with
customers

The Group sells its products directly to customers.
The Group concluded that revenue is recognised
when control of the goods has transferred, being
when (i) the goods have been loaded on board for
export sales; or (ii) the goods have been shipped
out from the warehouse for local sales. Upon the
relevant goods are loaded on board for export sales
or shipped out from the warehouse for local sales,
the customers have full discretion over the manner
of distribution and price to sell the goods, and have
the primary responsibility for selling the goods and
bearing the risks of obsolescence and loss in relation
to the goods. The credit terms generally vary from
one to three months (2022: one to three months)
from the date of billing.

Transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligation for contracts with
customers

All goods or services provided by the Group are
for contracts with original expected duration of
one year or less. As permitted under IFRS 15, the
transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied
contracts is not disclosed

As at 31 December 2023, the Group did not have
remaining performance obligations for contracts

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

6. W HAWAR W FEE

(&)
(i) BEFENENER

AEBERERNEFHEHRER-
REBR ABREN EiEfEE
EEER BOEYEEMED
OHE © S(NEMELR B EE
HEZHEE - RIEBEEYEMN
EHOHES R A EELES
HER BRPEFE2EATEYNS
HAAMEE BAEEEERE
AEXESE WAERER

FRAR REERR - EEHR
BENTHEAHE —Z2=F
A(ZE-—F: —FE=ffA)-

(i) P EFEFENRBENER
ZR 5B

PrABAREIRHE 2 EVMHIRF
RARTOFEH R —F AR -
AR5 B B B 75 3R & A Rl SB 1558
ZER MERBEOEEZFR
EREKZRHEE -

RZZE-_=ZF+=-A=+—8"
AEBVEREFANFGBREBELE

with customers. o
7. FINANCE COSTS 7. BMERK
2023 2022
—E-=F — g
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARBTTT AREFIT
Interest on bank loans RITREMEERE
and other borrowings 3,867 4,030
Interest on lease liabilities HERGEHNE 773 146
Effective interest on deferred rental BREES WA ZBERFE
income 514 238
5,154 4,414
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REMBERRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #ZE_—FT-=F+_-H=+—HILFZE

LOSS BEFORE TAX 8. KREAIEE
The Group’s loss before tax is arrived at after charging/ REBWMBBATEED R (5T A)
(crediting) the following items: LATIBEE :
2023 2022
—EC-=HF -
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARET AR®EFTT
Cost of inventories sold EEFEKAR 252,443 238,754
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - BEMRETE
equipment 17,616 10,383
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CREEERE 6,164 2,402
Employee benefit expenses (including EERNAX(BREES
directors’ remuneration — note 9): & —BI5E9) -
Wages and salaries TENES 103,848 88,275
Equity-settled share-based payments LR AEE AR
RETEE K 177,636 119,605
Staff welfares EERA 3,887 3,426
Contributions to retirement benefits RREAET B R
schemes 7,695 6,848
293,066 218,154
Auditors’ remuneration ZE AN & 1,643 1,591
Gross rental income from investment KEMENHE WA
properties (4,571) (4,475)
Less: direct operating expenses incurred & - REME(BFEFRNEL
for investment properties (including MRBEEHESRA)NE
generated and did not generated B RS
rental income during the year) - -
(4,571) (4,475)
Impairment loss on intangible assets BIZEEREER 4,374 -
SHFERRHERERAT —S=FFERE
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 B Z_F-=4F+_-_H=+—HIFE

9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' 9.
REMUNERATION

Directors’ and chief executives’ remuneration for the
years, disclosed pursuant to the applicable Listing Rules,
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Companies
(Disclosure of information about benefits of directors)
Regulations (Cap. 622G), are as follows:

EERFETHAEMS

REBEE EMRA BB QIR K&
RA(EBEEEFMZER)BOI(E
622GE ) ENTFEEENEETT

WABBMEIT

2023 2022
—E-=F -
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T AREET T
Fees (note a) & (note b) we (fita) & (BaEb) 579 630
Other emoluments: Hafe -
— Salaries, allowances and benefits in —¥e R REY
kind (note b) & (note c) BRI(HaED) R (HtaEc) 4,587 3,197
— Contributions to retirement benefits — R IREFE B
schemes (note b) & (note ¢) (Ktatb) 2 (B itc) 102 72
— Equity-settled share-based payments — RIS E AR
(note b) & (note c) AR
(Btatb) X (Biatc) 34,078 21,798
39,346 25,697
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REMBERRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #ZE_—FT-=F+_-H=+—HILFZE

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ 9. EERFETHAEME(#)
REMUNERATION (continued)
Notes: B &t
(a) Independent non-executive directors () BIUFHTES
The fees paid or payable to independent non-executive AREEENHENBIIFNTES
directors during the current year are as follows: REE T
2023 2022
—E=-= T
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBT T ARBTT

Ms. An Na i+ 181 172
Professor Zhao Jinbao e R 109 103
Mr. Chen Shaohua PR 2 SR A 181 172
471 447
There were no other emoluments payable to the ERN-WERENEBEIFRTESH
independent non-executive directors during the year Hle (ZE-—F:M|) -
(2022: Nil).
(b) Non-executive director (b) EHITES
The emoluments paid or payable to non-executive director REE DTS EN IEFNITE = 89 B
during the current year are as follows: SR
2023 2022
—E=-= T
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBT T ARBT T

Ms. Lin Weihuan: MIEER 2L+ -

Fee e 108 103
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e EREWMRET 98 98
Contributions to retirement benefits schemes iR ki@ 7 5T 214 3% 14 13

Equity-settled share-based payment IR A E AR R AR
NEA 1,075 1,817
1,295 2,031
Ms. Lin Weihuan was appointed as the financial MEBXTEZEAERQRZ—H
consultant of a subsidiary of the Company and her Fif 8~ Al B B A5 AR AL S B
emoluments disclosed include those for services rendered BIERIERUBERMEARE 2

& o
by her as the financial consultant. B

SBFURNERRERAT —T-=fFER: |03
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 B Z_F-=4F+_-_H=+—HIFE

9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ 9. EERFETHAEMEHE)
REMUNERATION (continued)
Notes: (continued) Mat: (&)
() Executive directors and chief executive officer () BITEERITHAR
Salaries, Contributions
allowances  Equity-settled  to retirement
and benefits share-based benefits
Fees in kind payments schemes Total
ERELE
He 2Rk URGREHR BAER
ik ENER IES BELE ag
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETR ARETT ARETR ARETR ARBT R

Year ended 31 December 203 ~ HZE-F=Zf

TZAZT-BLEE

Mr. Leung Tsz Chung REREE - 1,187 6,569 16 7,1M2
Mr. Zheng Jingdong LERsE - 378 8,602 46 9,026
Mr. He Shuangguan fgELE - 2,924 17,832 26 20,782
- 4,489 33,003 88 37,580

Salaries, Contributions

allowances Equity-settled to retirement

and benefits share-based benefits
Fees in kind payments schemes Total

BRELE

G2 RER  URHAER RIKEH
e BN #f5 HEET &%
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTT ARBTT ARETT ARBTT ARBTTL

Year ended 31 December 2022  BZ=F==f

TZA=T-HLEE
Mr. Leung Tsz Chung DF ik - 1,129 5,449 15 6,593
Mr. Zheng Jingdong H2rAE - 360 14,532 2 14,919
Dr. Xu Zhi* AL 80 1,026 - " 1,17
Mr. He Shuangquan meREs - 584 - 6 590
80 3,099 19,981 59 23,219
There was no arrangement under which a director FRN BELES RITHAIN
and chief executive officer waived or agreed to waive ERRERECMMES 2 LH (=
any remuneration during the year (2022: Nil), and no TooFE) WEAMEEERAAR
directors received any emoluments from the Group as SEWBEABMSERMAREE
an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as MAREEE T ELAEAEB
compensation for loss of office. fE-
*  Amount represents the emolument for the period * PERXEE_F—A—
from 1 January to 17 October 2022 (the date of AE+A++tR (BEHEE)
resignation). B MM & -
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #ZE_—FT-=F+_-H=+—HILFZE

10. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 10.

The five highest paid employees during the year include
one chief executive and no director (2022: two directors)
details of whose remuneration are set out in note 9
above. Details of the remuneration for the year of the
remaining four (2022: three) highest paid employees who
is neither a director nor chief executive officer of the
Company are as follow:

LTEREHES

FA hEAEaTEERPERE—FE
EITBAEBRSEESR(ZEF:
MEEE) HENWEFBENR LX
Iz e AR R EHMIUE(Z T ==
F:ZR)FESRIFETHAR
NEEFHEERAFENSF B
T

2023 2022
—E-= —E-F
RMB’000 RMB’'000

AR®TF T ARETT

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind ¥4 « 2Bt R EWEF

Contributions to retirement benefits BRIREFIFTEI R
schemes
Equity-settled share-based payments B EEE ARG
BERKNR

None of the above individuals received any emoluments
from the Group as an inducement to join or upon joining
the Group or as compensation for loss of office.

The remuneration of the remaining highest paid
employees are fallen within the following bands:

475 579

65 45
103,362 68,358
103,902 68,982

s\ 35 SR [7) 25 6% 18 WA B e 5 B
ERMAREBHINARE BIR IR
RS F mRER A (E -

HRGEaFEEZHMENFUTEH
& :

Number of employees

EEHE
2023 2022
—E-=H =T
RMB6,000,000 to RMB6,500,000 AR #6,000,0007T

Z= AR #6,500,0007T - 1

RMB15,500,000 to RMB16,000,000 AER#15,500,0007T
= AR #16,000,0007T - 1

RMB25,500,000 to RMB26,000,000 AR #25,500,0007T
= AR #26,000,0007T 2 -

RMB26,000,000 to RMB26,500,000 AR#26,000,0007T
Z= AR #26,500,0007T 2 -

RMB46,500,000 to RMB47,000,000 ANER#46,500,0007T
= AR #47,000,0007T - 1
4 3

EHEFEBENEERARIR —B-=FFEHRE
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REMBERRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZE_—FT-—=F+_-_H=+—HIFE

1. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 11. FTEFHBEX
2023 2022
—E-=F —E——
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®ET ARET T

PRC Enterprise Income Tax PEEEEHR
Charge for the year FRE 2,001 2,181
Under/(Over)-provisions in prior years BEFEREIR

(EBERRE) 717 (399)
Deferred tax BT IR (167) 336
Total tax expense for the year FARIERE 2,551 2,118
No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been provided AR AEERRNFEETATEESL
as the Group did not generate any assessable profits (FAA] B FE SB R 25 1| b 30 fm VB 2 &5
arising in Hong Kong for the year (2022: Nil). Taxes FNEMBE( S ——F: E)-hH
on profits assessable in the PRC have been calculated E’jj:p%m/mfljmlﬁjﬂﬁﬁmﬁﬂE‘jiﬁﬁ
at the prevailing rates, based on existing legislation, EO - RE L ERIRERAREAE

interpretations and practices in respect thereof.

Under the law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the BIEPBRAEMETE((DEMSH
“EIT Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT EDEPEMESBIEATHIEN  BE
Law, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% (2022: FRE(ZE-—F: —[)EEES
25%), except for two (2022: one) of the PRC subsidiaries FRMPEEERHNTRENB A A A 7
which has been granted Advanced and New Technology RNZE-—FR-F _—i;ﬁw%
Enterprise status which entitles the subsidiary to a HBREFTEFRI RN BB A
reduced income tax rate at 15% for 2022 and 2023. BT R E25%(ZF = —4F : 25%)
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REMBERRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZE_—FE_-=ZF+_-H=+—HIF)ZF

1. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

The tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the
“loss before tax” per consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income as below:

11. FIBHiAXZ (&)

FARERX B Ea R EME
ERER R AT 2SR [ BRTLATES 1B | ¥R
L

2023 2022
—E-=F —E-4F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T AREET T
Loss before tax BRIERIEE (323,829) (164,922)
Tax at the applicable tax rates RERABEGTENNIE (54,796) (30,967)
Income not subject to tax BERA (5.526) (1,375)
Expenses not deductible for tax purpose A ARF UL B 89 H15E A9
Fx 37,882 25,068
Tax effect of temporary differences RERE R MER 7 FBIB
not recognised & 2,761 (1,410)
Tax effect of tax loss not recognised ﬂiﬁﬁwfﬁllﬁfﬁﬁ EOpSThS % 21,513 11,201
Under/(over)-provisions of income tax in BEFEMSHREBTE
prior years (EBZER ) 717 (399)
Income tax expense for the year FRPFHFAX 2,551 2,118

Pursuant to the income tax law of the PRC, a 10%
withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to
foreign investors from the foreign investment enterprises
established in the PRC. The requirement is effective
from 1 January 2008 and applies to earnings after 31
December 2007. A lower withholding tax rate may
be applied if there is a tax treaty between the PRC
and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the
Group, the applicable rate for the withholding tax is
5% (2022: 5%). In estimating the withholding taxes
on dividends expected to be distributed by those
subsidiaries established in the PRC in respect of earnings
generated from 1 January 2008, the directors of the
Company have made assessment based on the factors
which included dividend policy and the level of capital
and working capital required for the Group's operations
in the foreseeable future. No deferred tax liability has
been provided for retained profit as the Group is able
to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

BIBEPBFTERE £ Bl /991
BEEMINEIRE BT IR E A
Hm%ﬁwm HEHRER=ZZTZTN
F—A—ARBRES - EAR-_ZZTt
F+_A=Z+—HENEF - HPEH
ﬁ%l&ﬁ%%%ﬂ%%ﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁ
TEAG4) - BIE A A TR FN R 2. ] B
1K o AN 5 B /9 33 A3 T8 F0 B 1 & %%@
(ZE-—F : 5%)c st EFR BRI
B ARITESEE —EENF—F—
A #E AT R ER & A1) 9 K /9 A% S T 78 85 4R
RIEHTE ARREECEENRZE
EEELTE BEASBENRERK
RRNRARERAEBEEMTNE
T NEBEAKTE - REFWEFZ
ERERAFIREERBEEE HE
$%l7¢ﬁ%@ﬁﬁ%%Mﬁﬁ
BEREZENA L ARRRATGET &
@o

EHEFEBENEERARIR —B-=FFEHRE
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REMBERRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 B Z_F-=4F+_-_H=+—HIFE

11.

12.

13.

14.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

At 31 December 2023, there were no significant
unrecognised deferred tax liabilities (2022: Nil) for
withholding taxes that would be payable on the
unremitted earnings of the Company’'s subsidiaries
expected to be distributed, after considering the
abovementioned factors, in the foreseeable future.

There are no income tax consequences attaching
to the payment of dividends by the Company to its
shareholders.

At 31 December 2023, the Group has unused tax losses of
approximately RMB189,834,000 (2022: RMB74,233,000)
available for offsetting against future profits, no deferred
tax asset has been recognised in respect of such tax losses
due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. Tax
losses may be carried forward indefinitely.

LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE
COMPANY

The consolidated loss attributable to owners of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2023
included a loss of approximately RMB205,148,000
(2022: profit of approximately RMB506,792,000)
which has been dealt with in the financial statements
of the Company (note 44(i)).

DIVIDEND
No dividend was proposed for the years ended 31

December 2023 and 2022 and since the end of the
reporting period.

LOSS PER SHARE

(a) Basic loss per share

The calculation of basic loss per share is based
on the consolidated loss for the year attributable
to owners of the Company of approximately
RMB326,380,000 (2022: RMB167,040,000)
and the weighted average number of Shares of
1,773,772,107 (2022: 1,710,160,978) in issue
during the year.

11.

12.

13.

14.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

gyt AE )
R-E-_=F+_A=+—0 &L=
B it A X% pa] R RBEH DK
AN R B A B B AR BE H & ) A A
BIHME  WEEKXKERETH
BHEE(ZEZZF : &)

R B[R] H BSCROIR A 89 B B 3 488 Bl 75
PRISHE °

R-ZE-_=F+-_A=+—80 K&
EMASHATEBEEHOARE
189,834,000L(—E - —F : AR
74,233,0007T ) A] A3 A 3K 85 ok oK &
F B R 2R m A S B] FRORI - 3 £
HEBRIBEERRELEHIBEE
THIBBER ER A o

ARAEEABEER

B Z-=F+-_A=+—HIF
B AREHEBEANEEREBERE
B 18 4 A R #205,148,0007T( — &
TZF BRI AR®S506,792,000
TL) BEEAR BB HREREE(MF
44(j)) o

RE
BE_ZE - =N -_FT-—"F+-A8
=+ —BLEFEARASMEARAK
WEEHIRERE -

BREE

(a) BREXREE
ERERBEEIDIERRNRES
ANEEFAGZEEBERYARE
326,380,0000( — & = — 4 :
A R #167,040,0007T ) & F A
BEETRMOGZMETFTHH
1,773,772,107R (===
1,710,160,978% )5+ & -
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # %

14. LOSS PER SHARE (continued)

(a)

(b)

Basic loss per share (continued)

The weighted average number of Shares used to
calculate the basic loss per share for the year ended
31 December 2023 included the 1,711,959,608
Shares in issue as at 1 January 2023, 103,700,000
Shares issued during the year in respect of the
exercise of share options. The Company repurchased
1,286,000 Shares in December 2023 on the Stock
Exchange and such Shares were not cancelled as at
31 December 2023.

The weighted average number of Shares used to
calculate the basic loss per share for the year ended
31 December 2022 included the 1,661,909,608
Shares in issue as at 1 January 2022, 50,000 Shares
issued during the year in respect of the exercise
of share options and 50,000,000 Shares issued in
respect of the completion of placing of new Shares
on 14 January 2022.

Diluted loss per share

The diluted loss per share is calculated by dividing
the consolidated loss for the year attributable to
owners of the Company by the weighted average
number of Shares in issue during the year, as
used in the basic loss per share calculation, and
the weighted average number of Shares assumed
to have been issued at no consideration on the
deemed exercise or conversion of all dilutive
potential Shares into Shares.

For the year ended 31 December 2023 and 2022,
diluted loss per share does not assume the exercise
of the Company’s share options as the exercise
of the Company’s share options would result in a
decrease in loss per share, and is regarded as anti-
dilutive.

REMBERRWE

CE—CFf A=+ —HIFFE

14. BREEB (&)

(a)

(b)

SN ERARA A

BREXRERE(E)
BEftE8 =T =-_=F+=A1
—t+—HIEFESREKREIE
AR (D 2 N HEHBRIR=F
T ZHF—A—HEBEEMTH
1,711,959,6080% I 15+ 17 &
BREMTANFTERBITH
103,700,0008% f% 15 » AN 22 & A
TR - =+ AR FTEE
1,286,0000% i 19 Bz —
T _=F+-_A=+-—"BB8EH
BUH o

REstEHz—_E - —F+—A
—t+t—HIEFESRERBEN
etz MEFHEBIERE
& —A—HEBEEMTH
1,661,909,6080% I 15+ &t 17 &
FERRAE M A F A E 1 TAI50,0008%
A& 17+ A K gk FERK FR B8 I R 5 3
oMM T =—F—AH+1EAH
Z£1THY50,000,000M A% 17 ©

BR#BEESR
SREEERIREARTESR
ANEIEF ARG B ERRARERT
BEREABEMARANEAD
TITRD Z IR B A RR
BB AEEE DR BRI RAE
BT BB AR MR IRERE
BATEVR D AR BT E -

BE_ZE-_=Fr=-_FT-—
+-A=+—HILFE SR
SEEEWSEREITEARARTN
Bl RRETEARRMNE
AR HE 1S B AR E R D R AR
BREE -

—EC=EFEHRE

169



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBERRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZE_—FT-—=F+_-_H=+—HIFE

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. ¥ BERSZE
Furniture,
fixtures
Plant and Motor  andofficc  Leasehold Construction
Buildings  machinery vehicles  equipment improvements  in progress Total
G- 2£ER

BT ERRAS RE OBOERE  AERE ERIE 3]
RMB'000  RMBOO0  RMBOO0  RMB000  RMBOOD  RMBOO0  RMB'000

ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARBTR  AR¥TR ARETR  ARET:

Cost; WA
At 1 January 2022 RZB--%-A-H 45,243 66,343 1514 7,234 17,166 21337 158,842
Additions )| 24009 26,894 2,255 252 471 2974 56,855
Transfer in/(out) g)/(1) - 3,014 235 71 - (3,320) -
Disposals/write-off HE /i - (1,55) - (2,248) - ) (3,802)
At 31 December 2022 RZB-Z%4+-4
_‘|' H 69,252 94,704 4,004 5,309 17,637 20,989 211,895
Accumulated depreciation: £ E:
At 1 January 2022 RZB--5-F-H 43,005 13,115 1,297 6,264 9,760 - 73,441
Povided during theyear A 136 7,389 257 265 2,036 - 10,383
Eliminated on disposals/ e/
write-off - (1,434) - (2,134) - - (3,568)
At 31 December 2022 RZEZZ5+-7
=t-H 4344 19,070 1,554 4,395 11,796 - 80,256
Net carrying amount: R E:
At 31 December 2022 RZB--F+-R
= 25811 75,634 2,450 914 5,841 20,989 131,639
Cost: A
At 1 January 2023 \_E-=F-f-H 69,252 94,704 4,004 5,309 17,637 20,989 211,895
Additions #1 137 35,725 - 1,168 3121 52,168 92,319
Transfer in/(out) g\/(i) - 32,248 396 116 40 (32,800) -
Disposals/write-off HE/HsH - (197) (232) (354) - - (1.383)
At 31 December 2023 RZF-=F+ZR
=f-H 69,389 161,880 4,168 6,239 20,798 40,357 302,831

Accumulated depreciation  EFFERFE:
and impairment;

At 1 January 2023 \ZE2-=F-f-A 43,441 19,070 1,554 4,395 11,796 - 80,256
Provided during the year EMEfRE 691 14,022 521 427 1,955 - 17,616
Eliminated on disposals/ &R/ W
write-off - (748) (221) (343) - - (1,312)
Impairment e - 2,307 - - - - 2,307
At 31 December 2023 A
=ft-H 44132 34,651 1,854 4,479 13,751 - 98,867
Net carrying amount: FEFE:
At 31 December 2023 RZEZ=F+ZR
=t-H 25,257 121,229 2314 1,760 1,047 40,357 203,964
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16.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #ZE_—FT-=F+_-H=+—HILFZE

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(continued)

The above items of property, plant and equipment are
depreciated on a straight-line basis at the following rates
per annum:

Buildings Over the shorter of the lease
terms and 20 years

Plant and machinery 10 years

Motor vehicles 5 years

Furniture, fixtures and 3 to 5 years

office equipment
Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of the lease
terms and 5 years

The Group’s buildings are situated in the PRC and are
held under medium term leases.

The Group has pledged buildings with a net carrying
value of approximately RMB1,973,000 (2022:
RMB1,856,000) to secure general banking facilities
granted to the Group.

As at 31 December 2023, the casting silicon furnaces
of the Group with a carrying amount of approximately
RMB10,965,000 (2022: RMB10,965,000) are idle assets.

REMBERRWE

15. M2 - BB KR E ()

btk - BB KRR EEE AN E

RILEFENE -

B THEA R 205 2
BRE

B T i 22 104

B 54

B -EEBR 3E5F

WAERE

HEHE AEESF 2
BRE

REBEMBFHMNFE  RIEP H

HEHSE-

AEBECEBRERFENDARE
1,973,000 ZE=-=—F: ARK
1,856,0007T ) FUIE FE B AR & B &R
—RRIRTTRLE MHEIR -

R-_E-—=F+-_A=+—H K&
B IREEA A R %10,965,00070( =
T - —F: AR#¥10,965,0007T)H)

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 16. REWE
RMB'000
AREFIT
As at 1 January 2022 R-E-_—_F—HF—H 66,116
Fair value gain on investment properties KEMEZ A ENER 135
As at 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 RZZ-_—_F+-_A=+—HK
—E-=%—H—H 66,251
Fair value loss on investment properties KEWME T NFIERE (208)
As at 31 December 2023 R=ZZFB-Z=F+=H=+—H 66,043
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-F
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARETTT ARETIT
Representing: HER:
Leasehold land HELH 35,649 35,670
Building BF 30,394 30,581

epFeRNEERERAT —e-=gEgs /]
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REMBERRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 B Z_F-=4F+_-_H=+—HIFE

16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

The Group’s properties located in the PRC are leased to

16. REWHE (&)
AEBIRPEZ MEETE=H I

172

a third party to earn rentals or for capital appreciation
purposes.

The fair values of the Group's investment properties as
at 31 December 2023 and 2022 had been arrived at on
the basis of a valuation carried out by Quanzhou Heyi
Assets and Real Estate Appraisal Co., Ltd, an independent
professional valuer. In estimating the fair value of the
investment properties, the management of the Group has
considered the highest and best use of the investment
properties.

The Group has pledged the leasehold land of investment
properties with a net carrying amount of approximately
RMB35,649,000 (2022: RMB35,670,000) to secure
general banking facilities granted to the Group.

Fair value measurement of the Group’s
investment properties

The following table gives information about how the fair
values of these investment properties are determined (in
particular, the valuation techniques and inputs used), as
well as the fair value hierarchy into which the fair value
measurements are categorised (Levels 1 to 3) based
on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable.

RRHSHEENEER S

RZEBEZ=FR_F__F+=A1
=+ B AEEZEREVENATF
BEERBLREENGER RN
HREEFEEHET MEEBARET
NRETHE - BEHATIREDENR
FTER AEEEEEEERUERES
MEEANFEAZSREDSE -

AEEEEBREEAFENARE
35,649,0000t( T - =4 : AR
35,670,00070) 2 I B XHFMEE
T EAREBER —RBITHEDN
R

FEEzREMEQNTVEGTE

TRIBEENHEREMELAFEETS
E(EF R R AT A A E R RE A
B ZER URBEBEAFETEZ
BASBNIBREEMEAFERT
ENHERARTESHZEBHR(E—
EZRIZER -
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REMBERRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #ZE_—FT-=F+_-H=+—HILFZE

16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Fair value measurement of the Group’s
investment properties (continued)

Fair value Valuation

16. REWHE (&)
FEBMREYENTEHE(E)

Significant
unobservable

Relationship of
unobservable

Fair value hierarchy techniques inputs and ranges inputs to fair value
BB
TEHHUER BAHBR
AVE AVESH HEFR ZHABBREE ATENER
2023
—ECZZE
RMB'000
ARETT
Investment properties 35,649 Level 3 Combination of (1) Benchmark land price: An increase in the benchmark
located in PRC - (2022: 35,670) cost method RMB636 (2022: RMB636)  land price would result in an
Leasehold land and income per square meter increase in fair value.
method
Investment properties 30,394 Level 3 Combination of (1) Newness rate of building: An increase in the newness rate
located in PRC - (2022: 30,581) cost method 87%-89% of building would result in an
Building and income (2022: 89%-91%) increase in fair value.
method
(2) Annual rate of return: An increase in the annual rate
7.20% (2022: 7.20%) of return would result in a
significant increase in fair
value.
(3) Rate of change of annual  An increase in the rate of
income: 1.0% change of annual income
(2022: 1.0%) would result in a significant
increase in fair value.
(4) Estimated market rent for An increase in the estimated
similar building: RMB10 market rent for similar
(2022: RMB10) per building would result in an
square meter increase in fair value.
IR B2 &M% 35649 H=H/  AARERMEE (1) EEHE: BTRARE EEHEAE@sBATE
—HED (ZF==F: i 6367 (B =% : s o
35,670) AR¥6367)
IR E 2 REMF 30394 F=H  ERERMEE (1) BFRHE: BFRHE LA BATE
—BF (z3==F: S 87%-89% K
30,581) (—F——f&:
89%-91%)
(2) FH/ME:7.20% FHRME LTresBATE
(ZBZ=F:7.20%) BEAEM-
(3) FHEEE:1.0% FERHEE eS| HATE
(ZEZZF:1.0%) BRI
(@) fEEtHSRERFES - AHTHEREEFEE LAES
FPRARBI0T BRFEEM-
(Z2=—F:
AR®107)

SN ERARA A

—EC=EFEHRE
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REMBERRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZE_—FT-—=F+_-_H=+—HIFE

17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 17. FRHEEE
Leasehold Leased
lands properties Total
HELH HENE ok

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT  ARBTR  ARBTR

Cost: R
At 1 January 2022 NZE-—&F—-f—H 4,488 5,134 9,622
Modification of lease HEET - (555) (555)

At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 H-ZE-—F+-A=+—HEK

—E-=%—-f—H 4,488 4,579 9,067
Additions i - 71,577 71,577
At 31 December 2023 W-E-=%+=-HF=+-H 4,488 76,156 80,644
Accumulated depreciation: RitE
At 1 January 2022 N-ZE-_—%—A—H 441 702 1,143
Provided for the year FREE 147 2,255 2,402
Modification of lease HEBIT - (152) (152)

At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 RZZE-—F+_-_A=1+—HR

—E-=%—-f-H 588 2,805 3,393

Provided for the year EREE 148 6,016 6,164

At 31 December 2023 RZIEBE-=f+Z-A=+-H 736 8,821 9,557
Net carrying amount; BREFE

At 31 December 2023 R-E-=%+=-A=+-H 3,752 67,335 71,087

At 31 December 2022 R-E-—&#+-HA=+—H 3,900 1,774 5,674

2023 2022

—E-=F =B
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR AREBTIT

Expense relating to short-term leases  ER4GHAFR S M HAA 12 A A

and other leases with lease terms EENHMBEEEEAOMAX

end within 12 months 7,488 16,585
Total cash outflow for leases FRNHEEZRESRLRAE

for the year 12,187 18,813
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 # %

18. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

REMBERRWE

CE—CFf A=+ —HIFFE

18. BLEE

020 Deferred
distribution development

Technology vending costs
Know-how system and patents Total
EERAR
0204 84 2
BRiAE  EEER REF “E
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR
(note a) (note b) (note ¢)
(Ktita) (Ktitb) (Ktitc)
Cost: B
At 1 January 2022 R-E-—%—H—H 1,587,518 60,000 93,432 1,740,950
Addition ik - - 3,258 3,258
At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 R=FT ==
TZA=+—-RARk
—E-=%—f—H 1,587,518 60,000 96,690 1,744,208
Addition i - - 1,149 1,149
At 31 December 2023 R-B=-=F
+ZA=+-H 1,587,518 60,000 97,839 1,745,357
Accumulated amortisation and ZtBERAEE
impairment:
At 1 January 2022 RZE-—%—Hf—H 1,587,518 60,000 92,551 1,740,069
Provided for the year ENERE - - 416 416
At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 RZZZZfF
TZRA=+t—-Bk
—“E-=#—-fA—H 1,587,518 60,000 92,967 1,740,485
Provided for the year FREE - - 460 460
Impairment E - - 4,374 4,374
At 31 December 2023 RZBZ=F
+ZA=+-H 1,587,518 60,000 97,801 1,745,319
Net carrying amount: REFE
At 31 December 2023 R-ZEZ=
+ZA=+—-H - - 38 38
At 31 December 2022 RZE-——
+=A=1—H - - 3,723 3,723

EHEFEBENEERARIR —B-=FFEHRE
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REMBERRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZE_—FT-—=F+_-_H=+—HIFE

18.

GOLDEN SOLAR NEW ENERGY TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL Report 2023

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

Notes:

(a)

(b)

It represented technological know-how in respect of
the application of graphene and includes one patent in
the US, four invention patent applications, three utility
model patent applications and two utility model patents
in the PRC, relating to the manufacturing of Graphene-
based EVA Foam Material, Sterilizing Chips and graphene-
based pressure-sensitive sensors and the exclusive formula
(collectively “Technology Know-how"), which was
acquired from Bluestone Technologies (Cayman) Limited,
an independent third party, in 2015. The completion date
of the transaction was 16 December 2015.

The Technology Know-how has definite useful lives and is
amortised over 10 years using the straight-line method.

In July 2016, the Group acquired the design of Online-
to-Offline (“020") distribution vending system at the
consideration of RMB60,000,000 from two independent
third parties. The directors of the Company consider
that the 020 distribution vending system would provide
customers with an interactive and unique shopping
experience, enhance the distribution channel of the
products made by the Group and establish the core
technical competitiveness of the Group.

The 020 distribution vending system has definite useful
lives and is amortised over 9 years using the straight-line
method.

18.
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REMBERRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #ZE_—FT-=F+_-H=+—HILFZE

18. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

Notes: (continued)

() In July 2016, the Group engaged several independent
third parties in the research and development of
manufacturing and application technology of graphene
material on Sterilizing Chips, energy storage materials for
batteries and pressure-sensitive lighting devices for shoes
for approximately RMB92,000,000. The directors of the
Company seek the opportunities in applying the graphene
material in products other than shoes and plan to launch
in future.

The Sterilizing Chips has definite useful lives and is
amortised over 5 years using the straight-line method.

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the carrying amount
represented the cost of acquisition of patents for research
and development of manufacturing and application
technology of graphene material on certain products and
patents for research and development of Photovoltaic
Products.

19. INVENTORIES

18. B EE (&)
BisE: (4)

(0 MRZZE—XRELtA XAEEEEY
AR #92,000,0007T HE F 81 4% 58 32
FEZFRELREEMERERR
P B R MR K R SR BE
REMEENERBEMN AARE
EEZREOREMEERRERL
SNEYEE o 2 M S - 0 5T IR R AR
ﬁo

RECHABERAERFS I
AB SRS SF#H

RZFZ=FR=ZZFE==_F+=A
=t+—B ZEEAWMEERER
MRS T E S 2 £ E & E BT
2 BH R ERRER 2 R AU

BEAK AR -
19. &
2023 2022
—E-= —E-F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARETT

Raw materials and consumables RAE B
Work in progress E&m
Finished goods P

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the
impairment loss on inventories of approximately
RMB9,255,000 (2022: RMB3,985,000) was recognised in
the profit or loss.

25,797 34,676
46,852 79,080
65,534 65,636
138,183 179,392

BE-_Z-=F+-_A=+—HI#F
B REZARRANTFEREBED
AR #92550000(ZFE = —F : A
R #3,985,0007T ) °

EHEFEBENEERARIR —B-=FFEHRE
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REMBERRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 B Z_F-=4F+_-_H=+—HIFE

20. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES 20. EWEZRFREKREE
2023 2022
—E-=F —E——
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®ET ARET T

Trade receivables: JEE ZERFN
- Sales of goods —HE R m 155,771 95,674
Bills receivables fEW = - 6,056
155,771 101,730
Less: Allowance for credit losses B EEEERE (450) (147)
155,321 101,583
An aging analysis of the Group's trade and bills REFHKR  FEEREKREZFERL
receivables, net of allowance for credit losses as at the FEWEZEENEKBEEHREERIZRE
end of the reporting period, based on the invoice dates, HHEZI O BBRE DT T -
is as follows:
2023 2022
—E_-= g
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®ET T AREFTT
Within 3 months 3MEAR 125,502 93,842
4 to 6 months 4Z6{E A 16,959 3,772
Over 6 months 61& A LA 12,860 3,969

155,321 101,583
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ﬁAE#i%ﬁ%%Wﬂ‘%I

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # % — ZF+_HA=+—HIFE

20. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (continued) 20. EWEZRRREWERE (&)
The aging analysis of trade and bills receivables that are EEmEERBENERE SEZ N E
past due but not impaired: W EERERER D AT

2023 2022

—E-=FE —Eg-=
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥ T ARET T

Past due but not impaired: EE B ARRE -

Within 3 months 3EAR 19,938 3,772
4 to 6 months 4Z=61E A 639 3,969
Over 6 months 618 H LA+ 12,221 -
32,798 7,741

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly
on credit. The credit period offered to its customers is
generally for a period of one to three months (2022: one
to three months). The Group seeks to apply strict control
over its outstanding receivables and has a credit control
department to monitor credit risk. Overdue balances are
reviewed regularly by senior management. In view of the
aforementioned and the fact that the Group’s trade and
bills receivables relate to a large number of diversified
customers, there is no significant concentration of credit
risk. The Group does not hold any collateral or other
credit enhancements over its trade and bills receivable
balances. Trade and bills receivables are non-interest-
bearing.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate
to a number of independent customers that have a
good repayment record with the Group. Based on past
payment record, the directors of the Company are of the
opinion that no impairment is necessary in respect of
these balances as there has not been a significant change
in credit quality and the balances are still considered fully
recoverable.

Detail of impairment assessment of trade and bills
receivables for the year ended 31 December 2023 are set
out in note 41.

AEBHZEFNESEREENUEE
ET MEFPREMNEEHR —RAE—
EZ@A(ZEZ=F: —=2=1§
B)e AEBR N EIREEREENE
WHRIE WREEEEEIHP UiE
MEEHMoam 12 [ 7F B 5T s

o ERN EX it BEASE
FWE%% XK E R IRE KR E A
mxﬁﬁ@ B EEXEFREZER

AEBTEBREBKEZFIER K
Ewmﬁ HARTE AR RS EA
RAEEMIER - BRE ZERANE
J‘I&mﬁ%iqz_u-l'/%\"

B 8 BE KR E /Y 8 WIS I % (8
EASEERTERLENE LR
PoRBENRRLE NARARES
R BRNEEERYEEANE

AREERDE R/ 28R - 5
JAVEHIRE R o

BE_T_=_F+_A=1T—HLF
B RBREZERREREERE
BREEACE- NN R

EHEFEBENEERARIR —B-=FFEHRE
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REMBERRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 B Z_F-=4F+_-_H=+—HIFE

21. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 21. ARIE - RERHMEKRRR
RECEIVABLES iz}
2023 2022
—E-= =B
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARETT

Prepayments: FARTFRIE
— Prepayments to suppliers — [ EETER R 40,728 14,932
— Others —Hfh 2,655 2,346
Deposits: e
— Acquisition of equipment —BEXRE - 31,296
— Others —Hfb 2,036 222
Other receivables H th fE W KT8 2,811 3,074
Value-added Tax (“VAT") recoverable FERIEER ([EETR]) 35,340 18,064
83,570 69,934
As at 31 December 2023, other than prepayments and RZEBE_=F+ZA=+—"8" KB
VAT recoverable which do not have any due dates, none T B B TR A K fEIR i (E
of the above assets is either past due or impaired (2022: Bioh Pt EEMES S RE(ZE
Nil). The other receivables have no recent history of T ) o H fth FE Ui R IE AT HA N 4
default. Mo /K 40 8 o
Detail of impairment assessment of other receivables for HE_T_=F+_A=+—RHLLF
the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in note 41. B BEMEWRIE 2R ET EEIEE
NI
22. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 22. RAVEFABHEZSRMEE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
Financial assets at FVTPL BEAFEFABRZEREE
2023 2022
—E-= T
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR®TT AREFTT
Foreign currency forward contract INERHR A A 620 990
Financial products & RE @ 100 -
720 990
The carrying amounts of the above financial assets are BIE BRI 55 ZE R 55057 » Fill s
mandatorily measured at FVTPL in accordance with IFRS 9. BMEEMNEEEREILIZE AT ERSA

B2 EHE -
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REMBERRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #ZE_—FT-=F+_-H=+—HILFZE

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

Financial assets at FVTPL (continued)

At 31 December 2023, the Group’'s foreign currency
forward contracts denominated in RMB or US$ and
the fair values are based on the quoted prices from the
relevant financial institutions.

PLEDGED DEPOSITS, CASH AND BANK
BALANCES

During the year ended 31 December 2023, bank deposits
amounting to approximately RMB2,426,000 (2022:
RMB1,431,000) have been pledged to secure bills payables
of approximately RMB2,426,000 (2022: RMB4,770,000)
(note 24).

At 31 December 2023, the amount denominated in
RMB included in cash and bank balances and pledged
deposits amounted to approximately RMB18,113,000
(2022: RMB17,852,000) and approximately RMB2,426,000
(2022: RMB1,431,000) respectively. The RMB is not freely
convertible into other currencies, however, under the PRC
Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration
of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange
Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB
for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct
foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on
daily bank deposit rates. Pledged deposits earned interest
at fixed rate of 1.30% (2022: ranging from 1.45% to
1.55%) per annum. The bank balances and pledged
deposits are deposited with creditworthy banks with no
history of default. The pledged deposits will be released
upon the settlement of bills payables.

22.

23.

BAFEFABEZEMEE
(&)
BAFETFAESZEZEREE(E)
R-E-_=F+-_A=+—80 K&
B2 AARBE S ESFHE 2 INE iR B
B4 NFETIEER S B ER R
ZIRERFE -

EERER RERRTEER

HEe—_E-_=F+_-_A=1+—HI*F
B BEHARE?2426,000T(—F
——F: AR™1,431,0007T) B ERTT
FREAHARKE2426,000T(—F
— 4 AR¥4,770,0007T ) & FEAT
ZBRIEERER(MIEE24) -

RZE-_=F+-_A=+—H8 KA
RESTENIRE RFTABIE G
TR o B A% AKRE18,113,0007T
(ZZFE =% : AR®17,852,0007T)
M ANR#2,426,0000( —F = =
F 0 AR®1,431,00070 ) AR
AERLBRKEMERE A RIE
i B HNEE B B G0 K A5 BE - S BB 2
EEREHT ASBEEEBRELE
ITOMEZEBHIRITIEARK S HE
I o

RITRESEEHRTERFEMERN
FEB R B B EHFRIZ1.30%
MEEFHNE(ZZEZF : §iEMH
1.45%%1.55%)FF B o iR1THAB KR E
EREREREEEEAE\BR L
RIERTT - EER TR EN ZELE
B R R o

TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES 24. EREZRFARESNEZRE
2023 2022
—EC-=F =Sl =
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT  ARMTFT
Trade payables FERTE B RRTK 77,166 89,652
Bills payables EANE S 2,426 4,770
79,592 94,422
SHEFEBRERFEERERAT —E-=FEFERE
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 B Z_F-=4F+_-_H=+—HIFE

24. TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES (continued)

25.

An aging analysis of the Group’s trade and bills payables
as at the end of the reporting period, based on the

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

24. BENEZERARENRE )
KWK AEEEMNEDERR
RN REIR SR B NEID 0RE DT

invoice dates, is as follows: J(al N
2023 2022
—EC-=F T F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT T AREFIT
Within 3 months 3MEA N 64,493 72,805
Over 3 months 3MEA K E 15,099 21,617
79,592 94,422

The trade and bills payables are non-interest-bearing
and are normally settled on six months terms (2022: six
months). Bills payable of approximately RMB2,426,000
(2022: RMB4,770,000) were secured by the Group’s
pledged deposits amounted to approximately
RMB2,426,000 (2022: RMB1,431,000) as at 31 December
2023.

DEPOSITS RECEIVED, OTHER PAYABLES
AND ACCRUALS

25.

ENESERRENEERETFTE B
— R ANER(ZZE-—F: ~NEAR)
ANEB R _ZE-—=F+-_A=+—
H AEBEBBCERTROARE
2,426,000 ( ZE = —F : AR
1,431,000t ) & 49 A R 2,426,000
TT(ZE=—=F : AR¥4,770,0007T)
R RBEL R -

EWRE  HttBARERE
B A

2023 2022
—E-=HF T F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBET T AREFTT
Deposits received: EHIES -
— From customers —KERF - 142
- Others —HAth 250 214
VAT payables FEFHEET - 1,367
Accruals FEEt &R 18,148 22,351
Amounts due to a director BN —RES K
and a shareholder —HREFRIE 1,227 832
Payables for acquisition of intangible assets J&{i& & &2 & EFIE 1,000 3,200
Payables for acquisition of property, plant JESEEWE  %E
and equipment RAEFRIE 5,868 2,189
Other payables B FE T 5RIE 21,096 12,274
Interest payables FEATH S - 550
47,589 43,119
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REMBERRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #ZE_—FT-=F+_-H=+—HILFZE

DEPOSITS RECEIVED, OTHER PAYABLES
AND ACCRUALS (continued)

All accruals and other payables are expected to be settled
within one year.

Amounts due to a director and a shareholder represent

the salary (2022: salary and allowance) due to a director
and consultancy service fee due to a shareholder.

SHORT-TERM BORROWINGS

25. SWEE  HttENREARE
ATEMA )
PR R AT 7 P EL A FE A OB TR E
—EREE-

BN —R2EEHA R —BRRAKIAE
BN —REEHS( T __F %
& MORER) RN — R RE ARS
M-

26. EHfEE

2023 2022
—E-=F —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’'000

ARBT ARETT

Secured bank loans repayable AR —FRNEENEEFIRT

within one year B

(a) At 31 December 2023 and 2022, the loans were
denominated in RMB and bore interest rates ranging
from:

Year ended 31 December 2023 3.70% to 4.55%
per annum
Year ended 31 December 2022 3.90% to 4.44%
per annum

(b) At 31 December 2023, the secured bank loans of
the Group were secured by a pledge of the Group’s
buildings with carrying amount of approximately
RMB1,973,000 (2022: RMB1,856,000), leasehold
land of right-of-use assets and the leasehold
land of investment properties with carrying
amounts of approximately RMB3,752,000 (2022:
RMB3,900,000) and approximately RMB35,649,000
(2022: RMB35,670,000) respectively. In addition,
the bank loans were secured by guarantees
provided by an independent third party and
a director of the Company (2022: guarantees
provided by an independent third party, a director of
the Company and his son).

(b) 100,200 91,000

(@) RZBE-_=FRk_FT-_—F+—
A=+—8 EZHUARE:T
B WIRATEHERN SRS

HE-_T_-_=fF HFF3.70%
+=-A=+—8 ZF4.55%
S — HFH3.90%
+=-A=+—H 24.44%

by RZE-_=F+-A=+—H"
AEES R EEBEAEOAR
#1,973,000c(ZFE == : A
R #1,856,0007T) MiEF > BRMA
BE# AR #¥3,752,0000( = =
— =4 : AR®3,900,0007T) &
4 A R #35,649,000t( — &
— — 4 : AR#¥35,670,0007C)
WEREEEPHAE TR
EMEFHEE L WIEARER
BRFRITEROER - BLIN
BRARTERR—RBILE=FH
M —BARNRNEEEREERZ
T F H—EBUE=F
—EARRREENER FIRHEE
fR)e

EHEFEBENEERARIR —B-=FFEHRE
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 B Z_F-=4F+_-_H=+—HIFE

27. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 27. ’%Iﬁﬁ{ﬁ
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-=
RMB’000 RMB’'000

AR®ET ARET T

Receipts in advance of performance BT FBUEER

obligation
— sales of goods —HEE R 3,110 9,529
— provision of service — R 5,641 6,895
8,751 16,424
Contract liabilities are related to receipts from customers ABEIEE N AT HHERHTE
for goods and service which were not yet delivered or PrESERBREECWEREE 7 218
provided to customers. Revenue is recognised when BE AR MEAREIEHTFES
goods are delivered or service is provided to customers. A RE AU S o
Movement in contract liabilities ARBECET
2023 2022
—E-=F T
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARBTT ARBTTT
At 1 January Rn—H—H 16,424 694
Decrease in contract liabilities as a EFAERBRA MRS B BEE
result of recognising revenue FUMaRAar

during the year that was included

in the contract liabilities at the

beginning of the year (16,424) (694)
Net increase in contract liabilities as AW E P FIEME NS R &

a result of receipts in advance from B 5 (FBR F N FER AR

customers (net off the ARAERE)

contract liabilities as a result of

recognising revenue during the year) 8,751 16,424
At 31 December R+-A=+—¢H 8,751 16,424
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #

28. DEFERRED INCOME

REMBERRWE

EE_=FF+_A=+—HIFE

28. IEFEW A

2023 2022
—E-= —E-F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T AR®ET T
Deferred rental income FEIEFE & WA 4,578 7,214
Deferred subsidy income R AL YA (a) 7,995 8,994
12,573 16,208

Represented by: B TRIIREREK
Current portion mEnEs s 3,386 3,636
Non-current portion IEREEBD 9,187 12,572
12,573 16,208

Note:

As disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 22
October 2021, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Group, entered into the investment agreement and
related supplemental agreement with Xuzhou Economic
& Technological Development Zone Management
Committee* (IR ERITAZEREREZEE) on 21
October 2021.

In 2021, government subsidy of RMB10,000,000 have
been received towards cost of capital expenditure in
property, plant and equipment incurred in Xuzhou.
The amount received in respect of the relevant assets
are under the condition that such property, plant and
equipment are not allowed to move out from Xuzhou
for 10 years. With the transformation of the Group,
the directors of the Company are of the opinion that
the business in Xuzhou would be last for more than
10 years and there is reasonable assurance that the
condition would be satisfied. Upon the subsidy was
received, the amount is transferred to income over the
useful lives of the relevant assets (i.e. 10 years).

the English translation of Chinese names or
words in this note, where indicated, is included
for information purpose only, and should not be
regarded as the official English translation of such
Chinese names or words.

Wit

SN ERARA A

MARFREHA-ZZ=-_—F+A
Tt Bzl AEEZEE
EEMBRRAN _E-—F1+A
— T HBABfNEERTRERR
EREEERETRE MR IIE
s

RZZEZ—F RRRMNE-
BELEENEARIRAD
U B BT R B AR #510,000,000
JL o ShAERE B E W ERH S A AT
RIGEHRZEYME BEMEE
TERIOCFABEGRMN BEEAX
EEER ARBEERANG
MEEEBEE10F AL XA
BIERREBZAIGFASERE - R
B E e BIRAEEERN
AI{E A FE (BMoF ) B = UL
)\ °

—EC=EFEHRE
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29.

30.
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LEASE LIABILITIES 290. HEEGE
2023 2022
—EC-=F —=E-=
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARETF T
Lease liabilities payable: ENHEERE:
Within one year —E R 21,424 1,716
Within a period of more than one year —% Z /W & 7 HIfI
but not more than two years 24,767 53
Within a period of more than two MEERF ZHEA
years but not more than five years 22,512 56
68,703 1,825
Less: Amount due for settlement B ARRRBBEEERE AR
within 12 months shown under 128 A REN 2 578
current liabilities (21,424) (1,716)
Amount due for settlement FIRRIERBBEET AR
after 12 months shown under 1218 B 18 415 2 5/38
non-current liabilities 47,279 109

The incremental borrowing rate applied to lease liabilities
ranging from 4.10% to 5.60% (2022: 4.53% to 4.59%).

DEFERRED TAX LIABILITY

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated
statement of financial position, certain deferred tax
asset and liability have been offset. The following is
the analysis of the deferred tax balances for financial
reporting purposes:

30.

HREEBEEAZREERNKEE
H4.10%E5.60%( — & — — &
4.53%%4.59%)°

ELEMRIESE
MEINGEMBRRAEMS & TIE
EHEEERBGEE TEIE AR
BHEZBECHIBLA SR DT EH I
B

2023 2022

—E-= —E-F

RMB’000 RMB’'000

AREFT ARETIT

Deferred tax asset ELEFRIBE E 188 72
Deferred tax liability RIERIERE (5.381) (5,432)
(5,193) (5,360)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 # %

30. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITY (continued)

The following are the major deferred tax liability and
asset recognised and movements thereon during the

current and prior years:

REMBERRWE

CE—CFf A=+ —HIFFE

30. EEBRRE(E)
AT REHRBEFEHMEER
EBRTRAR B R AR R E

Fair value
Allowance Undistributed (gain)/loss on
for inventories profits of PRC investment
and credit losses subsidiary properties Total
REMEZ
HEREDT DYE (W) /
FEREEFERE 2R RT BB @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
N S ARBTT ARBTR NS
(note a)
(Hrita)
At 1 January 2022 WZE--%-F-H 375 (3,071) (2,328) (5,024)
Charged to profit or loss RERTE (303) - (33) (336)
At31December 2022and  RZZZZ&
1 January 2023 TZA=t-8k
—Z-=F-F-H 72 (3,071) (2,361) (5,360)
Credited to profit or loss AR 116 - 51 167
At 31 December 2023 RZEZ=F
+tZA=+-8 188 (3.071) (2,310) (5,193)
Note: Bfat -
(a)  The amount represents Group’s withholding taxes relating (@ ZeBEER-_ZT_="FK=F

to the dividend payable by a PRC subsidiary amounting to

RMB62,075,000 as at 31 December 2023 and 2022.

SN ERARA A

—ZHE+ZA=1+—8 K&EH
MPEMBAREMNRKREARKE
62,075,000 C HAEBETEFO 7

—EC=EFEHRE
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CE—CFf ZA=+—HIFFE

31. SHARE CAPITAL 31. B&
The details of the authorised and issued share capital of AKRBEEREBITIRA ZFIEW
the Company are as follows: T
2023 2022
—EZ=F —F-
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®ETR ARETTT
Authorised: ETE
5,000,000,000 ordinary shares of US$0.01 5,000,000,000/% & E &
each 0.01E TR LB 342,400 342,400
Issued and fully paid: BETRHR
1,815,659,608 (2022: 1,711,959,608) 1,815,659,608/% (= ZF = —
ordinary shares of US$0.01 each F :1,711,959,6080% ) Ak
EE0.01E T L AR 120,960 113,799
Ordinary shares BER
Number of ordinary
shares of US$0.01 Nominal value of
each ordinary shares
BRE{E.1
EnHEBRR
g8 LEREE
RMB'000
ARETT
Authorised: EE
At 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022, RZE--fE-f-B ZZ--%
1 January 2023 and 31 December 2023 +-A=t-H Z%-=%-f-H
RZEZ=F+ZA=1-H 5,000,000,000 342,400
Issued and fully paid: BRORMR:
At 1 January 2022 R-E-"%-f-H 1,661,909,608 110,606
Completion of placing of new Shares TREESRA 50,000,000 3,190
Issue of Shares upon exercise of share options RITERRERETRG 50,000 3
At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 WZE-_F+-A=+-HkK
“E-=F-A-H 1,711,959,608 113,799
Issue of Shares upon exercise of share options RITERRERETRG 103,700,000 7,161
At 31 December 2023 RZE-=F+-R=t-H 1,815,659,608 120,960
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REMBERRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZE_—FE_-=ZF+_-H=+—HIF)ZF

31. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

Ordinary shares (continued)

As disclosed in the Company's announcements dated
30 December 2021 and 14 January 2022, the Company
placed a total of 50,000,000 new Shares through a
placing agent to two placees at the placing price of
HK$10 per placing share (the “2022 Placing”). which was
completed on 14 January 2022. The net proceeds from
the 2022 Placing (after deducting the relevant expenses)
were approximately HK$497,850,000.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company
repurchased 1,286,000 Shares on the Stock Exchange with
a total cash consideration of approximately HK$4,752,000
(equivalent to approximately RMB4,326,000) before
deducting relevant expenses. The lowest and highest
repurchased price per Share is HK$3.56 and HK$3.90
respectively. All repurchases were executed in December
2023. None of the repurchased Shares had been cancelled
and deducted from the share capital and share premium
within shareholders’ equity, and the repurchased Shares
were recorded as treasury stock as at 31 December 2023.
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32. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

Equity-settled share option scheme of the Company

On 8 January 2011, the Company adopted a share option
scheme (the “2011 Share Option Scheme”) for the
purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s
operations. Eligible participants of the 2011 Share Option
Scheme include, among others, the directors of the
Company, including independent non-executive directors,
employees, suppliers of goods or services, customers,
consultants of the Group, the Company’s shareholders,
and any non-controlling shareholder in the Company’s
subsidiaries. The 2011 Share Option Scheme became
effective on 28 January 2011 and expired on 27 January
2021, after which period no further options were offered
or granted but the provisions of the 2011 Share Option
Scheme shall remain in full force and effect in all other
respects with regard to the share options granted during
the life of the 2011 Share Option Scheme. The 2011
Share Option Scheme was refreshed on 10 June 2019 in
the annual general meeting.

On 2 July 2021, the Company adopted a share option
scheme (the “2021 Share Option Scheme”) for the
purpose of granting options to select eligible participants
as incentives or rewards for their contribution or
potential contribution to the Group and to enable
the Group to recruit and retain high-calibre persons
and attract human resources that are valuable to the
Group. Eligible participants of the 2021 Share Option
Scheme include, among others, the directors of the
Company, including independent non-executive directors,
employees, contractors, agents, representatives,
suppliers or producers of goods or services, licensors
or landlords, customers, licensees (including any sub-
licensees), distributors or tenants (including any sub-
tenants), consultants or advisers in any area of business
of any member of the Group or any invested entity, any
shareholders, business or joint venture partners of any
member of the Group or any invested entity. The 2021
Share Option Scheme became effective on 2 July 2021
and terminated on 16 June 2023, after which period
no further options will be offered or granted but the
provisions of the 2021 Share Option Scheme shall remain
in full force and effect in all other respects with regard to
the share options granted prior to the date of termination
of the 2021 Share Option Scheme.
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32. LR ABERNTIRZRS
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32. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

Equity-settled share option scheme of the Company
(continued)

On 16 June 2023, the Company adopted a new share
option scheme (the “2023 Share Option Scheme”) to
attract and retain the best available and high calibre
personnel of the Group, to provide additional incentives
to the eligible participants and to promote the overall
success of the business of the Group. 2023 Share Option
Scheme will give the eligible participants an opportunity
to have a personal stake in the Company which will
help motivate the eligible participants in optimising their
performance and efficiency and attract and retain the
eligible participants whose contributions are important
to the long-term growth and profitability of the Group.
Eligible participants of the 2023 Share Option Scheme
include, (1) employee participants who are the director(s)
and employee(s) of any member of the Group, (2) related
entity participants who are directors and employees of
the holding companies, fellow subsidiaries or associated
companies of the Company, and (3) service providers
who provide services to any member of the Group
on a continuing or recurring basis in its ordinary and
usual course of business which are in the interests of
the long term growth of the Group, which include
any independent distributor, contractor, supplier,
agent, consultant or adviser to any area of business or
business development of the Group, but excluding any
placing agents or financial advisers providing advisory
services for fundraising, mergers or acquisitions, and
other professional services providers such as auditors
or valuers who provide assurance, or are required to
perform their services with impartiality and objectivity
(“Service Providers”). The 2023 Share Option Scheme
became effective on 16 June 2023 and, unless otherwise
cancelled or amended, will remain in force for 10 years
from that date, i.e. 15 June 2033, after which period
no further options will be offered or granted but the
provisions of the 2023 Share Option Scheme shall remain
in full force and effect in all other respects with regard
to the share options granted during the life of the 2023
Share Option Scheme.
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32. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS 32. LR AEBRNSRZRS

192

(continued)

Equity-settled share option scheme of the Company
(continued)

Subject to the Listing Rules, the overall limit on the
number of Shares which may be issued upon the exercise
of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised
under the 2011 Share Option Scheme, 2021 Share
Option Scheme, 2023 Share Option Scheme and any
other share option schemes of the Company must not,
in aggregate, exceed 30% of the relevant class of Shares
in issue from time to time. Subject to the limit above,
the maximum number of shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all share options to be granted under
the 2023 Share Option Scheme and any other schemes
of the Company shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of
the Shares in issue at the date of approval of 2023 Share
Option Scheme (the “Scheme Mandate Limit”). The
maximum number of Shares issuable under share options
to each eligible participant in the 2023 Share Option
Scheme within any 12-month period is limited to 1% of
the Shares in issue at any time. Any further grant of share
options in excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’
approval in a general meeting.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any of
their respective associates, are subject to approval in
advance by the independent non-executive directors.
In addition, any share options granted to a substantial
shareholder or an independent non-executive director
of the Company, or to any of their associates, in excess
of 0.1% of the Shares in issue in the 12-month period
up to and including the date of grant, are subject to
shareholders’ approval in advance in a general meeting.

The sublimit on the total number of Shares which may
be issued in respect of all share options to be granted to
Service Providers under the 2023 Share Option Scheme
together with all share options and awards which may be
granted under any other share schemes of the Company
is 54,469,788 Shares, being 3% of the total number of
Shares in issue on the date of approval of the 2023 Share
Option Scheme.
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32. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

Equity-settled share option scheme of the Company
(continued)

An offer of the grant of share options under the 2023
Share Option Scheme may be accepted within 21 days
inclusive of from the date of offer, upon payment of a
nominal consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee.
The exercise period of the share options granted is
determinable by the directors of the Company, and
from the date of the grant of the particular share option
subject to any early termination of the 2023 Share
Option Scheme which shall not exceed the period of 10
years. The exercise of any share option may be subject
to a vesting schedule to be determined by the board of
directors.

Save for the circumstances prescribed in the 2023 Share
Option Scheme, a share option must be held by the
grantee for the vesting period of at least twelve months
before the share option can be exercised. The Board
may at its discretion grant a shorter vesting period to an
employee participant in certain circumstances. For details,
please refer to the Company’s circular dated 1 June 2023.

The exercise price of share options is determinable by the
board of directors, but may not be less than the highest
of (i) the Stock Exchange closing price of the Shares on
the date of offer of the share options; (i) the average
Stock Exchange closing price of the Shares for the five
trading days immediately preceding the date of offer and
(iii) the nominal value of the Shares.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to
dividends or to vote at shareholders’ meetings.
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32. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS 32. LR AEBRNSRZRS

(continued)
Equity-settled share option scheme of the Company
(continued)

The following share options were outstanding under the
2011 Share Option Scheme during the year:

(%)

AT UAREREE 2 BIRET 8
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REN =T ——FHERETEE
THRARTTERNERENT

2023 2022
—E-=H —E-CF

Weighted Number Weighted Number
average of share average of share
exercise price options  exercise price options
miE¥ BRE 13 BkE
B A THE ¥R

HK$ HK$

BT BT
At 1 January ®—A—H 0.55 214,700,000 0.55 214,750,000
Exercised during the year FRTTE 0.54 (103,700,000) 0.54 (50,000)
At 31 December R+-—A=1+—H 0.55 111,000,000 0.55 214,700,000

During the year, the Company has not granted any share
option (2022: Nil). 103,700,000 share options were
exercised (2022: 50,000) and no share option was lapsed
(2022: Nil) under the 2011 Share Option Scheme.

The outstanding share options under 2011 Share Option
Scheme as at 31 December 2023 were vested to the
grantees in the following manner:

- 66,600,000 of such share options were vested on
22 October 2020 with an exercise period from 22
October 2020 to 21 October 2025.

- 44,400,000 of such share options were vested on
22 October 2021 with an exercise period from 22
October 2021 to 21 October 2025.
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32. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS 32. LR AEBRNSRZRS

(continued)

Equity-settled share option scheme of the Company
(continued)

The outstanding share options under 2011 Share Option
Scheme as at 31 December 2022 were vested to the
grantees in the following manner:

- 62,220,000 of such share options were vested on
19 June 2018 with an exercise period from 19 June
2018 to 18 June 2023.

- 41,480,000 of such share options were vested on
19 June 2019 with an exercise period from 19 June
2019 to 18 June 2023.

- 66,600,000 of such share options were vested on
22 October 2020 with an exercise period from 22
October 2020 to 21 October 2025.

— 44,400,000 of such share options were vested on
22 October 2021 with an exercise period from 22
October 2021 to 21 October 2025.

The following share options were outstanding under the
2021 Share Option Scheme during the year:
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Weighted Number Weighted Number
average of share average of share
exercise price options  exercise price options
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HK$ HK$

BT BT
At 1 January m—A—A 9.62 51,740,000 - -
Granted during the year FREL 7.15 111,200,000 9.62 54,000,000
Lapsed during the year FREM 9.62 (7,110,000) 9.62 (2,260,000)
At 31 December W+tZA=t—H 7.86 155,830,000 962 51,740,000
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32. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS
(continued)

Equity-settled share option scheme of the Company
(continued)

During the year, 111,200,000 share options were granted
(2022: 54,000,000) and 7,110,000 (2022: 2,260,000)
share options were lapsed due to the cessation of
employment of the participant under the 2021 Share
Option Scheme.

The outstanding share options under 2021 Share Option
Scheme as at 31 December 2023 were vested to the
grantees in the following manner:

14,007,600 of such share options were vested on
21 January 2022 with an exercise period from 21
January 2022 to 20 January 2027.

- 14,659,400 of such share options were vested on
21 January 2023 with an exercise period from 21
January 2023 to 20 January 2027.

- 5,321,000 of such share options will be vested on
21 January 2024 with an exercise period from 21
January 2024 to 20 January 2027.

- 5,321,000 of such share options will be vested on
21 January 2025 with an exercise period from 21
January 2025 to 20 January 2027.

- 5,321,000 of such share options will be vested on
21 January 2026 with an exercise period from 21
January 2026 to 20 January 2027.

- 51,600,000 of such share options will be vested on
12 April 2024 with an exercise period from 12 April
2024 to 11 Apr 2028.

— 38,000,000 of such share options will be vested on
12 April 2025 with an exercise period from 12 April
2025 to 11 Apr 2028.
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32. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS
(continued)

Equity-settled share option scheme of the Company
(continued)

The outstanding share options under 2021 Share Option
Scheme as at 31 December 2023 were vested to the
grantees in the following manner: (continued)

- 10,800,000 of such share options will be vested on
12 April 2026 with an exercise period from 12 April
2026 to 11 Apr 2028.

- 10,800,000 of such share options will be vested on
12 April 2027 with an exercise period from 12 April
2027 to 11 Apr 2028.

The outstanding share options under 2021 Share Option
Scheme as at 31 December 2022 were vested to the
grantees in the following manner:

14,007,600 of such share options were vested on
21 January 2022 with an exercise period from 21
January 2022 to 20 January 2027.

- 16,436,900 of such share options were vested on
21 January 2023 with an exercise period from 21
January 2023 to 20 January 2027.

— 7,098,500 of such share options will be vested on
21 January 2024 with an exercise period from 21
January 2024 to 20 January 2027.

- 7,098,500 of such share options will be vested on
21 January 2025 with an exercise period from 21
January 2025 to 20 January 2027.

- 7,098,500 of such share options will be vested on
21 January 2026 with an exercise period from 21
January 2026 to 20 January 2027.
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32. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

(continued)
Equity-settled share option scheme of the Company
(continued)

The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share
options outstanding as at the end of the reporting period
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32. LR ABERNTIRZRS
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are as follows:

2023

Number of Exercise price

share options HK$ per share Exercise period

BREXE TEEERET 17 fE 5

111,200,000 7.15 12 April 2023 to 11 April 2028
—EC_=FWA+T=-HE-ZE-NFMNA+—H

44,630,000 9.62 21 January 2022 to 20 January 2027
—E-_-H-A-+—HEZZE-tF—H=tH

111,000,000 0.55 22 October 2020 to 21 October 2025

—EFE+A-+=-HEZ-ZE-HRE+HA=+—8H

2022

Number of Exercise price

share options HK$ per share Exercise period

A2 TREFRB T 171 5

51,740,000 9.62 21 January 2022 to 20 January 2027
—E - —AZ+—HEZZT-tLF—H=T+H

111,000,000 0.55 22 October 2020 to 21 October 2025
—ECEF+ A+ ZHE=E-_RAF+A=1+—H

103,700,000 0.54 19 June 2018 to 18 June 2023

—E-N\FRATNBE-Z-_=FXATN\H

The fair value of the share options granted on 22
October 2020 was HK$25,183,000 (equivalent to
RMB21,627,000).

The fair value of the share options granted on 21
January 2022 was HK$222,745,000 (equivalent to
RMB181,577,000).

The fair value of the share options granted on 12
April 2023 was HK$350,387,000 (equivalent to
RMB307,339,000).

R-ZE-_ZTF+A-_+_BARENE
A% 4 N {8 /425,183,000 7T (10 &
MARE21,627,0007T)°

R-E-—F-A-+—HFLEHE
A% #E N S {E A222,745,0008 T (HHE
MAER181,577,0007T)

RZE-_=ZFNA+-_BRENERK
N 1{E £350,387,000/% 7T (FHE
AFR#307,339,0007T)°
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32. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

(continued)
Equity-settled share option scheme of the Company
(continued)

The Group recognised total share-based payment of
RMB177,636,000 for the year (2022: RMB119,605,000)
in relation to share options granted by the Company.

The fair value was estimated as at the date of grant,
using a binomial model, taking into account the terms
and conditions upon which the options were granted.

The following table lists the inputs to the model used:

32. URBAEBRNAF

(&)
AKATURELE ZIBIRESTE
(4&)
AEBRAFE AR AR LA B
BERAABRMD EEBROMNRETAR
#177,636,000( ZE = —F : AR
#119,605,0007T ) °

R

NHETIEE MR HBRE KB
RGN L B AR B E
AU fhGt e

TNRINRATAEA R AR

2023 share options —EC=FERE

Weighted average share price (HK$ per share)  hi#EFHR% (B (FHRETT) HK$7.00
Exercise price (HK$ per share) ITEE(ERET) HK$7.15
Expected volatility (%) T8 BRI 18 (%) 59.06%
Expected life of options (year) E%Hﬁ%ﬂ’]i‘ﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁﬂ(ﬁ) 5 years
Risk-free rate (% per annum) B FE(F %) 2.86%
Expected divided yield (%) TEHHJ& M2 % (%) 0.00%
Exercise multiple — director TEEE—ES 2.80
Exercise multiple — employee TEEH—EE 2.20

Expected volatility was determined by using the historical
volatility of the Company’s share price over the previous 5
years. The expected life and exercise multiple used in the
model have been adjusted, based on management’s best
estimate, for the effects of non-transferability, exercise
restrictions and behavioural considerations.

No other feature of the options granted was incorporated
into the measurement of fair value.

The binomial model has been used to estimate the fair
value of the options. The variables and assumptions
used in computing the fair value of the share options are
based on the directors’ best estimate. The value of an
option varies with different variables of certain subjective
assumptions.

For the year ended 31 December 2022 and 2023, no
share option was lapsed under 2011 Share Option
Scheme.

EHKE D RBEAR R FBESFR(E
B SRR IR E - RBLPT A 2 TR
HLITEFEHREREEEE 2 &ER
oA AR ITERE LT RE
EFTER BT IARE -

REHEAFER i RE R
B2 A

ZIEARBE AR A EREZ AT
B-stEBREZATEMBZEH
EUE““TJ%JT%%ZEFHJ()%HX
EEERTE TEERZN TR
& & o

BE B - KT -=F+_A4
—t+—BLFE BT ——FER
REFTEITE TS BB IR -

EHEFEBENEERARIR —B-=FFEHRE
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32. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

Equity-settled share option scheme of the Company
(continued)

During the year, 7,110,000 (2022: 2,260,000) share
options were lapsed under 2021 Share Option Scheme
and the relevant share-based payments of approximately
RMB17,061,000 (2022: RMB1,754,000) which were
recognised in share options reserve was transferred to
accumulated losses during the year.

As at 31 December 2023, 181,565,960 Shares may
be issued upon the exercise of all the share options
to be granted under the 2023 Share Option Scheme,
representing approximately 10% of the total issued
Shares as at 31 December 2023 and the date of this
annual report.

Pursuant to Rule 17.07(3) of the Listing Rules, the total
number of Shares that may be issued in respect of share
options granted under all share option schemes of
the Company during the year divided by the weighted
average number of Shares (i.e. 1,773,772,107) of the
relevant class in issue for the year was 10.24%.

As at 31 December 2023, the Company had 111,000,000
(2022: 214,700,000) share options outstanding under
the 2011 Share Option Scheme, which represented
approximately 6.11% (2022: 12.54%) of the Shares
in issue as at that date. The exercise in full of the
outstanding share options would, under the present
capital structure of the Company, result in the issue of
111,000,000 (2022: 214,700,000) additional Shares
representing approximately 6.11% of the total issued
share capital of the Company as at 31 December
2023 and additional share capital and share premium
of approximately HK$8,675,000 (equivalent to
RMB7,862,000) (2022: HK$16,740,000 equivalent to
RMB14,953,000) and approximately HK$52,375,000
(equivalent to RMB47,463,000) (2022: HK$100,308,000
equivalent to RMB89,602,000), before issue expenses.
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32. LR ABERNTIRZRS

(&)

ARAT AR ELE 2 BIRESTE

(4&)

FRN BB FERESEET

7 110,00019 (= Z = =4 : 2,260,000
DB AE R HR R BB e

A2 AR BEBONZTOAR

#17,061,000C( Z 2 = =F : AR

#51,754,00070) TE A ANF EEEZ

ZETEE -

KRB -_=ZF+_A=+—8"
TECCFEREAEETETR
HZEEREETER BT
181,565,960 /%0 - HERHZE_F
—=ZF+ A=+ B RAFEHRE
HEAZE B BTN 2 4910% °

BiE FmRBIE17.076)&  RNER
BIE AN R FT A B AR Jrilﬂéﬁxﬂj
2 EBARAE R BT (D BB R AF A
FERAE R B 21T A0 /Y hn it F 1 A% 2K
(B11,773,772,1070%) A10.24% °

EA:;:_$+—H_+ B K

TBA_T——HﬁwrééquiUIET
T?Eﬁ111 000,000 ( = F = = 4 :
214,700,00017 ) & A< 17 {56 #9 il A i -
ERZBHEBITRMA6.11%(=
T 112.54% ) RIBEARRIREF
BARERE BETEZEERITED
AR e éﬂz%ﬁm\ %£17111,000,000
A% ( —Z = — 4 : 214,700,0000% ) #
%%@@%%ﬁ%:%:zi+:ﬂ
=t+—HBARFEEHEHTRHDZ
Zﬁen%&aﬁ&l\ﬂlex&ﬂxfﬁm{ (X
Mk 3TH )9 5l 48,675,000
T(HEEN ARYT7,862,0007T )( —Z
— Z 4 16,740,000/ T HHE R A
R #14,953,0007T ) & #752,375,000
B T( M E K A R ®47,463,0000T )
(ZZ = — 4 :100,308,0005 7T 1/
BN ARES9,602,0007T)°
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SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS
(continued)

Equity-settled share option scheme of the Company
(continued)

As at 31 December 2023, the Company had 155,830,000
(2022: 51,740,000) share options outstanding under
the 2021 Share Option Scheme, which represented
approximately 8.58% (2022: 3.02%) of the Shares in issue
as at that date. The exercise in full of the outstanding
share options would, under the present capital structure
of the Company, result in the issue of 155,830,000 (2022:
51,740,000) additional Shares representing approximately
8.58% of the total issued share capital of the Company
as at 31 December 2023 and additional share capital
and share premium of approximately HK$12,179,000
(equivalent to RMB11,037,000) (2022: HK$4,034,000
equivalent to RMB3,603,000) and approximately
HK$1,212,241,000 (equivalent to RMB1,098,557,000)
(2022: HK$493,705,000 equivalent to RMB441,012,000),
before issue expenses.

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and movements
therein for the current and prior reporting periods are
presented in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity.

(i) Contributed surplus

On 17 January 2011, CITIC Capital, the Company
and its shareholders had entered into certain
conditional release and discharge agreements,
pursuant to which, the new exchangeable note
would be duly released and discharged, which had
taken place on the Listing Date, 28 January 2011,
and prior to the commencement of the trading of
the Shares on the Stock Exchange. Accordingly,
the liability component of the new exchangeable
note of RMB57,768,000 on the Listing Date was
extinguished and transferred to the contributed
surplus in shareholders’ equity upon the full
conversion of the new exchangeable note.

32.

33.

DURBAERNNRZRS
(#&)

RAT AR RELE 2 BIRESTE
(4&)
RZEBE_=F+-_A=+—H' K
RAR T —FHEREFEIIET
% F155,830,00015( = & = — 4 :
51,740,00017 ) (& R 17 {8 #Y i I 4 -
HRZBHBE BTN A8.58% (=
T F :13.02%) BIEARNGIRE
BARER  BETEZEERITED
i % 1 8 28 BB /M 82 97155,830,000
A% ( —Z = — 4 : 51,740,0000% ) #
BERNBEEREBEE S -_=F1t_A4
=+—HARBZMEEHITRD 2L
8.58% N BE MR AN I f% 17 s B (R 40
BrEETTRISE) 2 R14912,179,0007%8 7T
(EERARY11,037,000T (==
T T 4F 1 4,034,000 T HERAR
#3,603,0007T ) & #91,212,241,000
BIn(EE RN A R %1,098,557,000
TN —ZF = =4 : 493,705,000/ 7T *
HENARE441,012,0007T)°

24
RE B RBE 2 RIBRD - A A
NEBRR2IINGA EEEER -

(i) E&AELK
R=ZZE—F—A++£H" CTIC
Capital * A AR R ERRFI &
T H G BB RBERDE &
R ETEBEI T ——F—
A=+ N\BEBRDRE R AR
BEZA A RRERELR
BRBR R BB - At - MR EUL I
IR L - N == 2
THRBREEAGEIOARK
57,768,0007T B i $5 3l 85 8 ==
RETANERREG-

EHEFEBENEERARIR —B-=FFEHRE
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33. RESERVES (continued)

()

(ii)

GOLDEN SOLAR NEW ENERGY TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL Report 2023

Contributed surplus (continued)

Pursuant to the stock borrowing agreement entered
into between Best Mark and Asia Equity Value Ltd
(the “Subscriber”) on 21 June 2012, Best Mark
lent 32,000,000 Shares to the Subscriber. Upon
initial recognition, the value of such contribution
amounting to approximately RMB12,183,000 from
the substantial shareholder was accounted for as
a deemed contribution in the shareholder’s equity.
The carrying amount of such contribution from
the substantial shareholder is not remeasured in
subsequent years.

On 10 September 2012, Best Mark and the
Subscriber entered into a letter agreement (the
“Call and Put Option Confirmation”) pursuant to
which the Subscriber had granted to Best Mark the
right to purchase 32,000,000 of the Shares at a
strike price of HK$1.01 and Best Mark has granted
the Subscriber the right to require Best Mark to
purchase 32,000,000 of the Shares at the same
strike price.

On 17 December 2014, the Company was informed
by Best Mark that 32,000,000 Shares had been
transferred by the Subscriber to Best Mark and
the transaction set out in the Call and Put Option
Confirmation was terminated.

Statutory surplus fund

In accordance with the relevant regulations
applicable in the PRC, the Group’s subsidiary
established in the PRC is required to transfer a
certain percentage of its statutory annual profits
after tax (after offsetting any prior period’s losses), if
any, to the statutory surplus fund until the balance
of the fund reaches 50% of its registered capital.
Subject to certain restrictions as set out in the
relevant PRC regulations, the statutory surplus fund
may be used to offset against accumulated losses
of the PRC subsidiary. The amount of the transfer is
subject to the approval of the board of directors of
the PRC subsidiary.

33. f#
(i)

(i)
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ERER(E)
BEAR-—Z——FA=-+—H
Best Mark&2Asia Equity Value
Ltd([ BB A D BT 1 18 IR
& Best Mark[@ Z2 8 A & %
132,000,0008% ° 1A ¥ 45 fE 3R
% BRATERFIENEEY
A ANRM12,183,0007T IR
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HEFEATENE-

W=-ZZF— =% N A 1+ H - Best
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - % —

RESERVES (continued) 33. f#E &)
(iii) Exchange fluctuation reserve (iii) ERREHE
The exchange fluctuation reserve comprises all FE 5 R B A B iR & B 340
foreign exchange differences arising from the BB RRTE SR —JINE
translation of the financial statements of operations ER IR EBEA BRI
outside the PRC which are dealt with in accordance BFTE BT BR ARKEE -
with the accounting policy set out in note 3 to the
consolidated financial statements.
COMMITMENTS 34. &I
The Group had the following commitments at the end of REER 2 HEAARA AT AL :
the reporting period:
2023 2022
—_E=-= —_ET——
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR®T ARETTT
Contracted for capital commitment in BRG] A& A EE -
respect of:
— Investment in subsidiaries — R B RARIMKE 1,947,947 2,100,562
— Other investment —HMIRE 5,000 5,000
1,952,947 2,105,562
Contracted for commitments in respect of: &4 A T I8 B R 5] 495 ¥E -
— advertising and consultancy services — EE REARE - 26
— property, plant and equipment — % BB RFE 4,959 5,608
4,959 5,634

EHEFEBENEERARIR —B-=FFEHRE
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35. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS 35. KEHERH
The Group as lessor rEBEAHAA
All of the properties held by the Group for rental REBABRDNESMBEN N WE
purposes have committed lessees for the next 4 years ERRNOFE(ZE-_—_F : OF)EHF
(2022: 4 years). RTHIAEEA ©
Undiscounted lease payments receivable on leases are as FHE 7 RBLVIREWRENZTWT -
follows:
31/12/2023 31/12/2022
—EBZ=F —_F-
+=ZA=+—-8B +t—A=+—H
RMB’000 RMB’'000

ARBF T ARET T

Within one year —F R 2,068 1,736
In the second year F-F 2,068 1,517
In the third year E=F 367 1,517
In the fourth year Euskes 120 1

4,623 4,781
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36. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 36. MEEBTELEREBEZHR
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities THRAMAEERETHAEECZE
arising from financing activities, including both cash B2 BRASLIFRSESH - F
and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing BEBEAZBERBEEREGRN
activities are those for which cash flows are, or future IAKRBEREFSSNAKELGEEE
cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated ERERNDEEMEEHMEEZ
statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing ReEnENZEEE
activities.
Bills Interest Short-term Lease
payables payables borrowings liabilities Total
Ef S EfFE EORE HESR @
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETTL ARETT ARETT ARET T ARET T
At 1 January 2022 \ZB-ZE-f-H 1420 960 100,441 4,469 107,290
Addition =yl - - 91,330 - 91,330
Repayment of short-term borrowings ~ EERHEE - - (100,771) - (100,771)
Repayment of bills payables EEEFZR (9,990) - - - (9.990)
Repayment of principal of lease BEHERERS
liabilities - - - (2,228) (2,228)
Drawdown of bills payables ROENZE 13,340 - - - 13,340
Interest paid BifE - (4.440) - (146) (4,586)
Interest expenses Fle By - 4,030 - 146 4176
New leases entered HiHE - - - (416) (416)
At 31 December 2022 and RZB--E+-A=t-REk
1 January 2023 “E-CE-A-H 4,770 550 91,000 1,825 98,145
Addition )l - - 115,200 - 115,200
Repayment of short-term borrowings ~ EEREHEE - - (106,000) - (106,000)
Repayment of bills payables ERENRE (4770) - - - (4,770)
Repayment of principal of lease [EEHERER2
liabilities - - - (4,699) (4,699)
Drawdown of bills payables ROENER 2,426 - - - 2,426
Interest paid BfTHE - (4,418) - (1m) (5,191)
Interest expenses R - 3,868 - m 4,641
New leases entered miRE - - - 71,577 7157
At 31 December 2023 R-E-=%+-A=1-H 2,426 - 100,200 68,703 171,329

EHEFEBENEERARIR —B-=FFEHRE
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37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 37. BEALRF

Other than disclosed in elsewhere in the consolidated R E B mEREMILD P TN
financial statements, the significant related party BREBTSIEEWNT ¢
transactions are disclosed as follows:

Compensation of key management personnel of the
Group is as follows:

AEBTZEEABNMESINT

2023 2022
—_E=-= —ET-—
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T ARETT
Other emoluments: HEe -
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind ¥4 B R EWHZE 9,444 4,623
Contributions to retirement benefits RIKBHETEI X
schemes 187 129
Equity-settled share-based payments B EEE AR () B ETE
EOKNEA 78,317 72,717
87,948 77,469
Transactions with the EEIEPRAR AR SR IE Il
companies controlled by RAEIZRS -
non-controlling shareholders:
Sales of goods HEEM 25,469 12,555
Purchase of material HEME 1,620 2,993
Utilities expenses IKEE 7,787 2,989
Rental expenses HE® 10,039 5,500
Consultancy fee BAE 17,680 17,959
Purchase of equipment BERE 21,939 17,335
Outstanding balances with the EEIE PR AR AR BRIE HII Y
companies controlled by NRIZ REERRTR -
non-controlling shareholders:
Trade receivables FEW & 5B 41,185 12,470
Prepayments and other receivables A FRIE K H A e YRR IR 34,266 4,127
Deposit of acquisition of equipment BERBI RS - 15,648
Trade payables FEfTE ZRREX 194 373
Other payables H Ath B~ 5B 5,145 12,919
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38. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt,
which includes the borrowings (note 26) net of cash and
cash equivalents and equity attributable to owners of the
Company, comprising issued share capital, reserves and
retained profits.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure
on a semi-annual basis. As part of this review, the
directors of the Company consider the cost of capital
and the risks associates with each class of capital. Based
on recommendations of the directors of the Company,
the Group will balance its overall capital structure
through the payment of dividends, new share issues and
share buy-backs as well as the issue of new debt or the
redemption of existing debt.

38. EXEBRER

AEEEEREERN BEBBEILE
BT RN RENEEY
FEEE TRBRRMEERK@E -
AEENERRIEHTFEFIE-

AEENEARBREGEFE(E
mEE(MEe)(HERERREF
EY))RARBHEE ARIEER(E
REBRITERA - EEMRE R

ARBEEGLFRNT —RENHE
BAFRBEH—& D ARRIES
EEEARRA R EEBEREBNE
ReREARAEFNER ~AKE
HEBS IS BITH R BEK
AR BT BB EIR B B IAF
BMEEREAEE-
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 39. REFHETHNEMTE

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of RZIEBEZ=FRER_FE-__F+=A8
financial instruments as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 —t+—HRNZEem T AREAEN
are as follows: ™~
Financial assets ETREE
2023 2022
—EC-=F g
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T T ARETTT

At fair value: R E -
Financial assets at FVTPL (note 22) WA ET B S REE
(Ffa222) 720 990
At amortised cost: TEHEFE R A -
Trade and bills receivables (note 20) FEUE SR M R IR (f17320) 155,321 101,583
Financial assets included in prepayments, BELERMNFIE EehEM
deposits and other receivables EWFIEN &5 &S E 4,847 34,592
Pledged deposits (note 23) EERIFR(AaE23) 2,426 1,431
Cash and bank balances (note 23) & MIRTTESR(F7E23) 142,643 354,724
305,957 493,320
Financial liabilities SHEE
2023 2022
—EC-Z=E g2
Financial Financial
Financial liabilities at Financial  liabilities at
liabilities at ~ amortised liabilities at ~ amortised
FVTPL cost Total FVTPL cost Total
BAYE DY £ BATE ChESH
FABRE  AAHE AR RAHE

NEBER NERAR RE wLEAR MHEEARE e
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR ARETT ARETT ARETR

Non-derivative financial liabilities:  FEfT4£2BBLE
Trade and bills payables (note 24) B Z S8R50 JE A

ZB(WiH24) - 79,592 79,592 - 94,422 94,422
Deposits received, other payables B Ukiké « EftfE(
and accruals (note 25) TELEER
(H15225) - 47,589 47,589 - 43,119 43,119
Lease liabilities (note 29) REBAREHH29) - 68,703 68,703 - 1825 1825
Short-term borrowings (note 26)  REREE (A1:#26) - 100,200 100,200 - 91,000 91,000

- 296,084 296,084

230,366 230,366
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40. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMNT

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and
financial liabilities that are measured at fair value
on a recurring basis

Other than the investment properties disclosed in the
note 16 in the consolidated financial statements, some
of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities
are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting
period. The following table gives information about how
the fair values of these financial assets and financial
liabilities are determined (in particular, the valuation

40. AV{ERE

FEERBEEHEERDTVERT
ENTREENRSREENATE

Brir e M RARM 16 BENREY
O MBEERHPR AEBOHET
TREENERBERAFENE-
TREVZFEREENEBRARA
FEEESA(LERMANMGET
EREAE)NERER -

technique(s) and inputs used).

Fair value as at Fair value Significant Valuation technique(s)

Financial assets 31 December 2023  hierarchy unobservable inputs and key input(s)

R-BZ=F
+ZA=1+-H

tREE HAFE AFEER EXTUEERAER HEFLREERAE

Financial assets at FVTPL RMB620,000 Level 2 Quoted exchange rate Future cash flows are
- Forward contract (2022: RMB990,000) - ranged from 6.85 estimated based on

to 7.25 (2022: forward exchange rates

6.33t0 7.25) (from observable forward
exchange rates at the end
of the reporting period)
and contracted forward
rates

- Financial products RMB100,000 Level 1 N/A Quoted prices in markets
(2022: Nil)

BRATEFABREZ AR¥620,000r  FEZR TR X AEBEERENREEREX
PREE (ZT==%: —#[E[6.85%7.25 (BEEHHRTBRESE
—REEH A&#990,0007T) (ZZZZF: ) RENEELE

6.33%7.25)
- eRER ARE100,0000 E# TER miHRE

(ZZFZ=F : &)

There were no transfers between Level 1 and 2 during
the year.

Fair values of the Group’s financial assets and
financial liabilities carried at amortised cost

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying
amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities at
amortised cost recorded in the consolidated financial
statements approximate their fair values.

FN - FH—AREE R AW

BBHEAAIR2AEEERMEE
kemEEZAVE
ARAREERR NEAMBHRRIZ
BERAT RN EREENERAE
MAREEEE QFERS -

EHEFEBENEERARIR —B-=FFEHRE
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41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s major financial instruments, include financial
assets at FVTPL, trade and bills receivables, financial
assets included in prepayments, deposits and other
receivables, pledged deposits, cash and bank balances,
trade and bills payables, deposits received, other payables
and accruals, lease liabilities and short-term borrowings.
Details of the financial instruments are disclosed in
respective notes.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial
instruments are foreign currency risk, credit risk, interest
rate risk, liquidity risk and commodity price risk. The
policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below.
The management manages and monitors these exposures
to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a
timely and effective manner.

41.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 41. BEEREEERERBER#E)
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Foreign currency risk S L B
The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such rEEERSEBRAR  T2REN
exposures arise from sales transactions and financing Erx(Ex)RBET(ETDFESN
denominated in US dollars (“US$”) and Hong Kong HERX G RREEH -

dollars (“HK$").

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the TRERKRZWMEAR - RPAEEME
end of the reporting period to a reasonably possible ERFAE  KEERMAIBIBEYHE
change in the US$ and HK$ exchange rate, with all other TR ABTUE R G IR gL B GUR
variables held constant, of the Group’s loss before tax. 4 o
(Decrease)/
increase in
Increase/  the Group's
(decrease) in loss
US$/HKS$ rate before tax
AEEBRB AT
i/ BrER i SEi=]
EHRH(TE) (TK) £H
% RMB'000
ARETT
2023 —B=F
If US$ strengthens against RMB WETEAREAE 5 7,162
If HK$ strengthens against RMB WA T AREAE 5 3,209
If US$ weakens against RMB METRAREEE (5) (7,162)
If HK$ weakens against RMB W THARERE (5) (3,209)
2022 —BCfF
If US$ strengthens against RMB WETHAREAE 5 5,407
If HK$ strengthens against RMB WA T AREHE 5 13,860
If US$ weakens against RMB WETLAREERE (5) (5,407)
If HK$ weakens against RMB W THARERE (5) (13,860)
The Group currently does not have a foreign currency RNEEBRF I MINEE RIBE - BE
hedging policy but the management monitors foreign BEERIINER R YEREFER
exchange exposure and will consider hedging significant = R P ERINEE R o

foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

eBFERNERERERAT —2-=fFEHs )]
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41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 41.

212

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s maximum exposure
to credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the
Group due to failure to discharge an obligation by the
counterparties arises from the carrying amount of the
respective recognised financial assets as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management
of the Group has delegated a team responsible for
determination of credit limits, credit approvals and
other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up
action is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition,
the Group performs impairment assessment under ECL
model upon application of IFRS 9 on trade receivables
which are assessed individually with a provision matrix
with appropriate groupings. In this regard, the directors
of the Company consider that the Group's credit risk is
significantly reduced.

For prepayments, deposits and other receivables, the
Group makes individual assessment based on industrial
factors, historical observed default rates and adjusts for
forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort. No impairment was recognised
by the Group on prepayments, deposits and other
receivables during the current year.

The Group’s credit risk on bank balances and cash is low
and there is no significant concentration of credit risk
because all bank deposits are deposited in or contracted
with several banks with good reputation and with high
credit ratings assigned by international credit-rating
agencies. No recognition of ECL on bank balances,
restricted bank balances and cash is considered necessary.

The Group’s concentration of credit risk by geographical
locations is mainly in the US (2022: US), which accounted
for 53% (2022: 59%) of the total trade and bills
receivables as at 31 December 2023.

HEEEEEEEREERE)

EE R &R ETS
E/\fgi_i‘?— ﬂ “f— S ﬁ’i
Zli'il Xﬁﬁfﬁ@l%ﬂ’]ﬁ—jﬂ*%ﬂ
 TIR B E B AR & AT 51 EA
ﬁfﬁﬁﬁﬁn ERIEENIREE -

RBEERREERE NEEERE
BEZ /Eﬁﬁd\iﬁ%%\rﬁmﬁf
BHEEE UNERHEMEER
P AT AR & it Ui (20 780 H3 5 TR SR ER IR 3
T8 = thoh - R B & BIFR B 75
BEENFORRIRAHEEEEE
Ut FEMCE 5 B R A I R AR 1 S8
B EETEBRIRER - it
ME ARAREERLS AEENIE
SREBREAEEE-

SAIE( IR~ e R E A UK IA T
E $E.$ETJ€TT%.§ BB
RENXEBELTME YHBAN
tle\%\;cﬁﬁzﬁi%%)‘J BN 315 2 ATHE
MERETRHE  AEERANEEZH
ERIBN TR e M E AR FIR
ﬁﬁwﬁﬁ

REBRITHE ﬁ%&fﬁ%wﬂ%ﬂ@ﬁ
K BEEimEXREEETAR RHA
RAIBRITFFEOFENRZHEER
I EHEBREETRKEBLSTEEES
R 2B - BABITE S ZR
HRITHEBR LIRS BREREERE -

AEFEZMEBENEE YNEERRE

EERAEXH(ZTE-F: %l)
EEER _E-_=F+=-_A=+—H
MERZEZFERNEREZEAED
53%(ZF =24 : 59%)°

The Group has concentration of credit risk as 25% (2022: rEBEEFEERRE  REER
16%) and 76% (2022: 69%) of the total trade and bills EERANERNEEATEN25%( =

receivables was due from the Group’s largest customer
and the five largest customers respectively.

T F 1 16%) R76%( T ==

F:69%) BN RIKERAKEN &K
AREFPRAREP -
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41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

ZF+-_A=1+—HILFE

4. BBEREEEERBKE)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL
that has been recognised trade receivables under the

EE R NRER L (F)
TNREJIERBEBE AR EWE
SRR 2 HREERR 228 -

simplified approach.

Lifetime ECL  Lifetime ECL
(not credit (credit
impaired) impaired) Total
HIEE HFEH
FEEA FEEE
(BEERE) (FERE) Bt
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTTT ARBTTT ARBFTT
At 1 January 2022 R=-—Z=-=—%—-A—-H - 1,367 1,367
— Impairment losses reversed —REEERE - (1,220) (1,220)
At 31 December 2022 and N-EBE-—F
1 January 2023 +=A=+—-20RF
—E-=%—H—H - 147 147
— Impairment losses recognised —F{EEE - 337 337
— Exchange adjustments —ERFE - (34) (34)
At 31 December 2023 R-BZZ=F
+=—A=+-—-H - 450 450

The Group writes off a trade receivable when there
is information indicating that the debtor is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, e.g. when the debtor has been placed under
liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings,
or when the trade receivables are over one year past due,
whichever occurs earlier.

Interest rate risk

The Group's exposure to the risk of changes in market
interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s short-term
borrowings with floating interest rates.

The Group regularly reviews and monitors the floating
interest rate borrowings in order to manage its interest
rate risks. The short-term borrowings, cash and short
term deposits are stated at amortised cost and not
revalued on a periodic basis. Floating rate interest income
and expenses are credited/charged to the statement of
profit or loss as earned/incurred.

WAEEMBERESARRERENER
B B g [ 30 IR B # R AR (anfE A
ERRIEAWERF HEWE S
AEREAMEE—F UREES
%) REE KM E R E B AR

FEEB
AEEEGOTSRES(AREE
SAEEIRT S5 BT REE AR -

NREBTHESRENTIEEEUE
BEMZRAK SHES BERE
M RIR B KA MR e T8
By ZBWART HRIBERAE
EREBELETNER K-

EHEFEBENEERARIR —B-=FFEHRE
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2023 B Z_F-=4F+_-_H=+—HIFE

41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Interest rate risk (continued)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a
reasonably possible change in interest rates, with all other
variables held constant, of the Group’s loss before tax
(through the impact on floating rate borrowings).

41. BEEREEBEERBER#)

MRm b ()
TRBRHABEGBEERTTE
AEERHAER(EYSEETXE)
BRI 2 BT BEE B BURIE -

Decrease in Increase in

Increase in  profit before loss before

interest rate tax tax

R Bt AT RR BRI

FI 2= 38 1 FE R 2 BB

RMB'000 RMB’000

ARET T ARET T

2023 —E-=fF 1% N/A 1,002

2022 —E-F 1% N/A 910
Liquidity risk REES R

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash
equivalents deemed adequate by the management
to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the
effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The management
monitors the utilisation of bank borrowings and ensures
compliance with loan covenants.

The Group relies on bank borrowings, internal resources
and external facilities provided by an independent
third party as significant sources of liquidity. As at 31
December 2023, the Group has unused short-term bank
facilities of RMB800,000 (2022: RMB2,661,000).

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial
liabilities. The table has been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on
the earliest date on which the Group can be required to
pay. The maturity dates for other non-derivative financial
liabilities are based on the agreed repayment dates. The
table includes both interest and principal cash flows.

ERBETEMRERETE NEEE
2WHHEEER S EABNAREE
LEMFReMASEEMKE I
BERERERERPNTE - B
BERRTEENERBR LR
BT E L -

AEBEKBIRITEE AHER KA
B E = H RN REEARE
BEMBERFE- R _=F+_
A=+—8 A£E&EREHBEH
R1TREE AR ¥800,000T(—E ==
F: AR¥2,661,0007T)°

TRAVARETESRBENR
TERNIBMBER - ZRREANKEA]
EREERNRT A HERAEN
AEBRBRSREMBE - HMIEITE
TRAEMNIIHAERHEEREB B
ME  WRBEMNERAERERE -
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41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

4. BBEREEEERBKE)

Liquidity risk (continued) REESRAM(E)
To the extent that interest flows are floating rate, the RE2WmER - WAERRZEN A K-

AIRBEIR & BRI 2R i %v?.ﬁr;%: °

undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate curve

at the end of the reporting period.

2023
—EBC-=F
More than More than
Less than 12 1 year but 2 years but Total
months less than less than  undiscounted Carrying
or on demand 2 years 5 years cash flows amount
PR
T=f8A BB-% BA-% AER
GRERK BOR=F BIREE  ReRELE BHE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETR AEETR ARETR ARETR
Non-derivative financial liabilities: ETELRAE:
Trade and bills payables (note 24) G EETES
(Hiit24) 79,592 - - 79,592 79,592
Deposits received, other payables BlRs EMERFTER
and accruals (note 25) E:tBR(Hit2s) 47,589 - - 47,589 47,589
Lease liabilities (note 29) REEE(HH29) 24,707 26,745 3,11 74,564 68,703
Short-term borrowings (note 26) RS (Hit2e) 102,788 - - 102,788 100,200
254,676 26,745 23,112 304,533 296,084
2022
—_E_-—
More than More than
Less than 12 1 year but 2 years but Total
months less than lessthan ~ undiscounted Carrying
or on demand 2 years 5 years cash flows amount
+=fA BE-F e i RER
FRELE BORZE EORRE  ReRsefg KHE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT AREFT ARETT AREFL
Non-derivative financial liabilties: FiTESREaRE:
Trade and bills payables (note 24) EREFEANENER
(Hrit24) 9%422 - - 9,422 9%422
Deposits received, other payables Elizs - EHERFUER
and accruals (note 25) st B (H1725) 43119 - - 43119 43,119
Lease liabilties (note 29) %ﬁf%ﬁﬁ (Hrt29) 2320 623 86 3,029 1,825
Short-term borrowings (note 26) BHEEHHE2) 92,985 - - 92,985 91,000
232,846 623 86 233,555 230,366
eBFERNEERERAT —2-=fFEHs )15
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41.

42.

43.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued)

The amounts included above for variable interest rate
instruments for non-derivative financial liabilities are
subject to change if changes in variable interest rates
differ to those estimates of interest rates determined at
the end of the reporting period.

Commodity price risk

The major raw materials used in the production of the
Group’s products include rubber, plastics, silicon and
graphene. The Group is exposed to fluctuations in the
prices of these raw materials which are influenced by
global as well as regional supply and demand conditions.
Fluctuations in the prices of raw materials could adversely
affect the Group’s financial performance. The Group
historically has not entered into any commodity derivative
instruments to hedge the potential commodity price
changes.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

There was no material contingent liabilities as at 31
December 2023 and 2022.

COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to
conform with the current year’s presentation.

41.

42.

43.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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44. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 44, XRQ T 2 BRI &

THE COMPANY

2023 2022
—EC-=F —E-F
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
Kt aF ARETTT AREEFTT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FREEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - R = MR 18 24
Interest in subsidiaries NN NGIE O 1,220,013 1,109,219
1,220,031 1,109,243
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Prepayments, deposits and other AR - & R EAE
receivables & eE] 1,600 2,142
Cash and bank balances H& MIRTTAE R 73,205 165,804
74,805 167,946
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Deposits received, other payables and B Ytig 4 - H b FESS
accruals NIENEFTER 2,219 1,994
Amounts due to subsidiaries FETHT B A B FE 1,097,542 1,097,545
1,099,761 1,099,539
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEETEEHE (1,024,956) (931,593)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT HEERABEE
LIABILITIES 195,075 177,650
EQUITY R
Share capital A& 2 120,960 113,799
Reserves E= i 74,115 63,851
TOTAL EQUITY EREEE 195,075 177,650

Approved and authorised for issue by the Company’s
board of directors on 28 March 2024 and signed on its

behalf by:

LEUNG Tsz Chung

ATRERE

ZHENG Jingdong

BT [
Director Director
EFE E

ARaEFeRN T _NF=A
“+HNBHEREERZE  WHUAT

EHEFEBENEERARIR —B-=FFEHRE

217



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBERRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 B Z_F-=4F+_-_H=+—HIFE

44. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF
THE COMPANY (continued)

44, AR T 2R RET(E)

218

Note: /}{?E .
i) Reserves of the Company i) RN
Capital Share
Treasury Share  Contributed  redemption options  Accumulated
stock premium surplus reserve reserve losses Total
ERRH REEE BHER EAEEGRE BRERE ZitER @it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEETR  ARBTT ARETR ARETR ARBTT  ARETR  ARETR
At 1 January 2022 R-E--E-F-H - 916,602 395,026 54 36,600 (2,315,504) (966,752)
Profit and total comprehensive ~ FRFIERZENGAE
income for the year - - - - - 506,792 506,792
Completion of placing of TREERTR
new shares - 404,186 - - - - 404,186
Issue of shares upon exercise of ~ FMTEBRER LR
share options - 7 - - ) - 2
Equity-settled share-based IRRE SRR AR
payments 0ES - - - - 119,605 - 119,605
Lapse of share options FRERR - - - - (1,754) 1,75 -
At 31 December 2022 and RIFZZF
1 January 2023 “A=t-HEk
“E-CE-f-H - 1,320,815 395,026 54 154,444 (1,806,958) 63,851
Loss and total comprehensive ~ FREERZAFZ LR
expenses for the year - - - - - (205,148) (205,148)
Issue of shares upon exercise of TR ERERLTRY
share options - 57,068 - - (14,966) - 42,102
Equity-settled share-based HIRELEE LR AERH
payments 0ES - - - - 177,636 - 177,636
Lapse of share options BRI - - - - (17,061) 17,061 -
Repurchase of own shares BEEERR (4,326) - - - - - (4,326)
At 31 December 2023 R-BZ=F+ZA=1-H (4326) 1,377,883 395,026 524 300053 (1,995,045) 74,115
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 # %

44. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF
THE COMPANY (continued)

Note: (continued)

ii)

Going concern of the Company

The directors of the Company are aware of the net current
liabilities position in the Statement of Financial Position
of the Company as at 31 December 2023. In assessing
whether the Company will be able to finance its future
working capital and finance, the directors of the Company
are of the opinion that the Company is able to operate as
a going concern by considering the following:

)

The majority of the liabilities of the Company are
amounts due to direct or indirect wholly owned
subsidiaries. The Company would consider all
available source of funding included but not limited
to, requiring the subsidiaries to declare dividend or
waiver of current accounts.

The 2022 Placing was completed on 14 January
2022 in accordance with the terms and conditions
of the placing agreement. A total of 50,000,000
Shares have been successfully placed by the
placing agent to two placees at the placing price
of HK$10 per Share. The gross proceeds and
the net proceeds from the 2022 Placing were
approximately HK$500,000,000 and approximately
HK$497,900,000 respectively. Reference is made
to the announcements of the Company dated 30
December 2021 and 14 January 2022 respectively.
The directors of the Company are of the opinion
that it can solve the liquidity issue of the Company.

44, AR T 2B RRT(E)

et ()

ii)

KRB ZFHERLE

ARAFEEMNER T _=F+=
A=Z+—BARRMERREHZ
FRBDEBEBR RFHERQAE
BELRANERKEEESRRE
B ZEEITIEE  ARAESR

RARBBEEAFELE

1) ARRZABLAEEL/ENE
EXEEEEMBRARZR
He ARAIKEREAERAE
BHR - BIEE TR ESKH
BARE KRS HRFARERR
15 o

2) ZEZFREFHERZ-
T F—A+THEBERE
E Wk 2 R A FER - B
EREBEEESESRI0OE T
M A B AR IR E A £
50,000,000/ & fn e =& ==
FREEEMESRERERLTF
%89 Bl & #7500,000,000/% 7T
. #7497,900,0007%8 7t ° :8 &
EARRBHRAS R AT = —
F+ZA=ZFTHEKR=ZZ=C
—A+tHmBZAMH AR GEE
ERABUL T ABRA QB
@J"Eﬁ:ﬁ% °

EHEFEBENEERARIR —B-=FFEHRE
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45. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

OF THE COMPANY

45. RRAEEMBRANFE

Place of
registration/
incorporation Issued and fully Percentage of equity
Name and operations  paid up capital attributable to the Company  Principal activities
ER/EMALR ERATRER
£ Rewy BEEX RAREGERERDL TEER
Direct Indirect
Hi k3
BAOF International Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 100 - Trading of slippers and
investment holding
EEHEBERAA B 10,0007 100 - BEWELRRERRK
Quanzhou Baofeng Shaes Co., Ltd."  PRC RMB544,229,000 - 100 Manufacturing and sale
("Quanzhou Baofeng”) of slippers, sandals and
casual footwear
SMEEEXABR LA ﬁP AR 544,229,000 - 100 HERBERE FER
([RMEE]) k3
Baofeng Modern (HK) Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 100 - Dormant
BEHH (BE)BRAA B 10,000/ ¢ 100 - maey
Astute Sino Developments Limited ~ BVI US$100 100 - Dormant
EEERERAA AERABE  100ET 100 - BEEX
2D Material Technology Hong Kong HK$100 100 - Investment holding,
Company Limited trading of Graphene-
based Products and
provision of service
WEHRRBRARAA &E 1007 100 - REBR BEERBRER
RARHPRS
2D Material Technology Limited BVI Us$100 100 - Dormant
ABEAHS  100ET 100 - EERXZ
Xinfeng 2D (Fujian) Material PRC RMB22,051,000 - 100 Manufacturing and sale
Technology Company Limited' of Graphene-based
("Xinfeng 2D") Products
BEFME_SVHBRARRFT & ARH#22,051,0007 - 100 HERRERERER
([Fe=#])
Golden Solar (Hong Kong) Solar Hong Kong HK$1,000,000 100 - Investment holding
Material Company Limited
25 (BB AGRMHERRE  BE 1,000,000/ T 100 - REER
Golden Solar Silicon Science & PRC RMB335,894,000 - 100 Manufacturing and
Technology (Xu Zhou) Co., Ltd.! sale of Photovoltaic
("Golden Solar Xuzhou") Products
eHEERE (RN BRAR  * AR #335,894,0007C - 100 REREEXKER

(T2BHM])

GOLDEN SOLAR NEW ENERGY TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL Report 2023



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # %

45. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
OF THE COMPANY (continued)
Place of

registration/
incorporation Issued and fully

REMBERRWE

—E - CF+ A=+ —HIFFE

45. RRAEEMB R ANFE

(%)

Percentage of equity

Name and operations  paid up capital attributable to the Company  Principal activities
BR/HMRLR BROREY
£8 Reny BRER AAREEEREDNL TEER
Direct Indirect
E# f;:

Golden Solar (Quanzhou) New PRC RMB196,109,000 - 100 Manufacturing and
Energy Technology Co., Ltd.! sale of Photovoltaic
("Golden Solar Quanzhou") Products

2B (RM)FERRBEARAF  ©E AR 196,109,000 - 100 HERBEXRER
([eFBRM])

Golden Solar (Fujian) New Energy ~ PRC RMBO - 100 Dormant
Technology Co., Ltd. ("Golden
Solar Fujian")?

BREGHMERRMERAT PE AR®OT - 100 EEE%
([Bgek])

Shangyi County Golden Solar PRC RMB1,000,000 100 - Dormant
New Energy Technology Co.,

Ltd. ("Shangyi Golden Solar")?

HEZEGHERNEERAT  PE AR 1,000,000 100 - EER%
(uEek] )

Golden Solar New Energy PRC RMBO - 51 Dormant
(Zhangjiakou) Co., Ltd.

("Golden Solar Zhangjiakou")*

eBEFER (KRR BRAA e AREOT - 51 EEEXR
([&B&RA])

Eco-Dynamic Tech Inc Delaware US$1,500 - 100 Sale of Photovoltaic
("Eco-Dynamic”)® Products

EARM 1,500% 7T - 100 HEXKER

! Quanzhou Baofeng, Xinfeng 2D, Golden Solar Xuzhou ' RMNEIE - FE =4 SEHRMNEE
and Golden Solar Quanzhou are registered as companies RN ARBEREEAETIMAOBR
with limited liability (solely invested by Taiwan, Hong Kong BEERFRI(BABREABE) -
or Macau legal person) under the law of the PRC.

2 Golden Solar Fujian is registered as a company with 2 BEelE R —RIBES B AR
limited liability (wholly invested by a wholly-foreign-owned WAREEAR (IMERECEE
enterprise) under the law of the PRC. ANBE) °

3 Shangyi Golden Solar is registered as a company with 3 M2 &5 A —FKIBRE R BUAE M
limited liability (solely invested by foreign legal person) HERBEERF (INBLEABE) -
under the law of the PRC.

4 Golden Solar Zhangjiakou is registered as a joint venture 4 BHEREAAS—KIBEFHE i@‘f
company with limited liability (invested by Hong Kong, e EBREEAR (BRAK
Macau and Taiwan, not solely invested) under the law of BEBE) -

the PRC.

> Eco-Dynamic is registered as a company with limited
liability under the laws of the State of Delaware.

Eco-Dynamic/s— KB BB B MDA
FEEAMKZNBREIRA

EHEFEBENEERARIR —B-=FFEHRE
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2023 B Z_F-=4F+_-_H=+—HIFE

45. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
OF THE COMPANY (continued)
None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at
31 December 2023 and 2022 or at any time during the
year.

46. APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved
and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 28
March 2024.

45.

46.

AR EEMB LTINS
(&)
RZEBE-_=FE_ZTE-_—"F+_H
=+ —BSAFEL R BN
BRA A BITERIEEES -

mEMBHKR 2 HE

GEMBREMEFEN -_BomF
= A=\ Bt RIS -
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